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DAY 02 – 14 March 2016 

 

  [9.29 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good morning everyone.  Now, just a matter for – so I 5 

will see if there are any laypeople here.  Is Mr Lawry here? 

 

MR LAWRY:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Mr Lawry, look not directed as you in particular, but 10 

just a general word I thought at the beginning in terms of 

housekeeping, bearing in mind there are laypeople that are going to be 

cross-examining today, and we have got a rather long day to get 

through. 

 15 

  [9.30 am] 

 

 One thing in particular to note is that if there are any documents that 

you intended to put to a witness in cross-examination, if you could do 

two things please before you start your cross-examination, (1) is to 20 

make sure those documents are copied and (2) that you provide a copy 

of that document to the lawyer that is responsible for the witness and 

also to the Council in advance, so that everyone has a chance to see 

them before that cross-examination begins otherwise we will end up a 

housekeeping headache in terms of trying to make sure things are 25 

managed in a timely way and without undue interruption from the 

bench.   

 

 So just anyone in that category – not necessarily you, Mr Lawry, you 

may well be very organised – but if there is anyone that was thinking 30 

about putting documents to witnesses could you please see the 

Secretariat.  You can pop out and do that if you have not done it 

already and that would be good to have that organised. 

 

 Now I think, just in terms of that, I won’t both about recording new 35 

appearances so I will do that we go.  Mr Laing, I think.  Is there 

anything anyone else wanted to raise at the beginning or are you ready? 

 

MR LAING:   Not me, sir. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Ms Appleyard? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   There is only one issue on the issue of documents. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   The Panel have requested some of the documents you 

refer to be provided, I have managed to get two bundles bound, the 

others are on their way and they should be here shortly. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Actually just on that, Mr Laing, I take it you 5 

and no one else would take issue with the entry of these documents 

because I was proposing just to call them an agreed, well, bundle of 

documents, and if there were effectively no opposition to them coming 

then I will not bother about entering them in as exhibits? 

 10 

MR LAING:   No, the ones I provided to the Panel on Friday, which I hope 

you have got. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 15 

MR LAING:   They are all standards, I do not have any issue with those.  I am 

not certain what else is - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, the other ones that Ms Appleyard has got in this 

bundle are just, for instance, documents that are referred to by various 20 

witnesses including ones that the Panel itself has requested copies of 

for questioning. 

 

 That is right, Ms Appleyard, there is nothing? 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, and soon as Ms Hill arrives I will make sure 

Mr Laing gets a bundle of those as well. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well, perhaps when you have a chance to see them - - 

- 30 

 

MR LAING:   I am sure there won’t be any problem but if I can just see the list 

when it arrived I will - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And then if there is anything that arises then we can go 35 

through the formalities of doing it by way of exhibit. 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you, your Honour. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Excuse me, sir, just on that one – I did put a request through 40 

the Panel for certain documents to be available for cross-examination, 

was that sufficient, or will I need to get them copied? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, that is - - - 

 45 

MR VENEMA:   Gerritt Venema here, sir, submitter 2091. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   I haven’t seen your request, I do not think.   

 

MR VENEMA:   I have got sufficient time to do so if it is required. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So Ms Dawson has just, and I have seen it, it is on my 

desk I just need to find it again, but you are Mr Venema? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, that is correct. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And what we have got here are copies of documents, there 

is a memorandum, well, two memoranda I think and a Marshall Day 

Acoustics document; are they the ones you wanted to refer to? 

 

MR VENEMA:   No, I did refer evidence from Rhys Boswell to be made 15 

available for cross-examination. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And from which hearing, from an earlier hearing? 

 

MR VENEMA:   No, for this hearing here which - - - 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, Mr Boswell’s evidence is available for this hearing 

already to us, we have got it on the files. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay, so all those sort of items no problem? 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is fine, but it is useful for you now to have let 

Ms Appleyard and us know that you are intending to refer to 

Mr Boswell’s evidence which we can find in the bundle. 

 30 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, the complication is it is in relation to cross-examining 

Eric Morgan representing Air New Zealand. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is fine, and if the Secretariat could know, is it 

Mr Boswell’s evidence-in-chief or his rebuttal evidence? 35 

 

MR VENEMA:   In-chief, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so that can be arranged for that to come up on 

the screen at the relevant time. 40 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay, thank you. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Your Honour, also I delivered documents this morning and I 

have time to give them to Jo and the Council, but you should already 45 
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have copies – the Secretariat has got them and I will be referring to 

them which are Rhys Boswell’s cross-examination. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, I understand that documents came in this 

morning and the Secretariat is arranging to copy them.  I do not know 5 

whether or not Ms Appleyard has got them at this stage. 

 

MR LAWRY:   I will get a copy to her before lunch. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If you could make sure all those things are arranged, you 10 

speak to the Secretariat about it at a moment and we can - - - 

 

MR LAWRY:   I will do.  Conversely, your Honour, we have not got copies of 

the documents being mentioned that are being delivered - - - 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, the bundle is being copied I think. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, it is on its way, I have just had a message they are on 

their way. 

 20 

MR LAWRY:   Well, we haven’t had any chance to read them, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Nor did you ask for them, Mr Lawry, and they were 

referenced in the evidence, so I do not think you could claim any 

prejudice in that but if you do need a bit of time to read them before 25 

they come in you can ask me later on. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Bear in mind though that we do need to get 30 

through a heavy timetable today, so I expect you to cooperate with that, 

thank you. 

 

 So, Mr Chiles is here, the first witness? 

 35 

MR LAING:   Dr Chiles. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, it is Dr Chiles, I apologise. 

 

40 
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<STEPHEN GORDON CHILES, affirmed [9.35 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [9.35 am] 

 

MR LAING:   Your full name is Stephen Gordon Chiles? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 5 

 

MR LAING:   You have the qualifications and experience, as set out in your 

evidence-in-chief? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 10 

 

MR LAING:   And on that point you have got two statements of evidence, 

evidence-in-chief and a rebuttal statement, is that correct? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 15 

 

MR LAING:   Do you wish to make any corrections to your statements? 

 

DR CHILES:   No. 

 20 

MR LAING:   So now do you confirm that they are true and correct? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   And could you now turn to your highlights package please. 25 

 

DR CHILES:   I will not summarise all of my evidence, there is just a few 

points I would like to run through. 

 

 My evidence relates primarily to engine testing noise and it also 30 

responds to specific issues on operational airport noise.  I have relied 

on measurements in modelling by Marshall Day Acoustics.  I was not 

involved in the development of the proposed plan and in my evidence I 

have raised issues with the seven day Ldn parameter in the provisions.   

 35 

 There is a question as to whether this matter is outside scope but I have 

raised it as it influences how noise effects are considered.  In my 

opinion for a small number of engine tests occurring at night people 

will responds to the sound level during the tests themselves rather than 

the average level over a week. 40 

 

 In my evidence I have discussed sound levels of individual engine test 

as heard at the residential area.  Mr Day has also discussed sound levels 

at the residential area in his evidence.  However, I highlight there are 

also a number of individual houses closer to the airport than the 45 
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residential area which will have approximately 10 decibels higher 

sound levels and commensurately greater effects.   

 

 I do not know if you want to look at the figure but there is the figure 

attached as appendix B to my evidence – which is the revised contours 5 

– and it can be seen that the nearest parts of the Bishopdale residential 

area are around the dashed blue 50 dB Ldn line, so that is the revised 

contour and so the nearest houses in that area are around that 50 dB 

line. 

 10 

 Now, you can see there are red dots on that figure and those represent 

the houses that are nearest to the airport and some of those are inside 

the red dashed 60 dB Ldn line. 

 

 So as I say there is an approximately 10 dB difference there between 15 

the most affected houses in the residential area that we talked to in our 

evidence.  And those here we are looking at Ldn levels but the same 

differences would occur if you were looking at the levels during an 

individual test. 

 20 

 I understand that some of the most affected properties, those with the 

red dots, may be owned by Christchurch International Airport Limited, 

but there are others of them that are not.   

 

 Engine testing noise currently exceeds thresholds for sleep disturbance 25 

and the proposed controls even with the revised contours allow for 

more tests each night.  I have discussed mitigation that could reduce 

these effects such as a ground run-up enclosure but not such measures 

are required to comply with the rules as currently drafted.   

 30 

 I consider that an optimised ground run-up enclosure should result in a 

worthwhile benefit reducing adverse noise effects.  And the last issue 

that I would like to highlight from my evidence relates to the 

appropriateness of a 3 decibel or a 2 decibel tolerance on the controls.   

 35 

 For a steady noise played to a listener in controlled conditions a 

3 decibel change is just noticeable.  However in the context of engine 

testing a 3 decibel change represents a doubling of the activity, 

2 decibels equates to 60 percent more activity.   

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, Dr Chiles, I have just had word from the Secretariat 

that there is something faulty with the sound system and I am not sure 

whether it is coming through on the transcript or not. 

 

  [9.40 am] 45 
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DR CHILES:   I can provide the written thing I have been reading from if that 

helps, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are you able to confirm over there whether or not what 

has been said so far is on the record? 5 

 

MS………..:   Apart from when Dr Chiles got up, it is starting to, every 

microphone is echoing what you are saying. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Henstock, could you just check what is seen there to 10 

make sure we have a transcript, is there no transcript there of - - - 

 

MS………..:   There is only about a minute of the transcript. 

 

MS………..:   No, there is only the last two minutes just coming through 15 

(INDISTINCT 0.45) 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So it hasn’t come through in a way that can be 

transcribed? 

 20 

MS………..:   (INDISTINCT 0.53) 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, I think on the basis that your evidence is before us 

anyway and this is a highlights package I think we will continue.  If 

there is any difficulty we can deal with it later so if you could just carry 25 

on. 

 

DR CHILES:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will just double check that that new microphone is 30 

working though.  

 

DR CHILES:   Can you hear me on this microphone now? 

 

MS……….:   No, I need stop for five minutes to (INDISTINCT 1.20) 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, we have been asked by the transcriber to take a 

brief recess to see if this can be fixed.  

 

ADJOURNED [9.41 am] 40 

 

RESUMED [9.52 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you everyone. 

 45 
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 So Dr Chiles, what I have been assured by the Secretariat is while there 

were problems with the earphones of the transcriber, the actual 

transcript has been recorded properly for what you have said so far, so I 

do not need to go back and ask you what you said.   

 5 

 You can carry on from where you were which, I think, you were 

referring to the 3 dBA, 2 dBA tolerance and the consequence for 

engine testing, I think you said that it would effectively double.  That is 

about where you were. 

 10 

DR CHILES:   So the 3 dBA represents a doubling of activity and 2 dBA 

change equates to 60 percent more activity.   

 

 For example, there are currently two tests each evening on average, so 

three decibel increase would equate to four tests each evening. 15 

 

 In my opinion this would be noticeable for residents and should not be 

equated to listening to slight changes in a steady source by only 

considering average levels over seven day. 

  20 

 The same applies to operational noise whereby a 3 dBA increase would 

represent a doubling of the number of aircraft movements.  I 

acknowledge that uncertainty with sound level measurements can be 

greater than three decibels but in this instance, where compliance is 

based on predictions, that is not an issue. 25 

 

 They were the only points which I wish to highlight in my evidence, 

sir.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Appleyard? 30 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I am not actually down first, Mr Lawry is - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I apologise, Mr Lawry first, yes, thank you. 

 35 

 Now Mr Lawry- - - 

 

MR LAWRY:   Do you mind if I remain seated, sir, or do you want me to 

stand? 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, I would like you to stand please. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Fair enough. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And have you got these documents organised now that 45 

you wanted to put- - - 
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MR LAWRY:   I am not referring those particular ones to Dr Chiles. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 5 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR LAWRY [9.53 am] 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you. 

 

 Dr Chiles, your evidence is that on-wing engine testing is industrial in 10 

nature and unreasonable.  Would you agree that anyone who asserts an 

on-wing engine testing noise has the same nature, characteristics, 

formula effect, as operational noise of a plane simply taking off and 

landing and is not industrial nature as being disingenuous? 

 15 

DR CHILES:   I think the short answer is, yes; I have clearly stated in my 

evidence that I do not consider that engine testing noise, which 

typically done five, 10, 15 minutes continuous engine running in the 

middle of the night, has the same characteristics of a plane taking off 

which is a much shorter duration, I think. 20 

 

MR LAWRY:   So in your mind it is clearly industrial noise? 

 

DR CHILES:   In my evidence I have recommended that the standard sort of 

industrial noise limit should apply to this type of source.  Yes, I see it 25 

more as an industrial source than the operational aircraft noise. 

 

  [9.55 am] 

 

MR LAWRY:   Therefore, do you agree the seven day rolling average metric 30 

works to enable industrial noise generators, and provides less 

protection to the noise receivers and that a better way to manage this 

industrial noise is through a local noise ordinance, as would be applied 

to any industrial noise? 

 35 

DR CHILES:   Yes, in my evidence I have recommended that those standard 

noise limits would be more appropriate for this source. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you, such ordinance or rules are usually using a short 

term measure of noise exposure such as equipment noise level, Leq or 40 

percentage of time above noise level such as a noise level exceeding a 

50 percent of the time. 

 

 Do you agree that a short term measure of noise is a considerably more 

appropriate metric to use, than the seven day rolling average? 45 
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DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you.  Do you agree that the avoidance of noise sensitive 

activities under an already extreme 50 dBA Ldn contour, is likely to 

lead to over regulation, with little-to-no health, social or amenity value 5 

or sleep benefits. 

 

 In other words, it is already extreme with dBA; do you think, or 

(INDISTINCT 1.13)? 

 10 

DR CHILES:   Does the question relate to engine testing noise or operational 

airport noise, or both? 

 

MR LAWRY:   Operational noise and engine testing, both. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you have an understanding of the question? 

 

MR LAWRY:   I will read it again for you to be clear. 

 

MS HURIA:   Sorry, can I just ask if you go a little bit slower, I just had 20 

trouble picking that up. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Certainly. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry Mr Lawry, so your questions have been fine so far 25 

other than that one which was quite a complex question, so just think 

about the theory of that question and see if you can simplify it for the 

witness, bearing in mind this witness is just on as a noise expert as 

opposed to a planner dealing with policy issues. 

 30 

MR LAWRY:   Certainly.  Do you agree that avoidance of new noise sensitive 

activities under an already extreme 50 dBA Ldn contour, so that is the 

new rules, is likely to lead to over regulation for little-to-no health, 

social, or amenity of value or sleep benefits? 

 35 

DR CHILES:   So there is already a 50 dBA contour in the Plan and there are 

already rules associated with that for the operational noise – there is not 

anything for the engine testing noise.  The existing 50 dB contour does 

not get – the location of that, for the operational noise is not thought 

through this process. 40 

 

 So I don’t – as you say, it becomes a planning questions. It doesn’t 

appear to be a big change there. 

 

 I think that the question seems to be pointing at, you know, what is the 45 

nature of the noise effects we are controlling between 50 and 55 and 
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the gist of that is – my idea, is that there should not be those reverse 

sensitivity controls in that ban because the effects do not warrant the 

controls. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you.  Do you agree that if the intention of such an 5 

avoidance rule, so that is avoiding new activities under the 50 decibel, 

is to reduce complaints that may lead to curfew sanctions, that such a 

new rule is fatally flawed for the reasons outlined in Clarke’s evidence, 

i.e., that at a 50 decibel level, complaints are not causational to noise 

issues? 10 

 

DR CHILES:   I have read Professor Clarke’s evidence, I do not have direct 

experience on the same matters that he raises in that instance. 

 

 But as a general proposition, the level of 50 to 55 is very common in 15 

the environment and if would not be expected to generate a large 

number of complaints.  So an anecdotal basis, I would support for 

Professor Clarke’s finding.   

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you, you will be aware that Clarke using conservative 20 

20 persons per hectare density level, believes that the background noise 

exceeds 55 dBA, in the 50 dBA contour already. 

 

 Do you agree that it makes no sense to control activity in the sound 

level range that is lower than the background sound level? 25 

 

DR CHILES:   No, you could use that argument to just keep on ratcheting up 

one person’s noise - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, just to clarify, do you mean you agree with that 30 

proposition or you disagree with that proposition? 

 

DR CHILES:   I disagree with that proposition; so the proposition was what is 

the point of controlling aircraft to a certain level if you have already got 

greater road traffic noise or some other source, and I think there are 35 

often times when it is appropriate to control an individual source even 

if there are other sources in the environment which might be of a 

similar level. 

 

MR LAWRY:   The particular evidence of Clarke is that he; excluded road 40 

noise from his calculations, he used 20 persons per hectare when it is 

really 30 and he still have noise levels at the 50 dBA, they were about 

55. 

 

 So my question is, if the noise is louder than the 50 dBA already, it is 45 

already 55, is there any point bringing in rules to exclude noise - - - 
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  [10.00 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Dr Chiles has answered that question.  If you could move 

to your next question, Mr Lawry.  Dr Chiles answered that question. 5 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you. 

 

 Do you agree, and I think you have already said so, but I will just check 

that a properly designed ground run-up enclosure would significantly 10 

reduce the adverse noise impacts on the receivers of that noise and are 

an efficient noise mitigation option which is considered the worldwide 

standard? 

 

DR CHILES:   In general, yes, though some of the words I did not quite agree 15 

with; I set out very clearly in my evidence that I consider a well-

designed ground run-up enclosure should deliver a worthwhile benefit.   

 

MR LAWRY:   This is my last question, Your Honour.   

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:  That is fine, you are okay, on time; you are good. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Wasn’t sure.   

 

 Would you agree that modelling is subject to possible errors and that on 25 

ground actual physical noise testing is valuable in determining if the 

modelling is reflecting on ground reality? 

 

DR CHILES:    Yes, I agree there are potential errors in modelling.  The 

perception is that measurements are much more reliable than 30 

modelling.  The reality is that the modelling is a better tool in most 

instances.  There are all manner of errors that can be introduced 

through measurements. 

 

 The important thing with the modelling is that there is some kind of 35 

verification and that my involve measurements but you would not 

necessarily adjust the model to exactly meet the measurements.  You 

would use the measurements to find out if there something was not 

modelled correctly. 

 40 

MR LAWRY:   So, finally then if you did not particularly trust the company 

that was actually doing the modelling would it not be comforting to the 

people living around the area to have on ground testing to see the 

reality? 

 45 
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DR CHILES:   I think my last answer addresses that point that the modelling is 

actually the preferred way of determining the noise exposure 

particularly when – in the case of the operational airport noise you are 

looking at three month averages and so forth, and you are trying to pick 

the worst three months through the year and the modelling is a much 5 

more accurate way. 

 

 You are not saying that the model levels is exactly what someone is 

experiencing at a certain point in time; it is an indication of the 

exposure they are getting over a longer duration.  So modelling is a 10 

practical methodology. 

 

MR LAWRY:   No further questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Lawry.  Ms Appleyard? 15 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [10.02 am] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, good morning, Dr Chiles.  Just a question to 

pick up on an answer you gave in response to Mr Lawry in relation to 20 

this issue about 50 and 55 and controls to deal with reverse sensitivity, 

have you had a trawl through the case law that preceded the decision to 

adopt the 50 as the out of control boundary? 

 

DR CHILES:   No, I have not. 25 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So you will not be aware that the Environment Court, for 

example, saw it as an amenity effect rather than a reverse sensitivity 

issue? 

 30 

DR CHILES:   No, I am not, I am not aware of that. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, now I am wondering if we can have your 

appendix B up and your reference in your summary to the red dots.   

 35 

 In your summary you have just given in your highlights package you 

highlighted concern about the red dot properties; do you know how 

many of those are owned by the airport? 

 

DR CHILES:   No, I do not. 40 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So if I told you that on my count, one, two, three, four, 

five, six, seven of them are owned by the airport, would that change 

your view? 

 45 
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DR CHILES:   I did not express a view about them.  I was simply pointing out 

that when we are referring to noise exposure of the residential area 

there are some properties which have a significantly high noise 

exposure. 

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:    Yes, so if seven of them are owned by CIAL, do you 

know how many of them are occupied or not? 

 

DR CHILES:   No, I do not. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   Do you know what the zoning is for those properties with 

the red dots? 

 

DR CHILES:   Not off the top of my head. 

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   So if I told you it is either Special Purpose Airport Zone 

or Rural, you could not dispute that? 

 

DR CHILES:   No, I could not. 

 20 

MS APPLEYARD:   Do you know whether any of the people who own those 

red dots are submitters before this Hearing? 

 

DR CHILES:   No, I do not. 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  Now, I want to ask you some questions about 

the issue of acoustical parameters.  Now, so as I understand it, the 

notified and what we call the constrained engine testing contours set 

land use controls and compliance controls using a seven day average 

Ldn acoustical parameter? 30 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And my understanding of your evidence is that you do 

not agree with that seven day average and you are proposing a 35 

15 minute LAeq parameter, yes? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, now in Mr Day’s evidence in paragraphs 83 and 84, 40 

it might be helpful if we had that up there.  Sorry, I should have alerted 

the secretariat for that.   

 

 He refers to all of the other airports in New Zealand in the acoustic 

parameters that those districts use in their noise rules and, in particular, 45 

Auckland also uses the seven day parameter.  In relation to those 
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airports he mentioned Auckland, Whangarei, Timaru, Rotorua, 

New Plymouth, Nelson, Hamilton, Gisborne, Palmerston North, 

Wellington, Queenstown, putting aside Tauranga, did you give 

evidence for any party or the Council to push for the use of your 

15 minute parameter at those District Plan Hearings? 5 

 

  [10.05 am] 

 

DR CHILES:   No. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is 83 and 84. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Sorry, yes, 83 and 84.   

 

 Now at paragraph 5.1 of your evidence-in-chief, I take from that that 15 

you agree with the use of Ldn parameter for aircraft take-off and landing 

noise? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 20 

MS APPLEYARD:   And that Ldn parameter uses averaging over 24 hours, 

does it not? 

 

DR CHILES:   And three months, yes. 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, and then NZS 6805 further averages it over 

three months? 

 

DR CHILES:    NZS 6805 does both the 24 and the three months. 

 30 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, and the three months? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes, correct 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So for engine testing you disagree with the use of Ldn for 35 

engine testing noise and propose this 15 minute LAeq parameter, where 

do you say in your evidence what number the Panel should use 

associated with that parameter for the purposes of putting a contour in 

the District Plan? 

 40 

DR CHILES:   I don’t; as I was engaged relatively late in the process, at that 

stage there did not appear to any scope to change Ldn parameter.  I have 

raised the issue, as I said in my highlights package, because it 

influences how you consider the effects of the noise. 

 45 
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 I have not gone into detail proposing an alternative because at that 

stage I was under the impression there was no opportunity to change it. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So it is not a matter of just crossing out Ldn and putting in 

LAeq parameter 15 minutes and having the same line that is in the 5 

notified version or the constrained version, is it? 

 

DR CHILES:   No, there would be further work required. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, so let us look at your evidence-in-chief and in 10 

particular your 3.4.   

 

 So, in the middle of your paragraph 3.4 you talk about the Replacement 

District Plan night time noise minute at residential zones for general 

sources as being 40 dBA LAeq and you also refer to NZS6802, what 15 

does that relate to, 6802?  Just remind the Panel. 

 

DR CHILES:   It is the standard for general environmental noise. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And you say that gives a guideline value of 45; so if we 20 

use 45 as the parameter for compliance for engine testing, we would be 

in non-compliance if one 15 minute sample exceeded that limit, is that 

correct? 

 

DR CHILES:   If it occurred at night, yes.  If that was the limit you adopted. 25 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So following your proposal then after the Plan was 

finalised, the airport and Air New Zealand would be applying for 

resource consent on day one to allow the current engine testing facility 

to continue in operation?  That is correct, is it not? 30 

 

DR CHILES:   No, it is not. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Why would that not be the case?  Their evidence is they 

could not comply. 35 

 

DR CHILES:   The guideline value of 45, I have not proposed it as a noise 

limit.  I felt I had to raise the issue about the Ldn parameter because I 

think it significantly misrepresents the noise effects. 

 40 

 Because I have only been engaged at a very late stage I am in an 

awkward position; there did not appear to be scope to come up with an 

alternative appraisal so I have not put another noise limit on the table 

but I was not saying 45 should be the noise limit. 

 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   So you are coming to the Panel to say “I just want to raise 

an out-of-scope different-type-of-parameter and I am not going to 

attach any noise level to”; is that the evidence that you are giving to the 

Panel? 

 5 

DR CHILES:  The primary evidence that I am giving to the Panel is that when 

considering the Ldn parameter, you have got to be cognizant of the 

difference between the effect of residents’ experience over the short 

duration against the average level over a week.   

 10 

 I see an issue with the proposed Plan and as an expert I cannot ignore 

that issue, so I have had to raise it but I am in a constraint situation as 

to what can be done to address that at this stage. 

 

  [10.10 am] 15 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Are the jet engines that make operational noise, the same 

jet engines that make engine testing noise? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So just helping me understand, is your concern the fact 

that engine testing noise involves longer bursts of noise from the same 

engine than operational noise which is up and away?  Is it the duration 

that is the primary concern? 25 

 

DR CHILES:   The duration but also the location if it is in a fixed location. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, I understand that but I am just talking about, just 

generalising, so help me understand; it is the duration of the bursts of 30 

noise more than the up and away?  It is the duration that is the primary 

issue? 

 

DR CHILES:   There are a number – the engine testing primarily occurs in the 

middle of the night, whereas the operational noise, the majority of the 35 

noise is during the day so there is the timing. 

 

 The duration is a key factor, where the engine testing might last for 

five, 10, 15 minutes.  And you are operating at certain power settings 

for a prolonged time whereas the operational noise you have got a 40 

varying source, it is moving, it is short duration. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, so just on the duration issue, the inherent problem 

you have is the averaging over 24 hours rather than15 minutes, correct? 

 45 

DR CHILES:   And the averaging over seven days. 
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MS APPLEYARD:   Yes.  Now I note that you state in your evidence that you 

are an employee of the New Zealand Transport Agency.   

 

DR CHILES:   Yes, I am. 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   But that is a half-time role is it? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes it is. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   In that role you would be familiar with another New 

Zealand standard, NZS 6806? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   And can you tell the Panel what that relates to? 

 

DR CHILES:   It relates to road traffic noise. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   It is not only road traffic noise; it is road traffic noise on 20 

new and altered roads, is it not? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  I understand you had some involvement in the 25 

development of that standard? 

 

DR CHILES:   No, I did not. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You are familiar with it? 30 

 

DR CHILES:   I am, yes.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So you will be able to confirm to the Panel that that 

standard uses 24 hour averaging does it not? 35 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes it does. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Like Ldn? 

 40 

DR CHILES:   The only difference between the averaging in the road traffic 

noise standard and the Ldn, is the Ldn penalises noise that occurs at 

night. 

 

 So both of them take an average level over 24 hours but under the Ldn 45 

the night-time noise is jacked up by 10 decibels to account for greater 
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annoyance at night, whereas under the road traffic standard it is just a 

straight average across the 24 hours. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay so we are dealing with two standards that if we just 

put aside the night penalty that deal with 24 averaging; I take it you 5 

agree that traffic noise is not short like an aircraft taking off? 

 

DR CHILES:   No, road traffic noise is generally of a more continuous 

character. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, it is longer continuous noise.  So is a summary of 

your evidence that with aircraft taking off we can average over 

24 hours and three months, and for longer bursts of noise like traffic 

noise we can average over 24 hours, but for something in between you 

do not agree with averaging and are proposing 15 minutes? 15 

 

DR CHILES:   I can explain the rationale for each of those. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, can you answer the question, thanks – Is that what 

you are proposing first? 20 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes, I am proposing 15 minutes for the engine noise. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, can you answer my question?  So summaries that, 

you are okay with aircraft that takes off averaging over 24 hours and 25 

three months, yes?  You think that is appropriate? 

 

DR CHILES:   Providing there are a sufficient number of movements. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, okay.  And with traffic noise, that which is longer 30 

and continuous we can average over 24 hours.  I take it you agree with 

the road traffic standard? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes, and the reason for that is that because it is continuous, 

when we talk about the engine testing you have got a 10 or 15 minute 35 

chunk in the middle of the night and then you have got nothing until 

you get the next chunk. 

 

 With the road traffic you have got a continuous level, you get a steady 

level so actually taking the average represents the noise exposure more 40 

accurately. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, so we have got something in between.  You do not 

agree with 24 averaging, and you are proposing 15 minutes.  The 

answer to that is, yes, I it not? 45 
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DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Now turning back to your summary at 2.3 you say – and I 

think this is what you have said a couple of times – that your concern 

with the use of the seven day average is it understates adverse effects of 5 

engine testing noise and does not take into account cumulative effects.   

 

 So do I read into that that if you were to produce a contour it would be 

bigger? If you were to produce a contour showing actual adverse 

effects and also one that took into account cumulative effects it would 10 

be bigger?  As a generalisation. 

 

  [10.15 am] 

 

DR CHILES:   In respect of the cumulative effects, if you were to consider the 15 

engine testing and the operational airport; yes, a combined contour 

would be bigger. 

 

 In terms of the seven day Ldn understating the effects of the engine 

testing noise, as we discussed just now I have not proposed an 20 

alternative number because of scope issues.  It is likely it is affecting a 

larger area than indicated by the current contours. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And if the approach of the Panel was to adopt the double-

handed approach of imposing not only constraints on the airport to 25 

manage their noise within a contour but also land use restrictions there 

would be people affected by that bigger contour, though not necessarily 

before this hearing? 

 

DR CHILES:   So the extent of the noise effect does not change depending on 30 

how you measure it, so we are talking about the same quantum of 

engine testing, so you have got the same people affected by the same 

degree, it is how you describe that. 

 

 It might, if you described it differently you might shine a light on a 35 

wider area but you would not change how people are affected, you are 

just noting that down differently. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, but if you pick a number and say we are going to 

impose land use restrictions within that number, also compliance, it 40 

would be impacting on a wider number of people than are currently 

before this hearing? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Are you referring to land use restrictions in a receiving 

environment, not at the airport? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   What do you suggest the Panel does with your evidence?  10 

They do not have a number and they do not have a contour.  What do 

they do with your evidence? 

 

DR CHILES:   I think that is beyond my expertise. 

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   Now I want to talk to you about paragraph 2.4 of your 

evidence-in-chief.  It is actually probably not 2.4 but I will ask you to 

confirm the gist of your evidence is that you are saying that current 

levels of engine testing noise are unreasonable? 

 20 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And over at 3.4 you refer to NZS 6802 which gives a 

guideline value of 45 dBA LAeq so is that what you regard to be a 

reasonable level to protect sleep? 25 

 

DR CHILES:   45 dBA LAeq would certainly protect sleep.  Whether it is 

reasonable in the circumstance, some of the nearest houses might be 

exposed to other noise sources that you would need to consider, but 

that would be an appropriate starting point for consideration of what an 30 

appropriate noise limit might be. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So at what point does noise become unreasonable – are 

you saying 45? 

 35 

DR CHILES:   I am not saying 45, I have not – generally for a residential area 

noise above 45 at night would be unreasonable.  It is not a black and 

white decision.  In this instance we are so far above that level that there 

is no - I am not able to turn my mind to exactly where the tipping point 

would occur. 40 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So you are not able to tell this Panel at what point engine 

testing noise becomes unreasonable in the Christchurch context and 

how many people are exposed to what you say is unreasonable noise at 

present? 45 
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DR CHILES:   Sorry, were there two questions in there about the number of 

people? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 5 

DR CHILES:   So I have not added up the number of people within different 

noise exposures and I do not have all the data.  I have not requested all 

that data in regards to that to be able to make that sum.  But for noise 

that is over 20 decibel above the guideline limit; yes, I confirm I think 

that is unreasonable. 10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So you cannot tell the Panel how many people in 

Christchurch are subjected to more than 45 dBA LAeq engine testing 

noise? 

 15 

DR CHILES:   No, I cannot. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So you cannot give the Panel any indication as to the size 

of the problem you are highlighting, with the number of people 

subjected to what you describe as unreasonable noise? 20 

 

DR CHILES:   I can give an indication that the residential area in Bishopdale 

we were looking at before, if I can show appendix B to my evidence.   

 

  [10.20 am] 25 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Can you hazard a guess for us, as to how big the size of 

the problem you are highlighting is? 

 

DR CHILES:   We are talking about hundreds of people rather than tens of 30 

people. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, let’s talk about something you do know about as a 

half time employee at NZTA; from your work at NZTA, can you tell us 

the number of people in Christchurch and in Auckland who are 35 

exposed to traffic noise levels higher than 45 dBA LAeq? 

 

DR CHILES:   I cannot tell you the number, but it will be a large number of 

people. 

 40 

MS APPLEYARD:   Tens of thousands? 

 

DR CHILES:   Probably, yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   What about in Auckland? 45 
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DR CHILES:   Again, it would be a large number – (INDISTINCT 0.53). 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can I clarify that answer because I think your first 

question related to both Auckland and Christchurch. 

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the answer was given 10,000, was that answer in 

relation to Christchurch, Dr Chiles? 

 10 

DR CHILES:   In relation to Christchurch. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   10,000 or tens of thousands? 

 

DR CHILES:   I do not want to mislead the Panel, I do not know the number, it 15 

would be a very large number of people who would be exposed to more 

than 45 in Christchurch, and likewise in Auckland there will be a very 

large number of people exposed to it. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, well dealing with Auckland, are you aware of a 20 

study that Marshall Day did for NZTA of their existing Auckland 

motorway system? 

 

DR CHILES:   A noise model exercise in 2011? 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  Includes noise modelling and GIS prediction of the 30 

number of houses exposed to noise from the existing motorway 

infrastructure, that is what you are referring to?    

 

DR CHILES:   Yes, it is. 

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:   So are you aware of the results of that, in terms of the 

number of people exposed to certain levels of noise? 

 

DR CHILES:   I have seen the results four years ago – I cannot real off the 

numbers. 40 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So if I told you it showed that more than 90,000 people 

are exposed to 50 dBA and higher, adjacent to the existing Auckland 

infrastructure, that would not be a number that would surprise you? 

 45 

DR CHILES:   No. 
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MS APPLEYARD:   And 14,000 of those people exposed are greater than 65; 

that would not surprise you either? 

 

DR CHILES:   No. 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So can you explain why it is acceptable to expose 90,000 

people in Auckland to noise levels from existing infrastructure, which 

in your evidence, causes sleep disturbance and you say that is not 

unreasonable, or is that unreasonable? 10 

 

DR CHILES:   So the question is why is it acceptable or why is it un- - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Why is it acceptable to expose 90,000 people in Auckland 

to levels of more than 45 – and that is not unreasonable, I take it – and 15 

it is unreasonable to expose a number of a few hundred, we are not sure 

how many, to levels of 45? 

 

DR CHILES:   So it is undesirable to expose anyone to those sorts of noise 

levels and - - - 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The word was “unreasonable”, and just focus on the 

words that we are dealing with in the statute as well, undesirable does 

not help me. 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, that is really the point I am getting to, this point of 

“unreasonableness”. 

 

DR CHILES:   With relation to the engine testing the reason I have used the 

word unreasonable was the fact that there has been no mitigation 30 

attempted and yet there appears to be mitigation that is practical, I do 

not have all the data to make that assessment, and that is a 

differentiation. 

 

 In the case of the state highway network, the level certainly should be 35 

reduced and through my work with the Agency, I am aware that there 

are various measures been taken to bring about reductions over time, 

and I have not had to make a judgement as to whether there is, as per 

the mitigation practicable. 

 40 

 From my knowledge of that industry, there is not a measure that could 

be put in place that would pull that exposure down. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   What level of noise does NZTA regard as unreasonable? 

 45 

DR CHILES:   So the - - - 
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MS APPLEYARD:   And I want you to focus on the word “unreasonable”, 

please. 

 

DR CHILES:   To my knowledge the Transport Agency does not have a 5 

specified level above which it considers noise to be unreasonable or 

not, it will often have a threshold of 65 decibels, beyond which it 

would investigate noise mitigation – and the New Zealand Standard 

that was referred to earlier for new and altered roads, that has a level of 

57 as the first threshold, and then depending on the road it has got 10 

levels of 64 and 67. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   That is a helpful answer, I would just like to show you a 

document that might be able to help you with that. 

 15 

  [10.25 am] 

 

 Are you familiar with the extract from the document that I have put in 

front of you from a cover page? 

 20 

DR CHILES:   Yes, I have not read it recently but I am familiar with it. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   It is a large document so I have not copies the whole 

thing, but pages 22 and 23 and in particular, the bottom of 22, that is 

consistent with the answer you have just given me that – and at the 25 

bottom sentence there, that at levels of 65 LAeq 24 hours and, of course, 

that does not include the night penalty, NZTA at that point, considers 

applying for strategic plan initiative funding in order to retrofit noise 

mitigation measures. 

 30 

 So that is consistent with the answer you have just given? 

 

DR CHILES:   It is; I know that things have moved on since this document and 

that particular strategic plan initiative funding does not exist in that 

same way anymore, but yes. 35 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So in terms of NZTA’s existing infrastructure; do you 

know how many projects it has actually undertaken to actually mitigate 

noise impacts or noise effects from existing infrastructure for people 

exposed to greater than 65? 40 

 

DR CHILES:   I do not know the number, it has undertaken a number in the 

past, there is only one project in Auckland at the moment. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, there is two projects; there is Otahuhu and 45 

Manurewa, are you familiar with those? 
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DR CHILES:   I am familiar with Otahuhu, it may have a different name - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   It might be my pronunciation.  And they involved noise 

wall projects, not insulation? 5 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes, the first one certainly did, so under this noise improvement 

programme that is in the extract, the Transport Agency has undertaken 

a number of different initiatives, some of them were relating to putting 

down low noise surfacing, some were relating to putting up noise 10 

barriers. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Appleyard, did you want this document put up? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, I think Dr Chiles is probably the most familiar with 15 

it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Exhibit 3, I think it is. 

 

EXHIBIT #3 – STATE HIGHWAY ENVIRONMENTAL PLAN 20 

EXTRACT 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   It is a very big document, so I can provide a full copy if- - 

- 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think, well unless you- - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, well I do not need it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just have it in as an extract. 30 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Mr Day in his evidence at paragraph 181 sets out broadly 

speaking in a typical week what residents, for example, in Bishopdale 

might be exposed to.  He says there, that the extent of engine testing 

noise impact at say a Bishopdale house would be approximately 35 

65 dBA noise for five minutes once every six weeks. 

 

 You do not have an issue with that, with that being the answer, sorry, 

not whether it is reasonable or not? 

 40 

DR CHILES:   As I set out, I based all of my assessment on date modelling and 

measurements from Marshall Day, so I have taken all that in. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, so we have got 65 dBA for five minutes once every 

six weeks, 60 dBA for five minutes once a week, and 50 dB for 15 45 

minutes once a night, so that is the figures we are working on? 
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DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And that is what you regard as unreasonable? 

 5 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Do you agree with the general concept that infrequent 

noise events should generally be allowed to produce higher noise levels 

than regular daily events? 10 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And were you a commissioner on a decision involving 

Trafalgar Park in Nelson? 15 

 

DR CHILES:   It was a number of venues in Nelson, including Trafalgar Park, 

yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, and under that decision, you allowed 75 dBA at 20 

night six times per year, didn’t you? 

 

DR CHILES:   I cannot remember the numbers but that sounds of the right 

order.   

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   Now your section on mitigation options which starts at 

para, around about para 6.1, 6.2 of your evidence, you talk about 

considering it to be, and this is in 6.2; “good practice to first 

investigated” – I take it you would accept that has been done? 

 30 

DR CHILES:   No, I do not. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You do not think there has been any investigation at all in 

relation to mitigation of source and the cost and benefit of that? 

 35 

  [10.30 am] 

 

DR CHILES:   I have not seen any evidence that when the ground run-up pad 

was built, that there was any investigation. 

 40 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, I am asking you in relation to this Hearing, it says “I 

consider it good practice to first investigate any practical noise 

mitigation options,” – that has been done here for this Hearing, hasn’t 

it? 

 45 
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DR CHILES:   Marshall Day Acoustics have modelled two orientations of 

ground run-up enclosures; they did one, then I suggested a change.  I 

do not consider that adequate investigation - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think the question was has there been investigation in 5 

preparation for this Hearing? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes, there has been an investigation. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You then go on to say; “and give priority to 10 

implementing” – what do you mean by that in the context of this 

Hearing?  You say “I consider good practices to first investigate” – we 

get that tick, we have done that – “and give priority to implementing.”  

 

 Are they not factors to consider before you carry on with the next step? 15 

 

DR CHILES:   I have acknowledged in my evidence that in all noise 

mitigation; there are other factors beyond just the acoustics benefit that 

need to be taken into account. 

 20 

MS APPLEYARD:   And those matters such as cost and practical issues are 

beyond your expertise, aren’t they? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   So when you refer to good practice in paragraph 6.2, what 

is the good practice you are referring to? 

 

DR CHILES:   So the good practice is when you have a - - - 

 30 

MS APPLEYARD:   In whose field of expertise? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am mindful of the time; have you got much more to go, 

Ms Appleyard? 

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:   I have got about five minutes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So please repeat that question. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Who determines the issue of good practice? 40 

 

DR CHILES:   In my paragraph 6.2 I was saying the good practice was if you 

have a noise source it is good practice to look at controlling that noise 

source at source as a first step and there is a range of different 

specialisms required to conduct that. 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   In relation to aircraft engine noise, isn’t the source the 

gains that the aircraft manufacturers have made over many, many 

years?  Isn’t that the primary source, that is where it should start? 

 

DR CHILES:   That is part of it, yes.  Can I elaborate? 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Mr Laing can ask you about that if you have got 

something you wish to - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well if he is completing his answer, just please complete 10 

the answer. 

 

DR CHILES:   It was just on the, specifically with respect to engine testing, I 

understood talking to Mr Peakall, there have also been advances that 

the modern aircraft needs less engine testing because they have better 15 

diagnostics that can be done without running the engines as well, which 

is another reduction at source. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I have just got a couple more, I am just about there. 

 20 

 In relation to this issue of the drafting of the compliance rules, I take it 

from your paragraph 8.5, you accept that there has to be some leeway 

for teething problems, is that what I take out of your 8.5? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes, I confirm what I have got in 8.5 that there needs to be 25 

training and upskilling of the maintenance staff to operate within the 

noise limits. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And I take it from your 8.8 you also accept that there 

needs to be some carve outs from compliance, or exception in 30 

unpredictable circumstances? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And that the circumstances in which these unpredictable 35 

circumstances might arise are not within your area of expertise, are 

they? 

 

DR CHILES:   That is correct. 

 40 

MS APPLEYARD:   So we need to defer to people such as Mr Morgan and 

Mr Boswell as to the circumstances which might give rise to more need 

for engine testing, on an atypical basis? 

 

DR CHILES:   I am not sure exactly whose expertise that would fall within. 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   But it is not yours? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You have answered that already, Dr Chiles. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Last couple, paragraph 9.1 you say that the seven day 5 

contour would be redundant and retention of a District Plan maps could 

be used to inform prospective residents of the nature of noise effects. 

 

 Did you take some advice from either Mr Laing or a planner, before 

you made that statement? 10 

 

DR CHILES:   Which statement? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   The statement that the contour would be used to inform 

only. 15 

 

DR CHILES:   I certainly discussed that, that is my evidence and it is a matter 

that I did discuss. 

 

  [10.35 am] 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes.  Do you know how many applications CIAL reviews 

from parties wanting to make an application for a non-complying 

consent? 

 25 

DR CHILES:   No, I do not. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And if an application was made for a non-complying 

consent, a land use restriction on engine testing would be a relevant 

factor in terms of the application, would it not, more than just 30 

information, or is that beyond your expertise? 

 

DR CHILES:   Sorry, so within the 50 operational contour? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, well either. 35 

 

 You say “land use controls would be redundant”, and then you go on to 

say that retention of it would be to inform people; would it not also 

have an impact in the event that a person applied for a resource 

consent? 40 

 

DR CHILES:   I think that is beyond on my expertise. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, I have no further questions. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Appleyard.  Mr Daysh? 
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MR DAYSH:   Yes, good morning, Dr Chiles. 

 

 You have commented on the Marshall Day Associates model; do you 

have any concerns with that models accuracy, its method or its 5 

reliability for its purpose? 

 

DR CHILES:   No. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you. 10 

 

 At paragraph 2.1 of your evidence-in-chief, you make a statement that 

the sound levels at the nearby houses are likely to cause significant 

disturbance and annoyance for some residents, and also at paragraph 

3.4 you use the words “are substantially higher than the thresholds for 15 

protection of sleep”. 

 

 With regard to section 16, there you are regarding the requirement, the 

duty to avoid unreasonable noise; do you think your evidence is that 

those two statements are that this is unreasonable noise? 20 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   At your paragraph 6.7 of your evidence-in-chief, you talk about 

the mitigation of a typical barrier being a worthwhile improvement.  Is 25 

it your evidence that that was implemented as a mitigation that would 

have material health benefits for some residents? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 30 

MR DAYSH:   In your rebuttal evidence at your paragraph 3.3, you discuss 

NZS 6802:2008, and the appendix A associated with those? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 35 

MR DAYSH:   Is your evidence that ideally that method should be applied in 

appropriate circumstances in District Plans, or mentioned or used as a 

method? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes, NZS 6802:2008 is used in the proposed Plan for other 40 

noise sources. 

 

MR DAYSH:   For other noise sources? 

 

DR CHILES:   For the general noise sources, that is a standard that has been 45 

proposed, yes. 
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MR DAYSH:   All right.  Are you familiar with the Auckland Unitary Plan 

draft provisions? 

 

DR CHILES:   Some of them, yes. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   Have you had any involvement at all as an expert in their 

formulation or their review? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 10 

 

MR DAYSH:   In what capacity? 

 

DR CHILES:   I advised the transport agency during early stages in Auckland 

transport and I was an expert witness for KiwiRail and an expert 15 

witness for the Eden Park Neighbours Association. 

 

  [10.40 am] 

 

MR DAYSH:   Do you have a view on those provisions as a package? 20 

 

DR CHILES:   All of the noise rules in the Auckland Unitary Plan? 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, as apply to the airport situation, Auckland International 

Airport. 25 

 

DR CHILES: So I was not involved in the provisions relating to 

Auckland Airport. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, sorry, thank you for that, and just one last question about 30 

the sorts of noise that we are dealing with. 

 

 You have been asked some questions about road transport noise; are 

there similarities with train noise at night, in terms of this issue that we 

are deciding? 35 

 

DR CHILES:   There are similarities in terms of you are dealing with short 

term events so road traffic noise where you have got a continuous 

steady noise people are less annoyed by it and they are less disturbed 

by it.  Where you have got discrete events you will cause greater 40 

annoyance and disturbance. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Is a train going past at night more akin to an operational flight 

event or an engine noise testing for 15 minutes? 

 45 
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DR CHILES:   It is more akin to an operational flight but some of the questions 

I had earlier about how you can jump from an average for this source 

and not the other source.  For the operational aircraft where you have 

got hundreds of events then averaging gives you a reasonable 

indication of the exposure. 5 

 

 Where you have only got two events, or a very low number, then 

averaging you reach the limitations of that method.  Trains are sitting 

somewhere in the middle where you might have a dozen or 20 events 

during the day and so averaging is limited in its application, not to the 10 

same extent as engine testing where you have only got a handful of 

events but it is the same issues. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you, that is all I have. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you, sir, Mr Daysh asked my questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Ms Dawson? 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Dr Chiles, many of my questions have been 

answered too thank you.   

 

 Just to make sure I am not confused about something – the Ldn proposal 25 

that is in the proposed Plan at the moment; when Ms Appleyard was 

putting questions to you, you were answering questions about, okay, it 

was averaged over the day so the day/night is averaged and then you 

referred to averaging over a three month period, but for some reason 

when I read all the evidence I felt there was some form of averaging 30 

over seven days? 

 

DR CHILES:   Correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So how does the 24 hours, the seven days and the three 35 

months all fit together to make a number? 

 

DR CHILES:   So the NZS 6805, which is for airports, that specifies three 

months and operational contours in the Christchurch Plan are averaged 

over three months.  So the three months, every time I have ever said 40 

“three months” it only relates to the operational airport noise – the 

engine testing is the seven days. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And that is what is proposed? 

 45 

DR CHILES:   That is what is proposed is seven days. 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes, so the three months averaging is not proposed for the 

engine testing? 

 

DR CHILES:   No. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   It is to be done over seven days? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes, 24 hours and then - - - 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   24 hours and then seven days whereas the operational is 

24 hours and then three months, all right thank you for that, I was 

getting confused there. 

 

 If the Panel was to accept that the noise levels proposed in the 15 

City Plan would continue to expose or even allow some growth in the 

exposure of people either in say the Residential Zone at Bishopdale, to 

unreasonable noise, and we were to look to have an alternative method, 

I mean Ms Appleyard has asked you about this, but I am interested in, 

without talking necessarily about the particular numbers involved, what 20 

alternatives in terms of noise management or noise standards could be 

applied.   

 

 Now, you have looked at the industrial noise and I am not sure whether 

you have looked at the operative Plan or what is proposed in the new 25 

Plan and said “Well, there is a 15 minute Leq”.  So would that be more 

like any particular noise that when averaged over 15 minutes exceeded 

a certain number, would then be non-compliance; is that how that 

works? 

 30 

DR CHILES:   Yes, I was here on Friday when Mr Camp and Mr Goodwin 

were explaining that there is a duration adjustment.  So if it is a one-off 

during the day you can average to some extent.  At night the standard 

does not allow you to do any averaging beyond the 15 minutes. 

 35 

  [10.45 am] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so a 15 minute Leq at night – I mean if it is only for five 

minutes it would be averaged over 15 minutes presumably but no more 

than that, there wouldn’t be another seven day or three month 40 

averaging that is beyond that? 

 

DR CHILES:   That is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I was having a look at, because I note Mr Day in his 45 

supplementary rebuttal I think has asked his colleague to look at some 
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numbers that he says are from the operative City Plan – I think he is 

looking at 24 hour Ldn, if I am correct. 

 

 So I went and had a look at the operative Plan, and I mean as another 

method it suggests – and this could be really out of date so I don’t 5 

know – but it suggests for fluctuating sound or steady sound with 

stepped variations an Leq of one hour. 

 

 In your view, I mean where does an Leq of one hour sit and its 

usefulness, compared with an Leq of 15 minutes, for example? 10 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes, so the operative Plan does not use the duration adjustments 

from the New Zealand standards.  By specifying a one hour period, you 

achieve a similar effect for many sources that if it is a carwash or 

preschool children out for half an hour, then it gives you some 15 

averaging without turning to that duration adjustment. 

 

 So the fact that one hour has come down to 15 minutes that the duration 

adjustment has come in to some extent there is going to be swings and 

roundabouts there.  It is a little bit different at night where taking the 20 

one hour out makes it more stringent. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Taking the one hour out? 

 

DR CHILES:   Taking one hour out. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   So going from one hour to 15 minutes - - - 

 

DR CHILES:   It has become more stringent. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   More stringent. 

 

DR CHILES:    Because the duration adjustment doesn’t work at night. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So for the sorts of noise that are experienced outside a 35 

residential house in Bishopdale, for example, do you have any view as 

to whether the Leq one hour versus an Leq 15, is a more appropriate 

means of controlling the noise exposure for those people? 

 

DR CHILES:   NZS 6802 recommends the 15 minutes, and I think that 40 

represents good practice. 

 

MS DAWSON:   For that type of noise? 

 

DR CHILES:   For that type of noise, yes. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   And one hour is not considered as useful as it might have 

been in the past? 

 

DR CHILES:   No, the operative Christchurch Plan is a little bit of an oddity 

around the country with that one hour period, I am not sure where it 5 

came from. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just so that I ask you - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are away from the speaker there, Ms Dawson. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Sorry, I will just find this. 

 

 Yes, Mr Day’s supplementary rebuttal says that he has asked 

Mr Peakall to do some further monitoring and he refers to a 24 hour 15 

Ldn.  What does that refer to, what sort of measurement is that in terms 

of the suite of measurement types we have been talking about? 

 

DR CHILES:   So for the engine testing it is a 24 hour Ldn then average over 

seven days so he has done half of that calculation but not - - - 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   But not – yes. 

 

DR CHILES:   So if you had the same activity every night for seven nights 

then what he has measured would be the same as the seven day Ldn. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   But on the seven day option you could have a very loud 

minute noise, I think one night a week and lesser noises if none at all 

on other days and that would then get averaged over the seven days. 

 30 

DR CHILES:   That is right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But on the one hour option it would be measured, one day 

option I mean, it would just get averaged over 24 hours but just over 

that day? 35 

 

DR CHILES:   That is right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Which would be more stringent? 

 40 

DR CHILES:   One thing to bear in mind when you do the averaging over 

seven days, because of the way the logarithmic averaging works you 

cannot come down from a really high number to something really low, 

it definitely will reduce but not substantially. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right.  So at the moment the way compliance works, 

as I understand it, is compliance is based on a modelled 65 dBA line, 

this is for engine testing, so - - - 

 

DR CHILES:   In the proposed? 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   In the proposed Plan so the compliance is at that 65 line and 

then the modelling says, “well, if that compliance is met then this is the 

noise that would be experienced at the further out contours”. 

 10 

  [10.50 am] 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But if the compliance was based on sorts of noise standards 15 

that are applied, say, to an Industrial Zone, compliance would be at the 

receiving environment or at whatever point; either at the boundary of 

the zone or at the boundary of the nearest more sensitive zone or 

something like that.  So am I right in thinking it would quite a different 

form of rule? 20 

 

DR CHILES:   Putting to one side the question – the red dots, the nearest 

houses and putting aside who owns them – generally it would be at the 

notional boundary of the nearest houses would be the controlling 

points.  So actually if it was an industrial activity and there were rural 25 

houses nearby, they would still be the controlling points. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Yes and if that was a new industrial activity or industrial 

activity being applied that would be quite a stringent rule because some 

of those houses are quite close so if you were to apply 45 LAeq - - - 30 

 

DR CHILES:   You could not comply. 

 

MS DAWSON:   You could not comply, no but you could apply that same 

approach at another point, like at the edge of a Residential Zone, for 35 

example, and just forget about the red dot people – but again, it would 

not be a matter of saying you comply close and, therefore, it would 

work out this way; it would be a measurement at a receiving 

environment of some nature. 

 40 

DR CHILES:   Yes, in terms of where the noise limit applies. 

 

 In terms of the practicality, demonstrating compliance, you might still 

want to measure closer to the source where you do not have 

contamination from other sources and then back calculate what the 45 

compliance of the receiving location. 
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 A good example I think I mentioned, I have been working on, 

Ruapuna; the new rules there where there is a noise monitoring location 

right beside the track so you have got a measurement which you know 

is motorsport and then you calculate what that would be at the – or you 5 

set the noise limit based on what that would be at the residences. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but it would not be done on contours or whatever it 

would be done on, some measuring points, in the knowledge that this is 

the noise that would be then received at whatever, wherever you want 10 

to control it. 

 

DR CHILES:   That could still be by predictions or measurements, but the 

approach is correct, yes. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but it would be a different approach than the sort of 

contour method that is used at the moment, or is it just that measuring 

points are all round that 65 contour? 

 

DR CHILES:   For a normal industrial site you will normally work out maybe 20 

through modelling and contours where the most effective points are and 

then you can monitor to show that you comply or predict to show you 

comply at those points.   

 

 The limit still applies at all the other points but you would usually use 25 

the model to sort of point you where you need to be checking. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Right, so, I mean, you did not answer Ms Appleyard and you 

said you had not turned your mind to this but have you not turned your 

mind to what, in the circumstances of this location in this part of 30 

Christchurch with this facility and the other noise that, you know, it is a 

strategic airport, there is other noise around about this area, I mean, 

there is their operational noise for starters, have you turned your mind 

at all to what might be a reasonable noise to be experienced at the 

notional boundary of a house in, say, the Bishopdale Residential Zone? 35 

 

DR CHILES:   So, in answer to the question earlier, so 45, there is no question 

about it, would be a reasonable level. 

 

 The piece of the puzzle that is missing for me is that I have not seen the 40 

evaluation of what can be done to control the noise at source.  The level 

is unrateable because it causes sleep disturbance so if you can reduce it 

at source then that is the first action.  That might be by moving the 

location around the airport, it might be by building a ground run-up 

enclosure, it might be by somehow scheduling so all the tests happened 45 
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during the day but I do not have the set of skills needed to see what 

reduction is practicable before then. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So reasonableness is not just about having the best 

environment at the residential end of it.  There is a further reasonable – 5 

In terms of determining what is reasonable; it is both the receiving 

environment and what can be done to deal with the noise? 

 

DR CHILES:   That is how I have approached it – apologies if I have strayed 

into legal matters – but I have tried to approach it in terms of the sleep 10 

disturbance and the effects so those effects definitely exist, there is no 

mitigating happening and I have used the word “reasonable” which is 

slightly awkward in some respects and sorry, hopefully I have not 

misused it. 

 15 

  [10.55 am] 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, it is fine.  All right, thank you very much, that is all my 

questions. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, almost everything has been covered, Dr Chiles, 

but just a couple of matters, please. 

 

 Around this NZS 6802:2008 which, as I understand it, is explicitly said 

to be applicable to airport activities other than taxiing and inflight, is 25 

that your understanding, 1.2.2? 

 

DR CHILES:  Of my evidence? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, no. 30 

 

DR CHILES:   The Standard? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If we go to page 9 of the Standard and look at 

paragraph 1.2.2, I thought this would be self-evident because it just 35 

says what it says. 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes, no – I quite agree, yes.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, just on that basis I wanted to ask you about that 40 

Standard a little bit. 

 

 Now, you said that the piece of the puzzle missing for you was, in 

essence, a lack of understanding of what might practicably be able to 

be done by the airport, having read the evidence, but coming back to 45 

the receiving environment there and what might be a reasonable noise 
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environment, am I right to understand that the receiving environments 

affected by various noise sources, the airport and the State Highway 

being two? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And if we look at the character of noise along the 

State Highway would I be right to understand that at night it would be a 

different character than during the day at peak hour traffic, for instance.  

It would be a noise environment that might be more sporadic; for 10 

instance, trucks going through at different times using engine braking? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, am I right to understand that given that source is 15 

already there in the environment and given that there is already a 24/7 

airport operation in that environment, that in setting a benchmark of 

what might be reasonable, one might assume that it would be a more 

robust or a more tolerant noise environment than say a residential 

environment somewhere off the airport flight paths? 20 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes.  Can I make one comment on the State Highway? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 25 

DR CHILES:   The noise exposure from the State Highway will diminish 

relatively quickly as you move back a couple of rows of houses and 

they screen each other, whereas the engine testing – when sound 

propagates over a long distance, the high frequencies tend to get 

attenuated relatively quickly and you end up with predominantly low 30 

frequency sound propagating over bigger distances. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

DR CHILES:   And those will be less affected by the sort of screening effects 35 

and so on so whereas the – over quite a wide area of Bishopdale there 

would be a similar engine testing noise exposure.  The State Highway – 

some houses will have very high level of State Highway noise and that 

will diminish fairly quickly, so the reasonable level for one house 

might be different from the one that’s three rows back from the 40 

State Highway, for example. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that was sort of my final – I think you pretty much 

anticipated my understanding so that when we talk about this type of 

noise source we talk about noise source in the trajectory of, say, an 45 

engine operating, the aircraft having to be positioned for the wind and 



 Page 194 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

am I right to understand that that means, therefore, that certain 

receivers in that residential environment will receive, even in the 

distant environment, will receive a different noise consequence than 

others? 

 5 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And does that tend to be those who would be within in the 

more direct line of sound, if you like, from the engine? 

 10 

DR CHILES:   Broadly, yes, the different aircraft have different propagation 

patterns; so the turbo props, the load of greatest noise is at a different 

angle to the jets but basically, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And does that have any relevance for considering a noise 15 

barrier proposition, whereas some of the evidence suggests that it may 

be less effective in the receiving environment beyond a certain 

distance; does that depend on where the house is?  

 

 If you look at houses in a distant receiving environment will some 20 

receive more significant benefit than others from a noise barrier? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes.  The reason I asked night or day to try the noise barrier 

and in different orientation is that you move the noise barrier around 

and you change the screening but you are also changing the aircraft 25 

which changes where the greatest levels are experienced, and I think 

there is further optimisation to be done there in terms of how an 

enclosure could be most effective. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And just finally on the question of the reasonableness of 30 

the noise environment, would you agree that it is at least relevant for us 

take account of the fact there is a relatively low level of complaint 

occurring since the engine testing pad was put in here? 

 

DR CHILES:   Potentially.  I find complaints are a poor indicator of noise 35 

effects so personally I put little weight on it but yes, it may be a 

relevant factor. 

 

  [11.00 am] 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you very much for that. 

 

 All right, any, now let me see about the order here.  So, Mr Lawry, any 

questions arising from the Panel’s questions? 

 45 

MR LAWRY:   No, I am satisfied, thank you. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Ms Appleyard? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [11.00 am] 

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, just one, and it might well be that Mr Daysh was not 

confused, but I was. 

 

 You were asked some questions about the Auckland Unitary Plan and 

you gave evidence about its use of parameters in relation to general 10 

noise; can you confirm what the Auckland Unitary Plan approach is to 

engine testing noise? 

 

DR CHILES:   I have not been directly involved.  I understand from Mr Day’s 

evidence that it does use the seven day Ldn. 15 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So the same template as being proposed here is it not? 

 

DR CHILES:   I am unfamiliar with the wording of it. 

 20 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you. 

 

DR CHILES:   Mr Laing, any questions arising or re-examination? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [11.00 am] 25 

 

MR LAING:   Just one.  Dr Chiles, you were asked about the Transit 

New Zealand Environmental Plan 2008.  I think your answer was 

things have moved on.  Can you elaborate on that please? 

 30 

DR CHILES:   On page 22 I was pointed to the heading of Noise Improvement 

Programme.  That programme does not exist at the moment.  There is 

currently a new version of the Environment Plan that will be consulted 

on later this year I understand. 

 35 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you.  Your honour, I would want to take advantage of 

that question? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I beg your pardon, Mr Lawry? 

 40 

MR LAWRY:   I would like to take advantage of the opportunity to ask one 

question. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I gave you the opportunity - - -  

 45 

MR LAWRY:   You caught me by surprise asking - - -  
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Laing, do you have any opposition to a question 

coming in after your re-examination? 

 

MR LAING:   Not from Mr Lawry, sir. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, Ms Appleyard I take it that is okay? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, sir. 

 10 

MR LAWRY:   Thanks for that. 

 

 Would it be true that the airports that are using the seven day average 

are basically the ones that Marshall Day have been consulted to and - - 

-  15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Lawry, does that come from the Panel’s questions? 

 

MR LAWRY:   Yes, it did, it is outlining which particular airports had the 

seven day average. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   From a Panel question – all right well put the question but 

make sure it is always about what the Panel asks.  But put the question. 

 

MR LAWRY:   So if that was the case - - -  25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You had better put it again because I interrupted you. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Would you agree that the airports that were mentioned using 

the seven day averaging, are in fact probably the airports that Marshall 30 

Day are consulting to and has not been subject to peer review? 

 

DR CHILES:   I am unaware.  I know that Auckland Airport, Marshall Day 

Acoustics are the consultants there, but I am not familiar with to what 

extent there has been peer review. 35 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you, Dr Chiles.  You are free to go for the 

moment, but bear in mind that if the Panel feels it needs more 40 

assistance from the experts it will ask for it, but we will see how things 

go. 

 

 Thank you very much. 

 45 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.02 am] 
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 All right, so Ms Dixon? 
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<GLENDA MARGARET DIXON, sworn [11.03 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [11.03 am] 

 

MR LAING:   Your full name is Glenda Margaret Dixon? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 5 

 

MR LAING:   Your experience and qualifications are set out in your evidence-

in-chief to the Stage 2 hearing on Specific Purposes School and 

Tertiary Education Zones, Chapter 21 proposals? 

 10 

MS DIXON:   That is right. 

 

MR LAING:   You have prepared a statement of evidence-in-chief, correct? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 15 

 

MR LAING:   And rebuttal statement? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I have. 

 20 

MR LAING:   I understand you wish to make some corrections? 

 

MS DIXON:   I do have about three corrections, four. 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you, could you take me through them please? 25 

 

MS DIXON:   Okay, page 1, paragraph 1.2A, second line where I say, “west of 

state highway 1”, that should be “east of state highway 1”. 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you. 30 

 

MS DIXON:   Page 13, paragraph 4.24, third line down there is the word 

“expect” that should be “except”. 

 

  [11.05 am] 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is 4.2? 

 

MR LAING:   4.24 on page 13. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 

 

MS DIXON:   So that is just a typo there. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 45 
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MS DIXON:   Page 34, paragraph 7.15 about halfway down the paragraph I 

have the words, “still extending beyond the 55 dB Ldn operational noise 

contour in two areas” and that should be one area, so change the two 

areas to one area. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS DIXON:   And page 44, paragraph 11.1, fourth line down should be, 

“which includes a number of activities not included in the notified bird 

strike rules” – so adding in the word “notified”. 10 

 

 And at the end of that same sentence, “and some not included in the 

revised proposal”.  So it should be, “a number of activities not included 

in the notified bird strike rules in the pRDP, such as pig farming, cattle 

feed lots, wildlife refuges, abattoirs and freezing works, and some not 15 

included in the revised proposal”. 

 

 That is all. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 20 

 

MR LAING:   So subject to those amendments you now confirm that your two 

statements of evidence are correct? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 25 

 

MR LAING:   Could you now deal with your highlights package, please. 

 

MS DIXON:   Thank you. 

 At the beginning of my evidence I provide a summary of the Planning 30 

history of the noise contours around Christchurch International Airport 

and of the use of the 50 dB Ldn airport noise contour for planning 

purposes. 

 

 Planning policies relating to the 50 dB contour have become 35 

progressively more restrictive over the last 15 years or so from an 

original position of discouraging urban residential development and 

other noise sensitive activities within the 50 contour – which was an 

urban growth policy in the City Plan – to the current position of 

avoiding noise sensitive activities within the 50 dB Ldn noise contour 40 

with specified exceptions, i.e. avoiding any further noise sensitive 

activities at all within the 50 dB contour. 

 

 This policy direction is now contained in the RPS, which of course a 

District Plan has to give effect to, and in objective 3.3.12 of the 45 

Strategic Directions chapter of the Replacement District Plan.   
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 I note that this position is no longer based on the possibility of 

complaints from noise leading to a curfew on the 24 hour operations of 

the airport, since that possibility was not considered credible by Judge 

Smith in the Robinsons Bay Trust case I referred to in my paragraph 5 

4.10. 

 

 Rather it is based on the potential adverse effects on people living 

within the 50 dB contour and in particular on the effect on outside 

amenity for persons living between the 50 and 55 contours. 10 

 

 I emphasise the word “outside” because it appears that the noise 

experts agree that inside amenity with windows closed is adequately 

protected at least up to the noise levels which could be experienced in 

the future at the 55 dB air noise contour. 15 

 

 In response to a Panel question on Friday I note that the operative City 

Plan in the Rural 5 – or Airport Influences Zone – does not include any 

rules restricting or avoiding development between the 50 and 55 air 

noise contours, other than the standard minimum subdivision size and 20 

minimum site size for a residential unit of four hectares.  I should say 

for completeness that the four hectares only applied on the east and 

south of the airport in the operative Plan, with areas to the north and 

west of the airport having a 20 hectare minimum subdivision size. 

 25 

 The lack of rules in relation to policy 6.3.7 which was a number of the 

relevant policy of the operative City Plan – which I discuss in my 

evidence-in-chief at paragraphs 4.7 to 4.21 – was because it had been 

proposed as a policy to guide urban growth and rezoning, so rules for 

individual site-specific proposals were not considered necessary. 30 

 

 The proposed Replacement Plan does not include any rules in chapter 

6.1, Noise, to avoid noise-sensitive activities within the 50 to 55 noise 

band because they are not justified in relation to internal amenity, e.g.  

rule 6.1.5.3.1 on indoor design sound levels relates only to activities 35 

within the 55 contour, both in the cases of operational aircraft noise and 

engine testing noise, in accordance with NZS 6085. 

 

  [11.10 am] 

 40 

 However, some of the authors of zone chapters of the proposed 

Replacement Plan have included rules in their zones as a result of the 

RPS 6.3.5, with became operative late-2013. 

 

 The chapters I am aware of that now have rules restricting noise 45 

sensitive activities within the 50 to 55 band for operational noise are – 
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and I will give you the rule numbers later, if you wish, but I will leave 

them out at present, just to get through this a bit more quickly. 

 

 So the chapters are Commercial Zones; there has an IHP decision 

which makes noise sensitive activities within the 55 contour non-5 

complying in the Commercial Core Zone and Commercial Local Zone.  

 

 The Open Space Zones, same non-complying activity status in each of 

the Open Space Zones, so that is just for noise sensitive activities, not 

across the board for all activities obviously. 10 

 

 Residential Stage 1; in the Panel Decision you have assigned restricted 

discretionary status for some specific noise sensitive activities, 

including education activities and health facilities, but not including 

residential. 15 

 

 The Rural Urban Fringe, in the revised proposal rebuttal version has 

policy 9 on separation of incompatible activities, and a rule which 

imposes non-complying activity status for residential units on sites of 

less than four hectares, and minor residential units are limited to family 20 

flats rather than a wider rule, and farm stay operations are limited to 

four guests.  So there are some limitations there. 

 

 Moving onto engine testing; in terms of engine testing the Panel has 

questioned whether there is any inconsistency between the position 25 

taken by Ms Hogan on engine testing in the Rural Zones, and the stance 

taken in opening legal submissions by the Council on engine testing, 

and my position. 

 

 I understand that Ms Hogan’s position, in regard to the Rural Urban 30 

Fringe Zone is that it was already a non-complying activity to 

subdivide or build a dwelling on a lot of below four hectares in size, so 

the addition of a restriction based on the 50 dBA operational noise 

contour, or on the 50 dBA engine testing contour really only has the 

effect of strengthening a policy position which existed anyway for 35 

other reasons. 

 

 For the general rules proposal, the subject of the hearing today, there 

are no restrictions on land use within the 50 to 55 Ldn band for engine 

testing, and the rules are for information only.  The constrained engine 40 

testing contours are now largely within the aircraft operational noise 

contours. 

 

 So we are talking about the contours that Dr Chiles had appended to the 

back of his evidence, which means that rules restricting land uses 45 
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because of engine testing noise will not add anything beyond existing 

restrictions within that operational noise contour.   

 

 However, there is one bulge beyond it for the 55 engine testing contour 

– it might be useful if we did get that appendix D from Dr Chiles’s 5 

evidence up on the screen – could that be done please?  Thank you.    

 

 So there is a bulge for the 55 engine testing contour, which is actually 

in the area of Harewood Road, at the end of Harewood Road, and it is 

sticking out, as it were, beyond the 55 aircraft operational noise 10 

contour.  This is also shown in Chris Day’s attachment E, figure M3, 

which was dated 17 December 2015.   

 

 And in that attachment, which perhaps you can refer to separately, 

there is also a bulge of the 65 dBA Ldn engine testing contour out 15 

beyond the operational noise contour.  But in Dr Chiles’s evidence, and 

this M3 is attached to the back of his evidence, which is date the 

following day, that does not show that second bulge, it shows an 

amended 65 dBA Ldn engine testing contour contained entirely within 

the 65 aircraft operational contour. 20 

 

  [11.15 am] 

 

 So those two diagrams, if you were to compare them, have a day 

difference in date, one 17 December, one the 18 December, that was 25 

the day of airport noise mediation.  So I am of the view that it is not 

appropriate to avoid sensitive activities out to the 50 dBA engine 

testing contour.  This is because policy 6.3.5 of the RPS does not 

mention engine testing, and does not provide a direction to avoid 

sensitive activities within the 50 dBA engine testing contour, as it does 30 

for operational aircraft noise. 

 

 In my view, there is no demonstrated need for a policy of avoiding 

sensitive activities within that same noise band on the basis of engine 

testing. 35 

 

 Engine testing is not considered a regional issue for planning purposes 

in the same way that airport operational contours are, engine testing 

contours do not extend across district boundaries and in effect  they are 

a localised noise issue for residents in the area - - -  40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Laing, I am just wondering how long this summary is 

going to be? 

 

MS DIXON:   Nearly finished. 45 

 



 Page 204 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

MR LAING:   Nearly finished, sir. 

 

MS DIXON:   Although I do note that engine testing noise can carry much 

further, for the most part engine testing noise occurs at night time, so in 

my view the issue is different to the issue of operational noise.  At 5 

night time most people are indoors and therefore – unless they have left 

their windows wide open – they have the benefit of at least thermal 

insulation reducing the noise. 

 

 In my view there is less justification for planning rules avoiding 10 

sensitive activities within the engine testing 50 to 55 dBA band, and for 

the 50 to 55 aircraft operational noise band. 

 

 Engine testing is an issue of sleep disturbance, not outside amenity and 

I do not think that policies and rules about outside amenity for 15 

operational noise, and inside amenity for engine testing noise should be 

interwoven and treated in the same way. 

 

 That is all I would like to say at this stage. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Lawry? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR LAWRY [11.17 am] 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you. 25 

 

 First of all Glenda I would like to thank you for your attempts to make 

– our group had some consultation with CIAL – even though it was 

fairly unsuccessful we do appreciate your assistance in that area.  So 

thank you for that. 30 

 

 From your rebuttal evidence at .4.2, it is apparent that in April 2009 

Council indicated to CIAL that it wished to introduce an engine testing 

noise level control to protect receiving environments, and it considered 

the controls in engine testing were inadequate. 35 

 

 Do you agree that as a result of you being directed to stop working on 

this matter, that since 2009 the engine testing industrial noise has been 

inappropriately managed by Council? 

 40 

MS DIXON:   What was your statement – appropriately or inappropriately? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Inappropriate. 

 

MS DIXON:   Inappropriately? 45 
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MR LAWRY:   Yes, sorry. 

 

MS DIXON:   I think there has been an issue with both ends here, both the 

Airport Company and CCC.  Quite a lot of restructuring and quite a lot 

of work to do with other matters - - - 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dixon, we are going to be here for some time, if 

unless questions that are asked are answered as they should be before 

explanations are given.  What is your answer to the question please, is 

it inappropriate or not – the management that has occurred since 2009 10 

on the part of the Council? 

 

 Please answer that first. 

 

MS DIXON:   I think it could have been better.  Equally we could have 15 

received more information from the Airport Company about the noise 

which was being created in terms of the monitoring reports. 

 

MR LAWRY:   I will move on.  So your answer basically is it could have been 

better, is that the answer? 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That was the answer, and go to your next question thank 

you. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you. 25 

 

 At 4.10 of your rebuttal you explained that you did not interpret 

Ms Payne’s evidence as seeking a change in the seven day Ldn 

parameter, and advised Dr Chiles that there are no submissions seeking 

a change from the seven day Ldn parameter. 30 

 

 The actual wording she used was, and I quote: 

 

  “Annual noise monitoring is not enough.  Living in this area, if I am 

inundated night after night with excessive noise and have to wait a year 35 

for the data to be gathered, and then only taken against the busiest 

rolling seven day period of the year, it is not good enough” – the only 

word missing for the metric is average, which Ms Payne substituted for 

period.   

 40 

 Do you now on reflection accept that Ms Payne was, albeit in layman’s 

terms, expressing her desire to have that noise metred in a different, 

more appropriate manner? 

 

  [11.20 am] 45 
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MS DIXON:   She was talking about the measurement periods, which is a 

component of the question, but I am not sure that she went as far as to 

say that there should be a different metric used.   

 

MR LAWRY:   Given the possible scope implications, which you are well 5 

aware of, do you not think a wider consultation with Mrs Payne – such 

as picking up the phone and ascertaining what she actually meant – 

would have been a far more reasonable approach than relying on your 

interpretation? 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Perhaps, Mr Lawry, if I could explain to you on this one 

otherwise we are going to be here forever, Ms Dixon’s job is to actually 

consider the written submission on the face of it rather than pick up the 

phone to the submitter and ask what they meant. 

 15 

 If you could understand that you will perhaps understand, she would 

have some difficulty with your question.   

 

MR LAWRY:   Your evidence, Ms Dixon, is that in your opinion what she was 

saying by missing one word, a layperson missing one word from the 20 

metric being discussed was sufficient for you to decide that was not 

talking about the metric, is that fair? 

 

MS DIXON:   I do not think it is only one word, I said before that I think it is 

not only about the measurement period but it is about the noise metric 25 

in total, there are lots of technical aspects to that. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Glenda, you are dealing with a layperson here, no layperson 

ever uses “rolling seven day period” in lay speak; do you not think that 

was sufficient to indicate she was talking about the metric? 30 

 

MS DIXON:   She may have been talking about the metric but she did not 

specifically say what she thought it should be as relief sought. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Do you think that approach is fair when laypersons are trying 35 

to speak to the Council; is that not the whole issue we are talking 

about?  People here are trying to talk to the Council to have influence 

on the Plan and then that is the approach they get back, do you think 

that is a fair approach? 

 40 

MS DIXON:   As has been mentioned we have to take the wording of 

submissions on the face of the wording and that is why - - - 

 

MR LAWRY:   So the basic wording was “busiest rolling seven day period is 

not good enough” –that is the wording; how does that not pertain to the 45 

metric we are talking about? 
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MS DIXON:   I do not think that it really pertains to the use of something like 

LAeq, instead of Ldn. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Okay, I will move on - - - 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Lawry, you can make your submissions to us on that 

and you should feel free to do that, there are definite legal angles you 

run past us on that. 

 10 

MR LAWRY:   Do you agree that the bird strike proposal is so lacking in 

supporting evidence that the conferencing experts’ assertion that this 

constituted a lack of transparency on the part of CIAL is correct? 

 

MS DIXON:   There was a lack of data from CIAL. 15 

 

MR LAWRY:   The wording from the experts that it was - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just pause a minute.  Mr Laing, is Ms Dixon coming back 

on bird strike or – Is it being run today?   20 

 

MR LAING:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Coming back on bird strike; Mr Lawry, just on the bird 

strike material you will be able to ask all of these questions you want to 25 

put, provided they are reasonable enough, but this witness will be 

coming back on the bird strike issues. 

 

 It helps me as well, I had some questions on bird strike too but I will 

leave them until. 30 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you for that.  Can we answer that question please 

though? 

 

MR LAING:   Can I just make sure that is the case? 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, we had better double check.  Ms Dawson was 

thinking that it was, and it is a bit confusing I have to say for everyone 

so do not feel embarrassed by this, I have some questions as well. 

 40 

MS DIXON:   My understanding it was Wednesday on that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is right.  And the Secretariat just confirmed that 

Ms Dixon is coming back on Wednesday for the bird strike issues, so 

you will have a chance then, all right.  It is best to keep it in that order 45 

and I will just explain to you why is - - - 
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MR LAWRY:   I am just not sure I have asked to actually cross-examine in 

that area that is the thing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, I will give you leave to do that. 5 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will fit in the schedule, and it is confusing and I 

appreciate that, but one of the important reasons why I am directing 10 

you in that way is that when Ms Dixon gives evidence there will be 

other evidence in on bird strike which may inform her answers. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Okay, thank you for that. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So it is important for everyone that it is done in an 

informed way. 

 

MR LAWRY:   At 7.2 of your rebuttal you indicate that my comment that 

Council has never recorded complaints but simply passed them on to 20 

CIAL is incorrect.  I had sought from Council information relating to 

airport noise complaints but was advised, it seems incorrectly, that the 

Council has not and does not record airport noise complaints. 

 

 My point is do you agree that Council did not actively assign 25 

investigators to complaints, investigate them, take action to resolve the 

noise and advise complainants of the progress and results of that 

investigation but rather simply advised CIAL and left it to them? 

 

  [11.25 am] 30 

 

MS DIXON:   I think you need to distinguish time periods here.  The Council 

did receive and record noise complaints about airport noise for some 

years but following discussions over the Airport Noise Management 

Plan the arrangement made was that the Council would pass those 35 

complaints on to the Airport Company, and the Airport Company was 

to be the central record point for complaints from then on. 

 

MR LAWRY:   So do you think it was appropriate, given that the Council has 

got the duty to be looking at complaints about noise, industrial noise, 40 

that they pass it on to the people who are creating that industrial noise 

and never went back to them about the results or outcomes, is that an 

appropriate complaints mechanism? 
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MS DIXON:   As I have recorded in that paragraph the Council offered to 

collect and record all airport noise complaints, as it does for other 

sources of noise, but that - - - 

 

MR LAWRY:   This is my problem, I am not sure who actually owns the 5 

airport and runs the Council, because it seems that the Council is 

forever asking the airport for permission to do things. 

 

 My question is; is it appropriate for the Council to pass on complaints 

that they are supposed to be investigating and have the duty to do so, to 10 

the persons that are producing the noise and leaving it at that – that is 

my question, is that an appropriate complaints process? 

 

MS DIXON:   There is actually two elements to that.  Council doesn’t have the 

information about flights and engine testing episodes, so it is actually 15 

quite difficult for the Council to analyse any complaints against that 

and, secondly, it is not as if the Council does not get a record, or a 

summary record from the Airport Company in the annual noise 

monitoring reports. 

 20 

MR LAWRY:   Ms Dixon, the entire reasoning for the contours is that CIAL 

are concerned about curfew restrictions that could be put on their 

operations through complaint activities that result in curfews. 

 

 If the Christchurch Council did nothing about complaints, what is the 25 

probability of the Council ever giving a curfew to their company 

CIAL? 

 

MS DIXON:   I do not agree that that is the entire reason that we have airport 

noise contours.  As I have said in my highlights package the 30 

operational noise contours are not, I do not think, based on the 

possibility of curfew.  That is a - - - 

 

MR LAWRY:   I will refer you then to - - - 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Lawry, don’t interrupt the witness. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Fair enough. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Be mindful of time, be aware of the fact that our focus is 40 

on what are the appropriate plan provisions for this plan and we are not 

going to inquire into the performance of the Council, or whatever, in 

the past.  I am just wanting to signal those matters to you so you can 

focus your cross-examination better. 

 45 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you. 
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 I note in your rebuttal evidence at point 3.7.38 that you see the word 

“manage” as entirely different in meaning to “limit”.  You outline in 

3.8 that in your view management has a broad concept which can 

include a variety of more specific approaches.  I take it then that your 5 

view “manage” has a more than minor effect change and that “limit” is 

a significantly more focused requirement, is that correct? 

 

MS DIXON:   “Limit” is a more focused requirement I think. 

 10 

MR LAWRY:   So my question was that you believe that the difference 

between “manage” and “limit”, that the word “manage” is more than a 

minor effect change? 

 

MS DIXON:   I think it depends on the context; as I have said I think the word 15 

“manage” is appropriate in an objective, but not necessarily quite so 

appropriate depending on the context in a policy. 

 

MR LAWRY:   My point, Glenda, is “manage” significantly different than 

“limit”? 20 

 

MS DIXON:   I think it is, I think it is a wider and higher level concept.  That 

is my view. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you.  And taking that same argument, do you agree that 25 

“manage” is significantly different than “minimise”? 

 

MS DIXON:   “Minimise” is, as I have suggested, one of the particular 

approaches that one might take at a policy level, “manage” is - - - 

 30 

MR LAWRY:   My point here is a scope issue. 

 

MS DIXON:  “Manage” is a lot broader. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So your answer is that it is significantly different, that was 35 

the question? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you. 40 

 

 At point 5.32 of your evidence-in-chief you indicate that there was no 

evidential basis at present to support the removal of the 50 dB contour.   

 

 Do you accept now that the evidence of the world leading expert on the 45 

matter, Clarke and Fidell, provide such evidence and that while the 
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Panel cannot remove the 50 dBA that it should not now introduce 

flawed activity avoidance rules, under what is a flawed policy intent 

contour? 

 

  [11.30 am] 5 

 

MS DIXON:   I do not believe the Panel has an evidential basis at the moment.  

The discussion was had in a full-blown case in about 2004, which 

involved a range of noise experts and other experts, and what we had 

today is just one specific piece of evidence. 10 

 

MR LAWRY:   The Panel has been asked though to introduce a noise sensitive 

activity avoidance roe under the 50 dBA operational line – you have 

already excluded the engine testing and operation noise (ph 0.40), is 

that not correct? 15 

 

MS DIXON:   No it is not correct, we already have those policy directions in 

terms of the 50 dBA line and we are beginning - - - 

 

MR LAWRY:   So there is no such rules? 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Lawry, do not interrupt her. 

 

MS DIXON:   As I have mentioned, we have now in the past review some 

rules in particular zones which implement that. 25 

 

MR LAWRY:   Lastly, I know that point 3.10 of your rebuttal evidence on 

1 March 2016, you refer to Council not having yet received CIAL’s 

2015 Noise Monitoring Report, and is not on the CIAL website at the 

time of writing your rebuttal, and further, the 2014 Noise Monitoring 30 

Report from CIAL, was only received by Council in January 2016. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Lawry, just before you ask this question I just want to 

let you know that a memorandum was received this morning on behalf 

of the Airport to indicate the references to the 2015 document in the 35 

evidence of Mr Bonis, I think, was an error. 

 

MR LAWRY:   I think that is not my point, your Honour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So just to let you know that, just so that you are aware of 40 

that – by all means put the question. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you.  Would you agree however, that this failure 

exhibits extreme tardiness in complying with monitoring reporting; in 

other words, if you are receiving the 2015 report in January – 2014 45 

report, sorry, in 2016, is that not tardy monitoring? 
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MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, we will take the morning recess. 

 

ADJOURNED [11.32 am] 

 

RESUMED [11.49 am] 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Now, Ms Appleyard, I think you are next? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMNATION BY MS APPLEYARD [11.49 am] 

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   I just want to ask you some questions that I had not 

contemplated I was having to ask you, and it was in relation to the 

summary you had given about no rules being required in relation to 

engine testing restrictions. 

 20 

 There are no rules in Chapter 6 relating to operational noise contour 

restrictions either, are there, in terms of land use restrictions? 

 

MS DIXON:   In terms of land use restrictions, no. 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, and the rules requesting restrictions in relation to 

engine testing and operational noise, fail for consideration in other 

chapters such as rural, open space, et cetera, didn’t they? 

 

  [11.50 am] 30 

 

MS DIXON:    In the first instance, yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And you were not the chapter leader in relation to those 

matters, were you? 35 

 

MS DIXON:   No, but I did have discussions with several of those chapter 

leaders.  For example, we originally had insulation standards in the 

zones but they got pulled into chapter 6. 

 40 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, I am asking you about land use restrictions.  You are 

not the chapter leader in respect of Rural and Open Space, for example, 

were you? 

 

MS DIXON:    No. 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   And those are the chapters where the land use restrictions 

appear, aren’t they? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes.   

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:    And also and Residential and Industrial and Commercial 

in relation to operational contours? 

 

MS DIXON:    Yes. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   So, can you explain to me why Ms Hogan, for example, 

did not evidence when I cross-examined her in the Rural Hearing, 

along the lines you have just given, that there should be no density 

restrictions with respect to engine testing?  Why are we hearing about 

this for the first time now? 15 

 

MS DIXON:    I think Ms Hogan’s position is - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, I am - - - 

 20 

MS DIXON:    - - - slightly different to mine. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   - - - asking you.  Ms Hogan’s is different to yours? 

 

MS DIXON:   Her position was slightly different to mine. 25 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So, why are we having evidence from you about the rules 

for the Rural Chapter and the policies for the Rural Chapter? 

 

MS DIXON:   The Panel asked a question as to whether we had any rules 30 

restricting noise sensitive activities within the 50 to 55. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So is your evidence to be taken in preference to 

Ms Hogan’s for the Rural Chapter, as to the rules and the policies – 

Including those that refer to engine testing – and for the chapter leader 35 

for Open Space, and for the chapter leaders for the other chapters? 

 

MS DIXON:   No, I am pretty sure the chapter leader for Open Space did 

suggest though that those rules could be put into Chapter 6. 

 40 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, I am just asking you whether your evidence here 

overrides the evidence Ms Hogan gave in relation to the Rural Chapter, 

which is where we had the argument about density controls. 

 

MS DIXON:   No, I have not given evidence on the Rural Chapter.   45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   And you are not giving evidence on the Rural Chapter 

policies either, are you? 

 

MS DIXON:   No, I am only responding to the Panel question. 

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:   I want to ask you some questions about scope and I think 

we are agreed that no submissions sought the Leq 15 minute contour 

suggested by Dr Chiles. 

 

MS DIXON:   That is my view. 10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So, in answer to the question that I asked Dr Chiles, I will 

ask you the same thing, what do you suggest the Panel does with 

Dr Chiles’ evidence given that there is no submission seeking the 

parameter, he has not put a number on the parameter and nor do we 15 

have a contour?  What does the Panel do with his evidence? 

 

MS DIXON:   Consider what he is talking about but I think unless they were to 

go beyond the scope of submissions they would be limited in what they 

could do about it. 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Were you aware that the provisions that were suggested 

by Mr Day, mirror the provisions that have been adopted for engine 

testing in the Auckland Unitary Plan? 

 25 

MS DIXON:   Yes, there are some differences though.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:  No, but the actual general approach of using 

seven day Ldn; are you aware that that is the same? 

 30 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Now, you also say in relation to scope that you want the 

addition of noise controls to be added to the Specific Purpose Airport 

Zone. 35 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, in terms of table 1 of proposal 6.1, I do not remember the 

rule number. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Would you like me to pause, sir? 40 

 

MS DIXON:   Probably on page 7. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Would you like me to slow down? 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   No, it is okay, Ms Appleyard, I was listening with one ear 

and making sure I had the legal submissions open with another. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, so I am dealing with scope and the fact that by 

oversight – and I think we all accept by oversight – there are no noise 5 

control rules in the Special Purpose Airport Zone, yes? 

 

MS DIXON:    That is right. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And it was an oversight? 10 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, it was something fell between the gaps in terms of Plan 

Change 84, versus the District Plan review. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, so you now proposing that we add some noise 15 

controls to the Special Purpose Airport Zone? 

 

MS DIXON:   I am suggesting them for the Panel’s consideration. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, and they have not been sought in any submission, 20 

have they? 

 

MS DIXON:   Not specifically, no. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No.  Are you aware that Christchurch International 25 

Airport has a large number of tenants? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And that some of those tenants hold their resource 30 

consents that relate to issues such as noise? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And one of those would be the Pratt & Whitney Off-35 

Engine Engine-Testing Facility? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So, when you made your suggestion that we add noise 40 

rules to the Special Purpose Airport Zone, did you take into account the 

impact on those tenants and other parties? 

 

  [11.55 am] 

 45 
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MS DIXON:   I was of the understanding that the Pratt & Whitney operation 

was internal - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:    No; I am asking you about whether you took into 

account the impact on the tenants within the SPAZ, when you decided 5 

to recommend the addition of noise controls to the SPAZ that have not 

been notified? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes I did.  I was broadly aware of the range of land uses that are 

present at the airport. 10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So, are you satisfied that no tenant within the 

Special Purpose Airport Zone, would wish to make a submission in 

respect of the relief you are now suggesting? Including 

Pratt & Whitney? 15 

 

MS DIXON:    I cannot really answer that.  I would point out though that 

Mr Bonis has suggested that this standard be inserted in the table. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I am asking you, Ms Dixon, whether you turned your 20 

mind to the impact on tenants – Mr Bonis is representing the airport.   

 

 I am asking you about parties who are not submitters; did you turn your 

mind to that? 

 25 

MS DIXON:   Yes, in broad terms. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And did you form the conclusion that no party would be 

prejudiced? 

 30 

MS DIXON:   I am not sure if I can use exactly those words, but I certainly did 

not believe that there were major noise generators at the airport in 

terms of the general business uses that occurred there. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   What about Pratt & Whitney? 35 

 

MS DIXON:   As I was trying to say, I was of the understanding that the 

Pratt & Whitney off-the-wing testing was completely internalised. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   If I tell you that I act for Pratt & Whitney, and they would 40 

have a very serious concern about this, you would not be able to 

dispute that, would you? 

 

MS DIXON:   I do not have the detail.   

 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:    Now I want to ask you some questions really about 

matters that are largely agreed and I just want to focus on the few 

matters as between the airport and you that are not agreed.   

 

 And this relates to the two new policies sought by CIAL and in relation 5 

to one, the CIAL submission seeks to use the word “manage” and you 

wish to change that word to “limit”.   

 

MS DIXON:   Yes.  I do not consider that I am changing that word.  It is 

already limit in - - - 10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, I am sorry, it is not what is in CIAL’s submission; 

could you just answer the question.   

 

 CIAL did not ask for that. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Appleyard, I think there is confusion in understanding 

between you and the witness about your original question, in terms of 

whether it was a change.  I think she may have been referring not to the 

submission but to something else. 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, so it is a change from what CIAL asked for, which 

was the insertion of a new policy with the word “manage”? 

 

MS DIXON:   It is not a change because it is already the same wording as the 25 

operative City Plan which I continued into the notified chapter. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Ms Dixon, it is a change to what the submitter asked for, 

is it not?  It is not what CIAL asked for; can you just answer that? 

 30 

MS DIXON:   No, it is not what they asked for. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, so where is the scope to amend what the 

submitter asked for? 

 35 

MS DIXON:   I do not think there is a scope issue arising.  What the airport 

sought was a change to the word “limit” not the other way round. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I am sorry, CIAL asked for some words to go in.  You are 

not agreeing with those words, so which submission do you rely on? 40 

 

MS DIXON:   There isn’t a submission saying “limit”.  I am telling you those 

policies were drafted by just rolling over the word “limit” in the 

operative City Plan. 

 45 

MS APPLEYARD:   But the policies were drafted by CIAL. 
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MS DIXON:   Originally potentially. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   In their submission; so what submission do you rely on to 

amend the relief sought by CIAL, to something which CIAL would say 5 

means the opposite of what they asked for? 

 

MS DIXON:   I do not accept that I am amending the relief. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, so there is no submission, is that your answer? 10 

 

MS DIXON:    That policy 6.1.1.4 only has a line under it because that policy 

was originally in other locations. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    Was there another submission that sought that relief, 15 

Ms Dixon? 

 

MS DIXON:   Sought the relief of limit? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 20 

 

MS DIXON:   No. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, that is the answer and perhaps there are 

some legal submissions around - - - 25 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, thank you.  So your wording is not what the 

submitter sought, is it? 

 

MS DIXON:   No. 30 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And while we are on that topic I understand the 

difference between you and Mr Bonis and as to whether the word 

“limit” should be used or the word “managed” should be used relates to 

different interpretations of NZS 6805.  Is that correct? 35 

 

  [12.00 pm] 

 

MS DIXON:   That is part of the debate, yes.   

 40 

MS APPLEYARD:   So let’s look at NZS 6805, have you got a copy of that 

there? 

 

MS DIXON:   I do have somewhere.  I am not sure where it is, I think it was 

supplied last week by Mr Laing. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, NZS 6805 was kindly given to us by Mr Goodwin, 

through Mr Laing; Airport Noise, Management and Land Use 

Planning. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, the title of it, was standard, the whole standard is 5 

aimed at management, is it not? 

 

MS DIXON:   Broadly speaking, it is about two things, noise management and 

land use planning. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, and the title of it does not use the word “limit”, does 

it? 

 

MS DIXON:   No. 

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   In your paragraph 5.4, you say the Standard not only aims 

at compatible land use, planning via reverse sensitivity tools, but 

requires airports to manage noise – that is your evidence, so that is 

about management, isn’t it?  

 20 

MS DIXON:   Yes, in a broad sense, management. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   It is not about limiting the airport, is it? 

 

MS DIXON:   There were other more specific- - - 25 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I understand that. 

 

MS DIXON:   - - -causes in the Standard that do suggest limitation. 

 30 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, so your reliance is in relation to 1.1.4, can we have a 

look at that?  Sorry, it is not 1.1.4 – I am just going to have to find – 

well you might be able to tell me, the clause that you did rely on – it is 

1.4.4.1, sorry? 

 35 

MS DIXON:   1.4.4.1, okay. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And 1.4.4.1 begins, “The Airport operator shall manage 

its operation, so that it does not exceed a limit.” 

 40 

MS DIXON:   That is right, yes, so there is a limit. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I understand that, but the word “manage” does not appear 

in your draft; is this clause not about managing so it does not exceed a 

limit rather than about limiting the airport? 45 
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MS DIXON:   I think it is basically splitting hairs.  It is “manage” as an overall 

suite of approaches, and “limit” as the specific approach that shall be 

used. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well if we use wording similar to 1.4.4.1 and the phrase 5 

starts “manage”, and makes it clear that it is “manage” so it does not 

exceed a limit, rather than limiting the airport; would you be happy 

with that as an approach? 

 

MS DIXON:   In terms of the way the Standard is written? 10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   In terms of the wording of the policy? 

 

MS DIXON:   That could be a compromise. 

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you. 

 

 Engine testing; have you had personal experience of living exposed 

through engine testing noise relating to Christchurch Airport? 

 20 

MS DIXON:   I have lived in four different locations in the north-west since I 

have been in Christchurch. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And which one was the closest? 

 25 

MS DIXON:   The closest would be Roydvale Avenue. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And you have commented in the past on the effects of 

engine testing on you personally? 

 30 

MS DIXON:   I have in terms of attempting to explain that it is an issue.  We 

had trouble, I think for some years, getting airport people, such as 

Mr McInerney, to accept that it was an issue. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And that was a matter that you raised in your personal 35 

capacity being a person exposed to aircraft noise, sorry, engine testing 

noise? 

 

MS DIXON:   I think that my personal experience really does not make a lot of 

difference given that I have been in, as I said, four different locations 40 

and there is quite different effects in all of those, so I think that gives 

me a reasonable basis for an objective assessment, a professional 

opinion. 
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MS APPLEYARD:   Your personal experience as articulated was not a positive 

one though, was it, Ms Dixon.  You were complaining about what you 

regarded to be an adverse effect? 

 

  [12.05 pm] 5 

 

MS DIXON:   I lived in a house that was single glazed in Roydvale Avenue 

and I did consider it was an adverse effect. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And it has been your view for many, many years, that 10 

there needs to be constraints on airport engine testing, isn’t that the 

case – you have articulated that? 

 

MS DIXON:   I think it is a particular site specific noise issue; it is a bit similar 

to the Ruapuna situation in that it affects a localised area, and the 15 

Ruapuna noise situation has been addressed in the District Plan. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Ms Dixon, I am asking you about your personal 

experience.  It has been your personal view for some time, that there 

need to be rules in the Plan to control the effects of engine testing 20 

noise? 

 

MS DIXON:   I think in terms of protecting the amenity of residents as the flip 

side of limiting the airport, yes. 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   And one of those residents is you, isn’t it? 

 

MS DIXON:   It is. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  Now I think - - - 30 

 

MS DIXON:   I do not currently live in Roydvale Avenue. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I think you agree that in principle, the engine testing rules 

need some carve out for the exceptional event that occurs very 35 

infrequently over the life of the Plan? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I do and that is why we proposed that 1 dB for various 

reasons in the notified version. 

 40 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well I am wanting to focus not so much on whether it is 

1 dB or 2 dB or some-other-dB – but in terms of getting a list together 

of the events that might trigger those a typical situations, that is not 

something that is within your field of expertise, is it, to describe those 

events? 45 

 



 Page 222 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

MS DIXON:   Not in terms of the details of what maintenance might be 

required, or operational needs of the airport, no. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So it might be expected though that sometime within the 

life of this Plan, there might be a need for maintenance? 5 

 

MS DIXON:   Certainly, but I imagine that the airport is able to plan for that 

sort of eventuality. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Is that within your area of expertise, the answer that you 10 

just gave, Ms Dixon? 

 

MS DIXON:   Not my specific expertise, no. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I mean at a general level, I would have thought it is 15 

within everybody’s expertise to assume the airport can plan. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Will we defer to the evidence of Mr Boswell and 

Mr Morgan on that; is that a better answer?    

 20 

MS DIXON:   Well, in terms of the specifics of how frequently maintenance is 

required and of what type, yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   In relation to the north-west runway then, I take it that 

you accept that there might be circumstances beyond nor-west winds 25 

that might increase the frequency of use of the nor-west runway? 

 

MS DIXON:   I understand that there has recently been increased use of that 

runway because of maintenance of the main runway. 

 30 

MS APPLEYARD:   In relation to the universities and the schools, have you 

considered how relief could be granted in the form sought by those 

parties in terms of permission without offending the Regional Policy 

Statement Policy of Avoidance? 

 35 

MS DIXON:   It is difficult, I do not think that in formulating that regional 

policy that the authors were necessarily particularly cognisant of some 

of those- - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dixon, just bear in mind the question was have you 40 

considered it, not what the - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Sorry, if we just accept from a starting proposition, that 

we all want a practical answer for the schools and the university – but 

have you considered how the relief sought, in terms of permissions, 45 

from the Panel could be granted in a manner that is consistent with the 
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Regional Policy Statement, which does not provide an exception for 

universities or schools. 

 

 Have you thought about how we can achieve that without doing 

violence to the policy? 5 

 

MS DIXON:   Probably as Mr Miller has suggested by adding in an exception 

to the Strategic Objective 3.3.12 – that is the Clearwater exception, 

which is not in policy 6.3.5 either. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   So you say that the Panel here can create new exceptions 

that are not referred to in the Regional Policy Statement Exception and 

not do violence to that policy? 

 

MS DIXON:   I think violence is an overstatement. 15 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Or, sorry, be consistent. 

 

MS DIXON:   Well the Panel has made that exception in one instance. 

 20 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, that relates to existing uses, so this is creating an 

exception for new development. 

 

  [12.10 pm] 

 25 

MS DIXON:   I do not actually think that is quite the case.  As I have explained 

on Friday there is a significant amount of development that is provided 

for, but has not yet occurred at Clearwater. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, no, and that is specifically what the Panel’s decision 30 

said. 

 

 So putting aside Clearwater, the Panel did not create an exception for 

new development that was not authorised.  So accept that is different 

from the University and the schools? 35 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So how do we authorise new development which is not 

authorised at the moment without being inconsistent policy?  And I am 40 

not trying to buy difficult, we want to find an answer for these parties 

as well.   

 

MS DIXON:   I think that could be a question to ask of Mr Miller.  I think that 

there would be a slight inconsistency with that policy in terms of the 45 

University.  In terms of the schools; five out of six of those schools are 
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actually designated anyway, so I imagine that they thereby assume that 

that policy is not going to be applicable to them. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, thank you.  I have no further questions. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks Ms Appleyard.  Mr Caldwell, are you going to 

cross-examine? 

 

MR CALDWELL:   Yes, thank you sir.  Now sir, just in terms of cross-

examination, we are not addressing issues of bird strike now?   10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CALDWELL:   I will do that on Wednesday. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It does mean coming back I think for that, are you able to 

do that? 

 

MR CALDWELL:   I am back on Wednesday, anyway. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, all right, yes, so leaving bird strike aside. 

 

MR CALDWELL:   Thank you.   

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CALDWELL [12.11 pm] 25 

 

MR CALDWELL:   Ms Dixon, just really a couple of questions.  They relate to 

your paragraph 4.9, in your rebuttal.   

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 30 

 

MR CALDWELL:   You have expressed there your reasons for not including 

the Lmax – which is being sought on behalf of the Trust at Peacock 

Springs – I am just trying to get an understanding of what your basis is 

for not including that there? 35 

 

MS DIXON:   Basically what I have put in paragraph 4.9; I am not completely 

aware of what the implications might be. 

 

MR CALDWELL:   Okay.  To your knowledge would it alter the contours? 40 

 

MS DIXON:   I do not know; I am not an expert on how that would change the 

contours, or the shape of them.   

 

MR CALDWELL:   So is your evidence in essence suggesting that it may be 45 

possible, or that would be appropriate to be able to shift adverse effects 
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– you talk about mitigation, limiting mitigation – are you suggesting 

that it could be appropriate to shift adverse effects onto the western side 

of the airport runway from the east? 

 

MS DIXON:   No.  I am suggesting that in the overall balancing exercise one 5 

has to be aware of implications on both sides; the west and the east.   

 

MR CALDWELL:   So you are not suggesting in any way the potential for 

moving activities towards Peacock Springs to address concerns on the 

eastern side of the runway? That is not something that you are 10 

suggesting would be appropriate? 

 

MS DIXON:   No.  In concept I do not disagree with the idea of an Lmax at 

Peacock Springs, it is just that I consider that we need to be in 

possession of a bit more information before such a rule could be 15 

introduced and justified. 

 

MR CALDWELL:   And have you done any justification or consideration of 

the costs of such a rule? 

 20 

MS DIXON:   Not of that particular rule, because as I say I do not know what 

the implications are, and that is up to the noise experts in terms of 

whether or not the contours might need to change shape. 

 

MR CALDWELL:   All right.  Have you considered the costs of not having the 25 

rule on the Trust and the endangered breeding programme particularly? 

 

MS DIXON:   I am not sure that I am able to say whether there would be any 

costs, because the 80 Lmax that has been suggested could well be similar 

to the existing noise regime.  It is unclear. 30 

 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

MR CALDWELL:   Is that your understanding, that it is reflective of 

essentially the existing noise profile? 35 

 

MS DIXON:   I think I read in one of the Trust’s submissions something along 

those lines. 

 

MR CALDWELL:   Thank you, no further questions. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Caldwell.  Now, Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you.  Good afternoon Ms Dixon. 

 45 
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 You made a statement in your highlights package about the previous 

hearings the Panel has considered, or the proposals.  You mentioned 

Open Space around the 55 dBA aspect.  That decision has not been 

issued yet, has it? 

 5 

MS DIXON:   No.   

 

MR DAYSH:   Following up on some questions from Ms Appleyard about 

where the provisions are sitting at the moment, is your latest position 

on the objectives, policies and rules relating to airport noise and engine 10 

testing as we have in front of us, now in the version dated 4 March 

2016? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes.  You may be aware from Friday that I have only been 

responsible for selected of those policies.  Ms Kelly Andrew was 15 

responsible for some of the others. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, but for the ones that you are responsible for and having, I 

suppose my question is, in your view are they still a work in progress, 

or are you fixed on the objectives, policies and rules as they stand in 20 

this version? 

 

MS DIXON:   I did not actually have anything to do with that objective.  For 

policy 1.1.1.4, was the only policy I was directly responsible for.   

 25 

MR DAYSH:   Right, thank you. 

 

MS DIXON:   So in regard to that policy; yes, I consider the wording of 4 

March 2016 as appropriate.   

 30 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you.  But you have been responsible for the provisions 

associated with airport noise contours, engine testing, as in terms of 

drafting the Plan, or is that not - - -  

 

MS DIXON:   Not quite – I came into it at a very late stage after some of those 35 

provisions were already drafted.  What I was most responsible for was 

the engine testing provisions. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay.  Just a question I have about engine testing; were you 

responsible for looking at engine testing in the objectives, policies and 40 

rules, or the package around the Section 32 analysis? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I did write that Section 32 that is on the website, for engine 

testing, the addendum. 

 45 

MR DAYSH:   Yes.  And what date was that written roughly? 
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MS DIXON:   Probably January 2015. 

 

MR DAYSH:   After reading the evidence now that has been produced for this 

hearing about engine testing, is your view that the Section 32 analysis 5 

adequately addresses all the relevant costs and benefits? 

 

MS DIXON:   No, I think it could be augmented.  It also does not address the 

constrained engine testing contours that we are now discussing.   

 10 

MR DAYSH:   Yes.  So there has been quite a lot more information that has 

been come to light through evidence and information since that 

Section 32 analysis was prepared? 

 

MS DIXON:   Mm – actually on thinking about it I wish to correct what I said 15 

before, I think it was probably February 2015. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, so irrespective of the date your opinion is that we now 

have quite a body of new information in evidence which could bear in 

form a revision or a re-analysis of the Section 32 approach that we have 20 

in front of us? 

 

MS DIXON:   Absolutely, we had very constrained timeframes for notification 

of Stage 2, and that did not facilitate any gathering of additional 

information or more detail.   25 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right.  I have a question of your evidence-in-chief, 

paragraph 4.5 where you are talking about the New Zealand standard 

and how it was applied – just a general question for you as a planner, 

about New Zealand standards. 30 

 

 Councils do not have to adhere to any particular New Zealand standard 

in formulating District Plan provisions, do they? 

 

MS DIXON:   No – they frequently do use them as a guideline though. 35 

 

MR DAYSH:   Not like an NES where you are required to have regard for the 

policies or not be consistent with other? 

 

  [12.20 pm] 40 

 

MS DIXON:   No. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay.  Sometimes District Plans use provisions and standards 

and numbers out of these New Zealand Standard documents, do they 45 

not? 
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MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes.  So we are not as a Panel constrained to any particular 

wording in the Standard, as it might be applied to the Christchurch 5 

District Plan, are we? 

 

MS DIXON:   Not specifically, no. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you.  I want to ask you some questions about this word 10 

“manage” – and I am looking particularly at 5.1 of your evidence-in-

chief. 

 

 I will start with; it is your understanding under the Resource 

Management Act that there is a requirement for policy plan makers and 15 

decision makers to avoid, remedy or mitigate identified adverse 

effects? 

 

MS DIXON:   Broadly speaking yes, under section 5. 

 20 

MR DAYSH:   How do you think as a planner about the term “manage” as an 

obligation – thinking about the avoid, remedy or mitigate adverse 

effects principle? 

 

MS DIXON:   I think “manage” is quite a vague word.  It can encompass, as I 25 

have said in my evidence, quite a range of more specific approaches to 

actions that the Council might want to take. 

 

MR DAYSH:  I think you gave an answer that you thought a word like manage 

might be appropriate in an overarching objective but when you get 30 

down to the doing parts of policies and rules you would not support its 

use. 

 

MS DIXON:  No, I think it is not really specific enough to give much 

guidance. 35 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you.  Dr Chiles has given us some quite strong technical 

evidence that he considers the engine testing effects are significant 

substantial – you have heard that evidence? 

 40 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Within the scope of the submissions in the round, do you think 

the Panel has the ability to look at that issue seriously and come up 

with objectives, policies and rules to deal with his concern? 45 
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MS DIXON:   Are you talking about the use of the metric Ldn? 

 

MR DAYSH:   The metric, or just District Plan methods in the round because 

we have an adverse effect which Dr Chiles has given evidence on, and 

we have heard that there may be some scope issues about submissions 5 

and what they have asked for but with that particular engine testing 

aspect, do you think we have particular constraints on the sorts of 

methods we might look at to deal with that issue in the District Plan? 

 

MS DIXON:   We probably do in terms of the fact that we need to focus on the 10 

adverse effects beyond the environs of the airport designation.   

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you for that.  Now one question, in your rebuttal 

evidence – have you read the evidence of Mr Marra?   

 15 

MS DIXON:   Quickly, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   In that evidence he attaches the draft Auckland Unitary Plan 

provisions, doesn’t he? 

 20 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Those were prepared in 2013? 

 

MS DIXON:   Potentially, yes – I am not sure of the date. 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   I think just for the record the version, attachment there; 

Mr Marra says they were prepared in March 2013. 

 

MS DIXON:   Right. 30 

 

MR DAYSH:   Have you had a good look at those provisions? 

 

MS DIXON:   I used to work for Manukau City Council so I was reasonably 

familiar with the situation of the airport, but that was in the days of 35 

obviously separate councils and when I looked at Mr Marra’s evidence 

I realised that what he was appending as an extract was very, very 

similar to what was in the previous Manukau District Plan.  So I have a 

reasonable idea of what was in that. 

 40 

  [12.25 pm] 

 

MR DAYSH:  So when you were advising the Council on the 

Replacement District Plan proposal, did you or anyone else actually 

look at those Auckland provisions for guidance or as an example of 45 

provisions that might be able to be used in Christchurch? 
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MS DIXON:   Yes, I have also looked at them in the past in the context of 

discussions over the Airport Noise Management Plan, plus other 

District Plans in New Zealand and their separate non-statutory noise 

management plans, such as Wellington’s. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   So my understanding is those provisions have not been decided 

upon yet, have they? 

 

MS DIXON:   No.  The Auckland ones, no. 10 

 

MR DAYSH:   Outside of the seven day rolling average provisions  which we 

have talked about before; is there anything in those provisions that you 

would recommend us to have a look at that you have not covered 

already in your evidence? 15 

 

MS DIXON:   I have noticed that the Auckland airport rules include an Lmax of 

75 at the residential boundary and we do not have that in our proposed 

engine testing rules.  In fact, the Airport at October last year through 

Marshall Day’s engine testing report was suggesting an 80 dB Lmax for 20 

Christchurch, and I could not quite understand why there was a 

difference there.   

 

 I do not know that it is 100 percent essential to have an Lmax but 

Dr Chiles is the person to make that comment, whether or not it is 25 

something desirable. 

 

 It could perhaps be added but I think that from my understanding of 

noise that the overall regime of averaging et cetera, ignoring the 

periods, probably does give some sort of limit on the absolute sort of 30 

total bucket of noise.  I guess bringing the averaging period back in as 

we have heard is potentially the case that that does influence whether or 

not the Ldn level is appropriate because, yes, I might be that an Lmax 

could supplement that. 

 35 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you for that answer.  Just one last question; the other 

provisions in the Auckland Plan around management plans, community 

liaison groups, those types of aspects, is there anything that you think, 

knowing those provisions well, you would be recommending to us for 

the Christchurch situation? 40 

 

MS DIXON:   I am not that the airports are completely able to be compared.  

Auckland obviously there is quite high noise environments across 

Papatoetoe as the main eastern approach to the airport.  That is across 

residential areas and I think also over parts of the Flat Bush area and 45 

East Tamaki. 
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 I do not think that we have quite that situation in Christchurch because 

generally speaking the main runway is approached over rural areas 

from the north east and the south west.  The only time that planes 

would come across the city are for the 10 percent or so of landings over 5 

the city in nor-west conditions on the cross runway so it is really not 

quite the same situation.   

 

 In terms of the community liaison committee, I have read Mr Boswell’s 

evidence that the airport has set up something named something like 10 

that.  I was not aware of that and nor were our environmental health 

officers.  It does not, from the appendix to his evidence appear to have 

a very wide representation of community representatives at this stage if 

that liaison group is still operating. 

 15 

MR DAYSH:   So just to focus my question, again is there anything in that - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, it might be helpful to, I think. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes.  Is there anything in his Auckland provisions that you 20 

would recommend to us that we should choose to be looking at in 

relation to how a District Plan might guide the management of noise 

effects? 

 

  [12.30 pm] 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, Mr Daysh, it is not before us. 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, it is not before us. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, and it is not in the witness’s evidence - - - 

 

MR DAYSH:   No. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and it is not referred to in the witness’s evidence. 35 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you.  No more questions, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 40 

MS HURIA:   Just one quick question please, Ms Dixon. 

 

 Are you able to explain how the Council manages the conflicts of 

interest which exist between preparing a document such as we have in 

front of us, and the ownership in the airport? 45 
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MS DIXON:   Since I have worked for the Council which, I think, I initially 

began to work for the Council in 1997, we have always used 

commissioners for anything relating to the airport, rather than 

councillors, and any resource management decision as at two arms 

lengths as it were, from ownership because it is quite separately 5 

conducted. 

 

 The two arms lengths I am talking about are that the Council has a 

couple of, I think, normally, councillors on the CCHL and then CCHL 

has I think, some representation on the Board of the airport, so it is kind 10 

of – it is quite distant anyway even apart from our policy of always 

being conscious of any potential perception of conflict of interest. 

 

MS HURIA:   Are there internal guidelines about how to manage that? 

 15 

MS DIXON:   Any? 

 

MS HURIA:   In the Council? 

 

MS DIXON:   Any perception of? 20 

 

MS HURIA:   Yes. 

 

MS DIXON:   No – there are internal guidelines about when it is appropriate to 

consider that the use of the designation, when that is appropriate, 25 

versus use of the zone, the Special Purpose Airport Zone. 

 

MS HURIA:   Okay, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Dixon, just a couple of questions. 

 

 Firstly, just on this policy 6.1.1.4, I think you said in answer to one of 

the questions that this policy used to be somewhere else, and the only 35 

reason it has got underlining is that it has been moved from somewhere 

– can you tell me where it was in its notified form? 

 

MS DIXON:   It isn’t – It was not in the notified that was in the operative City 

Plan and so - - - 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   The operative City Plan is not before us at the moment.  So  

was this policy anywhere else in the notified plan? 

 

MS DIXON:   No, I do not think it was. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   That is fine, that is the answer to my question. 

 

 Just talking about the appropriate word to use in the policy relating to 

the control of noise generated by aircraft movements; am I right that, if 

the aircraft movements were to exceed 65 dBA as monitored, and as 5 

calculated, what status would the activity – I mean if the airport wanted 

to generate more than 65 dBA of noise, what is the status of the 

application it would make? 

 

MS DIXON:   Well, in the first instance, that would depend on the exceedance 10 

provisions, but if they wanted to generate more than that or if their 

average 65 Ldn noise emissions were approaching or exceeding the 

modelled 65 in the City Plan, then that would generate a restricted 

discretionary activity status. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   So restricted discretionary? 

 

MS DIXON:   That is in one of the rules in the early part of Chapter 6.1.   

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, I mean we have sort of heard evidence that when 20 

something is to be avoided, one often ends up in a non-complying 

status, but where the status of the rule that allows it, would – If granted 

– allow an exceedance as a restricted discretionary. 

 

 I mean, have you turned your eye on to any sort of correlation between 25 

the consent process and the activity statuses, and the wording of this 

policy? 

 

  [12.35 pm] 

 30 

MS DIXON:   (INDISTINCT 0.09) not specifically tasked with that resultant 

status.  I think it could have been discretionary in the operative Plan if 

you exceeded- - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   We are not really here to look at the operative Plan. 35 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, so no I have not specifically thought about that, it was not 

me who wrote that part of Chapter 6.1. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, you have not looked at that correlation, that is fine.   40 

 

 And again, this is a have-you-turned-your-mind-to-it question on a 

different topic; so and I think Mr Daysh put to you that Dr Chiles has 

told us that the noise experience by residents from engine testing at 

night in his view is not acceptable. 45 
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 If we did not have to worry about scope in terms of measurement 

technique or metrics et cetera, have you turned your mind to the sort of 

rule that could – or sort of changes to the rules, that could be instituted 

into this Plan, to ensure that residents were not exposed to unreasonable 

levels of noise? 5 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I have.  There were a number of submissions that sought 

particular additions to the rules such as in no testing over – you know, 

after certain hours at night time, or no testing sort of perhaps between 

the hours of 11 and 7 or- - - 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   What I want to know is, have you turned your mind to 

anything that might be reasonable? 

 

MS DIXON:   I have, I could not come up with anything that would be 15 

practicable in terms of additional rules.  At one point I considered 

whether there should be a rule about limiting duration of noise to five 

minutes, which would reflect what I had understood was often the case 

in terms of the airport’s bylaw on duration of testing, but once I became 

aware that the duration of testing was often longer than five minute, I 20 

thought that was probably beyond my expertise to start trying to limit.   

 

 There might have been particular situations where, for whatever 

reasons, there needed to be noise of longer than five minutes at the 

best. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   So you have not been able to come up with anything that you 

thought was practicable to us that was practical? 

 

MS DIXON:   No, I think essentially it is more a case of what is the 30 

appropriate locations of the contours in terms of limiting that noise, 

should it be as has now been proposed or is there a way to shrink them 

even further. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So that is a form of rule, isn’t it? 35 

 

MS DIXON:   It is a form of rule, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Sort of pushing that contour away from the houses? All right, 

thank you, that is all. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  I will have the secretariat put up Regional 

Policy Statement 6.3.54 but I will come to that question in a minute, 

Ms Dixon. 

 45 
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 While that is coming up, I take it that part of the difficulty you have 

had, in terms of the answer you gave Ms Dawson about what might be 

practicable, is that you do not have access to information on that from 

the airport at this stage.  Is that right? 

 5 

MS DIXON:   In terms of? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What can practicably be achieved? 

 

MS DIXON:   Well- - - 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, is that – I just want to know, you said you had had 

difficulty finding what was practicable; I am asking you whether that 

was because you have a limit to understanding what can be achieved at 

the airport from the evidence that you have got in front of you? 15 

 

MS DIXON:   I think I did not have a particularly clear idea of the engine 

testing regime until reasonably recently in, for example, the evidence of 

I think it is Mr Morgan. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that information would be relevant for instance for 

determining what an environment and a reasonable standard might be 

in the receiving environment; knowing whether it is achievable or not? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And in the absence of having that information, would 

another approach be to put in the Plan a rider, to the effect that the 

restrictions that are imposed in the Plan, do not necessarily reflect the 

best practicable option, so that matter can be reserved for later testing, 30 

in Environment Court processes for instance? 

 

MS DIXON:   That could be the case. 

 

  [12.40 pm] 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I just want to go to the Regional Policy Statement, 

subclause 4, and this is what Ms Appleyard was referring to you, I 

think, in part – and again, this is subject to what Council might say 

about legal interpretation and, of course, we have given an 40 

interpretation of this provision already in our Residential decision. 

 

 But I just wonder if I could read it with you for the minute.  If you see 

that first introductory phrase: “only providing for new development it 

does not affect efficient operation use and development, appropriate 45 

upgrading and safety of existing strategic infrastructure”. 
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 Now first of all, we assume the airport’s strategic infrastructure as a 

matter of fact.  But if we assume that fact if the evidence in regard to 

what is proposed by the University and in regard to educational 

institutions is that we can be satisfied that the nature of those activities 5 

would not affect the operation and so forth of the airport. 

 

 Would you agree with me that if that is the case, then the following 

restrictions in subclause 4, may not apply? 

 10 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Subject, obviously, to the legal analysis that may be given 

on behalf of that by counsel? 

 15 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, just on that, any questions in terms of that, 

Mr Lawry?  Any questions arising from the Panel’s questions? 

 20 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR LAWRY [12.41 pm] 

 

MR LAWRY:   The only question that I would raise is; if that was the case 

then would not premise be exactly the same for any other individual 

who could establish that, in fact, there was no adverse effect on the 25 

airport, thereby enabling development? 

 

MS DIXON:   I am not sure that an individual could establish that there was no 

adverse effect of a proposal on the airport.  It might be a difficult 

question to establish. 30 

 

MR LAWRY:   Well, I will ask just one more question if possible; if you get 

expert evidence from the world’s leading expert that, in fact, under that 

contour there is no harm of any health issue and, in fact, there is not 

adverse effect in terms because the background ground noise is already 35 

in excess of that level, therefore, there is no impact and, therefore, that 

complaints are not driven by noise issues, then, in fact, there is no 

impact whatsoever and what is more, the big issue - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ask your question quickly. 40 

 

MR LAWRY:   - - - is not earthquake recovery more important in this? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, that is a matter for the Panel.  This witness is not the 

Panel. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Appleyard? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Laing, any questions arising or re-examination?  5 

Sorry, Mr Caldwell, my apologies. 

 

MR CALDWELL:   No, sir, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Laing. 10 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [12.42 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   There is just one thing by way of clarification.  In answer to a 

question about non-compliance with rule 6.1.4.2.6 and 7, I think you 15 

said that the status would be non-complying.   

 

MS DIXON:   No, I think I said it was restricted discretionary. 

 

MR LAING:   Sorry, restricted discretionary.  Would you have a look at 20 

page 13, please of the revised Proposal. 

 

MS DIXON:    I made a mistake – discretionary. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, thanks very much. 25 

 

MS DIXON:    Sorry about that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Laing. 

 30 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.43 pm] 
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<GERRIT FEKKE VENEMA, affirmed [12.44 pm] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Mr Venema, just so that I get pronunciation correct, 

could you go to the first paragraph of your evidence and record for the 

record your full name? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Gerrit Fekke Venema. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you and you are a resident and owner of 

37 Fairford Street, Bishopdale? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you have given some description of your history and 

experience in your introductory paragraphs.  Are there any corrections 

you wish to make to your written statement and/or to your rebuttal 

statement? 15 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, there are, Your Honour. 

 

 In my evidence at paragraph 4.1 there is a minor error there in that I 

have quoted A11 runway, nor’west end, when it should be just 20 

runway 11. 

 

  [12.45 pm] 

 

 And in 5.2 I have quoted a northeast direction.  It was supposed to be 25 

more of a broader sense northerly. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So the second reference is to the third last line that says 

“northeast” is that right? 

 30 

MR VENEMA:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you just want “northerly wind” instead of that? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, it was supposed to be in more broad terms. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, anything else? 

 

MR VENEMA:   No. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So there you are referring to two statements, your 

statement of 16 February and your rebuttal statement of 

25 February 2016; do you confirm that your statements are true and 

correct? 

 45 

MR VENEMA:   Yes. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, now you have the opportunity to speak to 

the highlights of your statement for 10 minutes.  You do not need to 

take up that whole time if you do not need that time. 

 5 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you. 

 

 This is my first Council Planning Hearing and it is quite a new journey 

for a layperson submitter.   

 10 

 It started with a letter from the City Council that did not really seem to 

mean much.  Some further careful investigating led to the discovery of 

a bunch of new airport engine testing contour lines, one of which 

engulfed my property way down near the Bishopdale Mall. 

 15 

 Publishing and presentation for the engine testing contour lines – from 

a citizen’s point of view – was appalling.  It took hunt and seek to find 

the engine testing contours on maps and the maps were fragmented; not 

at all what I would call transparent. 

 20 

 This actually put me on high alert; why is this so hidden, as it were, 

from the public eye?  So, I phoned Glenda Dixon at the Council and 

got a much clearer picture on exactly what was happening. 

 

 Air New Zealand had moved the majority of high power on wing 25 

engine testing at least 1.8 kilometres closer to town via their landlord, 

the CIAL, the Christchurch International Airport Limited and are trying 

to validate them to avoid getting complaints about noise notably at 

night when most of us are trying to sleep, and as it seems according to 

Section 32 report, avoid the cost of mitigation at source. 30 

 

 I was not alone in this mystery, as part of a small volunteer submitter 

group has proved by flier circulation that most of 

Bishopdale/Harewood public had no idea of the proposed engine 

testing contour lines in their detail even though they had received a 35 

similar letter.   

 

 I say “most”, that is, we do have Mr Viv de Beus from 

Air New Zealand Engineering as the manager living near 

Nunweek Park inside the originally proposed 55 dB engine testing 40 

contour who actually, during a casual interview, was heard to be saying 

when talking engine testing at night, “There will be more of it so get 

used to it.” – that is Viv de Beus. 

 

 And then there is the CIAL’s own CEO living in a similar area who 45 

does not seem to have submitted probably for associate reasons and so 
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that is the area of the proposed Christchurch Replacement District Plan 

that my evidence, rebuttal and submission is focused on. 

 

 I have noted the clarity of a typo concerning the A11, that is number 11 

runway, and on this journey I have to say that I have found a lot of the 5 

terminology and referencing used by the CIAL and their 

representatives open to confusion, complex and peppered with 

alternative options normally for them. 

 

 The current practice of engine testing is primarily now carried out 10 

adjacent to the A11 taxiway, better described as adjacent to the 

number 1 Air New Zealand hangar two kilometres away and much 

closer to Bishopdale. 

 

 Confusion here, of course, could lead to exact opposites of argument; 15 

both have 11s.  It appears that the disputed site may be referenced to in 

a number of other ways as the concrete run-up pad at the eastern side of 

the airport, or the Orchard Road run-up pad or the A320 run-up pad.  I 

prefer the more descriptive of both user and position, the run-up pad 

adjacent to number 1 Air New Zealand hangar.   20 

 

 So, that leads into the crux of my submission and the reason for it; why 

should I, after 22 years of living at 37 Fairford Street, specifically 

purchased to be not too close to the airport where I worked for 

19 years, have an engine testing contour line over my place? 25 

 

  [12.50 pm] 

 

 Does this mean that the engine testing noise at the Christchurch 

International Airport is going to increase?  It is already annoying some 30 

nights between 2.00 and 3.00 am, does this mean I won’t be able to do 

a thing about it?   

 

 As the proposed plan progressed in various versions and with a 

multitude of wordy submissions from the airport crew expose the ever 35 

increasing likelihood that the CIAL would even seek restrictions on any 

new noise sensitive activities on my property. 

 

 As the journey progressed I was startled to discover that the CIAL is 

for the greater part of its profitable business actually managing real 40 

estate not, as we all assumed, aircraft operations. 

 

 Then I was also brought to the realisation that this very noisy activity 

that Air New Zealand Limited carries out in the middle of the night, 

which more people of Christchurch have had to put up with for at least 45 

eight years or so, is just industrial noise pollution.  And it doesn’t seem 
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– along with its landlord CIAL – to care about the residents of 

Christchurch in that the convenience and economics of their cosy No 1 

hangar was way more important to them. 

 

 I was encouraged by other submitters along the way that there are laws 5 

against pollution or as such the control of it; I am not a lawyer or an 

expert in rules and regulations and so I have relied on others to 

read/write to the RMA.   

 

 However what I can say is that it would certainly not be acceptable for 10 

my neighbour at 39 Fairford Street to get his car out at 2.00 am at night 

after some late night repairs, start revving it to full power on some sort 

of test with no sound mitigation for an hour so that he could use it the 

next day for a most necessary and routine scheduled trip to work.  I 

couldn’t see the Council noise control agency accepting this scenario 15 

either.  It would get dealt with. 

 

 However, I sometimes wake up when he backs out in the morning at 

6.00 am and especially on a frosty winter’s morning defrosting his 

windscreen but that is just the operations of life and so we, who live 20 

near the airport, are accustomed to the current level of operational noise 

from the International Airport. 

 

 But how can CIAL and Air New Zealand justify plonking themselves 

right next to the sleeping city and rev their engines whenever they like 25 

– we are told the function of engine testing is totally necessary and 

unavoidable with much focus given to safety and their survival, and we 

can accept that in essence.   

 

 But then we are told it must continue to happen right next door with 30 

some mumbling about mitigation at source but with no commitment 

happening any time soon.  Then before we get to the plethora of tables 

of word changes, further submissions, amended submissions and “must 

have the wording the way we wants” we are forced to endure the 

lengthy tributes to how important and glorious they all are to 35 

Christchurch, Canterbury and practically everybody else in the island, 

usually repeated verbatim by everyone of their vast flock of 

representatives. 

 

 Sadly some of their well-earned profits will not be going back to their 40 

owners, the Council and the government, they will be paying for their 

sumptuous representation and ring-ins at this hearing.  Besides if they 

are so important economically one is left wondering why they are not 

more expected to do things with more importance and spend some of 

their profits on upgrading the airport.  Oops, sorry, they have and 45 

doesn’t the new terminal look nice, honestly.  Where did the world 
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class ground run-up enclosure fit for the resident king of maintenance 

get to?  Some extra neon lights would look good too.   

 

 Nevertheless I have sought to expose the ill-founded position of the 

current practice of on wing engine testing adjacent to Air New Zealand 5 

No 1 hangar relevant to the plan, in that it drives and is the main reason 

for the civil intrusion of the various proposed new contours and rules.  I 

believe I have set forth some compelling reasons why engine testing in 

its current unmitigated at source status is inappropriate and not 

acceptable for developing a new Christchurch plan for a better 10 

Christchurch. 

 

 For these reasons, and many other reasons put forth by other like-

minded submitters and expert witnesses, I submit that the Panel reject 

the engine testing contour lines currently proposed. 15 

 

 Direct that the Christchurch Airport Company and tenants of 

Christchurch Airport be required to contain all airport noise including 

engine testing within their existing air noise boundaries.   

 20 

  [12.55 pm] 

 

 Direct that a District Plan rules and procedures rewrite for specifically 

controlling engine testing noise at Christchurch International Airport is 

drafted.   25 

 

 Direct that the core focus of this draft is to be mitigation of noise at 

source and contains a maximum allowable local noise ordinance; refer 

to the acoustic’s expert Dr JP Clarke’s evidence.   

 30 

 That a specific timeframe is allocated for the completion of this rewrite 

and final approval and that there be no new noise sensitive activities 

exclusion rules placed on my property. 

 

 Let’s be clear, I have never submitted that I am opposed to activity at 35 

the Christchurch International Airport.  Airports strategically placed are 

important to our present day economy and freedom of air travel.  

However trying to justify unnotified, unreasonable and evolving 

practices, as is the case in this proposed plan before us today, is not 

acceptable.   40 

 

 That is my brief.  I would like to just ask for leave for a short period of 

time to make a short public tribute. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Who to? 45 
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MR VENEMA:   Richard Ball, in his capacity as Friend of Submitter, in my 

experience has often exceeded expectations and gone the extra mile.  

He is always patient, attentive and very level headed giving submitters 

clear direction on matters of hearing procedures and at a very practical 

level.  As a layperson submitter to me Richard’s input has been 5 

invaluable.  This has also been the resounding view of all the other 

layperson submitters I have associated with, thank you, Richard. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will take the lunch break now and resume at 1.30. 

 10 

ADJOURNED [12.57 pm] 

 

RESUMED [1.35 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Appleyard, I think you were first. 15 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [1.35 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Good afternoon, Mr Venema. 

 20 

MR VENEMA:   Good afternoon.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:   In paragraph 1.5 of your evidence, you talk about the time 

that you were employed by Air New Zealand for 19 years; can you just 

confirm what years to what years those 19 years related to? 25 

 

MR VENEMA:   1993 to 2012. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  So during that time when you were 

employed was the period of time, roundabout 2004, when the A320 30 

run-up pad was constructed? 

 

MR VENEMA:   I was under the understanding it was a little later than that, 

but yes. 

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, but it was during the period of time of your 

employment? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes. 

 40 

MS APPLEYARD:   And you have lived at your property during the time of 

your employment? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes. 

 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   So if we take it that the A320 run-up pad was 2004 or 

thereabouts, between then and 2012 when you left, engine testing was 

being undertaken at that location? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes. 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And CIAL have been unable to find a record of any 

complaint from you about engine testing noise during that time; did 

you make any complaint about engine testing noise? 

 10 

MR VENEMA:   No. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Your evidence, and I might be reading too much in this, 

has a tone of dissatisfaction with your former employer.  What were the 

circumstances in which you left? 15 

 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you for asking that.  It is a personal question, but for 

the sake of discounting any dissatisfaction with Air New Zealand as a 

very good employer, I left for personal reasons.  My dad suffered 

Alzheimer’s and that had started to escalate in 2010 and required me to 20 

start attending more and more to financial and his healthcare as such, 

and that became more than what my employment could sustain, and so 

those were the reasons for leaving Air New Zealand.  He passed away 

in 2013. 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   So am I wrong at reading any discontent with your former 

employer through the tone of your evidence? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, you are wrong.  What I perhaps am attempting to point 

out, is that although they paint a picture of being very perfect, they are 30 

only human just as we are and there are some times when they could 

benefit from better guidance. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And you would say that guidance includes you? 

 35 

MR VENEMA:   As an employee – licensed employee, professional in aircraft 

engineering, yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you. 

 40 

 If we could have up the appendix B to Dr Chiles.  I am just going to ask 

Mr Venema to just show us where his property is, and I am just 

wondering whether there might be a hard copy – with all these 

submitters, I am just going to ask them to locate where they are.  I am 

just wondering for the Panel, which is the most efficient way of doing 45 

that. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And you want it as a matter of record for (INDISTINCT 

3.30). 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, I am happy if there is one – if we could have one 5 

copy and maybe we could ask all the submitters just to indicate where 

there properties are, rather than having a succession of them, is that a 

more efficient way of doing it? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is fine, if there could be just one copy run off for the 10 

witness box. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Perhaps do you want me to take the one off the back of 

mine just for the moment? 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, if it is clean of any marks, that would be okay, and 

what we will do Mr Venema is to make sure we remember who marked 

where so if you are asked by Ms Appleyard where your property was, I 

will get you to mark it with “V” for your surname so we can record 

that, a reference to the transcript as well. 20 

 

 And once the question is put, I might ask for that piece of paper to 

come to me first and then back to Ms Appleyard to - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And maybe if it could go to – we could maybe get it up 25 

on the cursor once we have got it marked on the map for the benefit of 

others in the room. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Your Honour, - - - 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR VENEMA:   - - -I am sorry, this map is so small there is no way that I will 

be able to accurately place my property. 

 35 

  [1.40 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, let’s just see first of all, whether the map – just hold 

onto that please – what we might be able to do to start with his blow 

this one up on the screen to a certain size which might help that, we 40 

will see where that goes for a start. 

 

 So, Ms Appleyard, did you have a question? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, I am just wanting in relation to these constrained 45 

contours for Mr Venema to indicate where his property is. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, does that help to see it at that scale, Mr Venema? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Um - - - 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, perhaps the Secretariat could indicate Bishopdale 

more or less. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Fairford Street, perhaps, it is 37 Fairford Street so a little bit 

further north. 10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Is it in the 50, or not in the 50? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, it is in the 50.  Yes, about there. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, now - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Can I just be clear about the question, I am asking the 

question in relation to the constrained contours, we have got both up 

there, I know this is difficult, but if you mark it I can get Mr Day to 20 

confirm whether that is in or out. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, so where cursor is - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So where the cursor is there.  Now, looking at that, are 25 

you able to translate that onto that piece of paper and see where it is?   

 

 Just take your time. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Could you just move it down so we can see the legend we 30 

have got notified, so we can see the - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, I will just have a bit of a look at that, keep the hand 

where it is though if you wouldn’t mind, just have a look at that please.   

 35 

 Yes, thanks, Mr Venema, now show that to Ms Appleyard and to 

Mr Laing on the way past, thank you. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Now, in paragraph 3.2 of your executive summary you 

talk being “sceptical and wary of the lack of transparent responsibility 40 

taken by those who are paid to draft Plans with a balanced approach, 

reduce complexity and free from conflicts of interest”, who are you 

referring to there? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Relatively the City Council. 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   The City Council officers? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Just in the general presentation to a layperson as far as, as I 

mentioned at the beginning, even the letters indicating the engine 

testing contours.  The interaction of questions to the main source, that 5 

is the company you represent yourself, and - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well, I am not paid to draft the Plan so just your 

reference - - - 

 10 

MR VENEMA:   No, I am just saying - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   - - - paid to draft plans; who are you referring to there? 

 

MR VENEMA:   There is obviously an interaction – yes, in short I have said 15 

the Council, the City Council. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, now the next sentence the one that starts “I also 

note…” – I take it that is probably a reference to me but the one about 

“The experts representing CIAL’s case on noise management to be 20 

vague and lacking even practical understanding”; who are you referring 

to there? 

 

MR VENEMA:   That is Marshall Day. 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  And you would be referring there to your 

dealings with them at the mediation, is that the only time you have 

dealt with Marshall Day? 

 

MR VENEMA:   No, you submitted a report that they had done in support of 30 

the originally notified contour lines. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, so your comment about “vague and lacking in even 

practical understanding” refers to the Marshall Day report, does it? 

 35 

MR VENEMA:   As well as. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.   

 

MR VENEMA:   There were items at the mediation that seemed to lack 40 

understanding as well. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, understanding of what? 

 

MR VENEMA:   In practical terms, of the benefits of certain articles tabled at 45 

the mediation. 
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MS APPLEYARD:   What do you mean, the benefits of what - - - 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay, the hay bales.  Okay, let’s go for the containers and 

hay bales at Nelson Airport. 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Created half a dB.  From what I understand from Dr Chiles 

and - - - 10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Can you stop there, I am just wanting to understand when 

you were talking about “practical understanding” you are talking about 

mitigation options, is that what you are talking about? 

 15 

MR VENEMA:   No, I am talking about the figure half a dB isn’t even 

measurable so how can that be quoted? It didn’t seem to make sense 

practically, sorry. 

 

  [1.45 pm] 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay.  You talk in that paragraph also that from your own 

experience at Air New Zealand the best practice is not always adopted; 

so are there other examples of Air New Zealand not adopting best 

practice? 25 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, there has been in my history, yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And what - - - 

 30 

MR VENEMA:   No particular company is perfect and, yes, perhaps in 

surrounding the topic at hand and it is to do with noise and creating a 

District Plan, the engine testing pad itself had some issues surrounding 

it that were ongoing.  One of them was the jet blast, the walkway that 

often is used for transiting, that sort of thing. 35 

 

 There were various OSH issues in the office that didn’t always take 

best practice on until we highlighted these repeatedly.  There is a 

circumstance too concerning the Civil Aviation Authority where they, 

and you can trace this back in their records, is when they were accused 40 

of “window dressing” after the third time of a compliance issue they 

still hadn’t done anything. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And were you - - - 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Appleyard, you are on your 10 minutes now. 
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MS APPLEYARD:   And the “avian collusion” you refer to there, who are you 

referring to? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Sorry, as a layperson, a submitter, that was a generalisation 5 

of those involved with the airport so I suppose your consultancy from 

the Marshall Day end of things, Air New Zealand themselves, yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   At 3.4 you refer to “engine testing contours as currently 

proposed should not be approved”, are you referring to the constrained 10 

contours there? 

 

MR VENEMA:   In essence, yes, but as the process of time has gone on and 

like that map, which would be probably worth keeping up if we could, 

it is still really a little bit unclear, there is some very vague faint dotted 15 

lines referencing the constrained contours now.  I would have to submit 

that as a layperson resident I wouldn’t find that acceptable as 

presentation. 

 

 So from a holistic point of view I am trying to embrace where they 20 

were, where they are at and what we might be ending up with. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, but when you talk about the “engine testing 

contours should not be approved”, you understand that there are 

constrained ones and you still have a problem with those? 25 

 

MR VENEMA:   In their clarity, yes, and I would still have a problem that you 

would need to have a separate contour and I would leave that up to the 

experts to decide how you would, having given in my summary that it 

should be reviewed and that there should be mitigation at source first.  30 

So it would be immaterial discussing contours until you work on the 

mitigation at source first. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, is your evidence - - - 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Appleyard, you haven’t asked for leave. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Sorry, well, I will stop then, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, it is just a question of - - - 40 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, I am happy, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Right, so Mr Gardner-Hopkins? 

 45 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR GARDNER-HOPKINS [1.48 pm] 
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MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes, thank you, sir.  Look, just whilst we are on 

the constrained contours, Mr Venema; do you understand that the 

constrained contours that are currently proposed to go into the Plan do 

largely fall within the existing operational noise contours? 5 

 

MR VENEMA:   That has been presented, yes.  As I have tried to explain here 

at the Panel, looking at that map it is not particularly clear. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And I think I picked up from your highlights 10 

package a wish in terms of relief that the airport operate its engine 

testing so that it falls within the operational contours? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, that is correct. 

 15 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And so if that is in fact the case would that go 

some way to satisfying your concerns? 

 

MR VENEMA:   My concerns have developed into a more civic responsibility 

and that there are people affected by the actual noise, for me it is 20 

annoying, as already has been asked I haven’t made a complaint, and 

there are people a lot closer.  And so some of the evidence I have 

supplied and provide is for their benefit too as being expressed by the 

evidence that we are a submitter group. 

 25 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes, but in terms of your view if those contours 

are adopted and they will operate as a constraint, do you accept that 

will go some way to addressing your concerns? 

 

MR VENEMA:   It is one of my items that I have listed as advice to requests 30 

from the Panel as a directive, yes. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And I would just like to understand another 

aspect of the relief that I think you are seeking, because you have 

mentioned in your evidence and in your highlights package a couple of 35 

times wanting a review of the rules.  Are you envisaging a separate 

process after this hearing for that? 

 

  [1.50 pm] 

 40 

MR VENEMA:   I think we have started off on the wrong foot, as Dr Chiles 

may have indicated, in that we have already gone to a contour model on 

seven day, the night day metric, and we have not gone for an engine 

testing enclosure, so it really started off on the wrong foot I believe. 

 45 
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 And so yes, there definitely needs I feel the scope for a better approach 

on this one. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   I would just like to take your appendix C in your 

evidence-in-chief, and I wonder if we can put that up on the screen.  5 

Attachment C. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, it is a satellite map with the – there it is. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes, so just I am keen to confirm with you are a 10 

couple of things that can be seen on that image.  The first relates to the 

red square, and you have got a notation there, the ground run up pad 

with an artist’s impression of an A320 jet blast, and then some orange 

lines extending downwards. 

 15 

 Can you just confirm, the artist’s impression, is that your impression? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And a little earlier, just before lunch, I gave you 20 

an updated plan from Google.  Now, I think through the Secretariat I 

think the Panel may have that?   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.   

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Now, did you have a chance over the break to 

have a look at that Google map? 

 30 

MR VENEMA:   Not really. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Okay.  Does it look familiar to you though? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, yes. 35 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And do you understand and do you see on the 

bottom left hand corner it records imagery date 6/15/2015? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes. 40 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And would you accept that if you take that date 

at face value, this would be a more recent image than that captured in 

your appendix C? 

 45 
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MR VENEMA:   Yes it is.  I did attempt for a more recent image a week ago 

and that was not available.   

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And are you able to identify any material 

differences, including any new buildings, that may appear on this more 5 

recent image? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Can you point those out just to assist the Panel? 10 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, how will I be doing that? 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Perhaps explain where those new buildings 

might be located by reference to your appendix C. 15 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay, they will be in the jet blast area. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Right.  Have you had the opportunity to review 

the evidence in reply of Eric Morgan? 20 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will call that Exhibit 4. 

 25 

EXHIBIT #4 – CHRISTCHURCH AIRPORT GOOGLE MAP 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Thank you.  And did you take the opportunity to 

look at the appendices to Mr Morgan’s evidence in reply? 

 30 

MR VENEMA:   In brief. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   In brief.  So would you accept that appendix 4 is 

the operating procedures for engine testing? 

 35 

MR VENEMA:   I could not say. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Do you recall seeing the operational procedures 

attached to MR Morgan’s evidence? 

 40 

MR VENEMA:   No.   

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Would you accept that as part of those operating 

procedures there is a clear statement that says “the aircraft shall not be 

turned in such a way that the running engines shall cause injury or 45 

damage to property from expelled FOD or by the jet blast”?  
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MR VENEMA:   If that is what you read out that is correct, but that is not my 

experience of having been in, as per this map the Air New Zealand 

technical and planning offices at that time, in No. 3 Hangar with the 

yellow square.   5 

 

  [1.55 pm] 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Would you accept if Air New Zealand was 

complying with its operating procedures then it would not orient its 10 

engine testing in a way that would result in those jet blast lines that you 

have identified in your appendix C? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Could I just get that part on the evidence please?  It is 

appendix C is it? 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is it appendix C to Morgan? 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   It is appendix 4 for Mr Morgan. 

 20 

MR VENEMA:   A page number would be helpful. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   It is in his appendices, I do not know if they are 

sequentially numbered. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am sure the Secretariat can help with that. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes, it is appendix 4 to Mr Morgan’s evidence 

in reply - - - 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If it says what it says Mr Gardner-Hopkins, is it a matter 

of submission in that this witness has an experience, in his own 

experience of certain things, and the next question you are asking is 

about procedures, which we can read ourselves I suppose. 

 35 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, I could not say on Air New Zealand’s behalf, sorry. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   I am happy to take that up to submissions. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Just one final issue.  In your evidence in reply 

you make some observations about home base for aircraft – I think it is 45 

paragraph 3.1 of your evidence in reply.   
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MR VENEMA:   Is that rebuttal or evidence? 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Sorry, yes, evidence in rebuttal. 

 5 

MR VENEMA:   Okay – and 3 point? 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   3.1. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Right – and the question is? 10 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And so you accept there that on-wing testing is 

mostly carried out at the home base airport?  That is what you have 

acknowledged in your evidence. 

 15 

MR VENEMA:   Yes. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Do you accept for the ATRs that operate out of 

Christchurch, that Christchurch is home base for those ATR aircraft? 

 20 

MR VENEMA:   That was my current understanding when I was at Air New 

Zealand.  I could not tell you at this stage.  There were discussions of 

moving them to Nelson, when I was employed at Air New Zealand. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Thank you, no further questions. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Gardner-Hopkins.  Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   No questions sir. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just one question, Mr Venema. 

 

 You have shown us where you live and I just want to hear from you 

what your weekly/daily/monthly/yearly sort of experience is of noise 40 

from engine testing during the night. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Interestingly previous to this proposed Christchurch District 

Plan in this Hearing – which often meant very late nights typing away 

on the computer at 2.00 am the experiences of noise would have been 45 
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in the north west – most nights, if there is a nor’west you will get to 

hear the engine noise.   

 

 In the recent months it has been at least three times a week because of 

the late night work that I have been doing.  And again, we have had a 5 

number of nor’westers.   

 

MS DAWSON:   So you have been able to hear it? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, absolutely. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Three times, say approximately three times a week? 

 

MR VENEMA:   A week, yes. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   And that is when you have been awake, up and doing things? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Or in the process of getting to sleep. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So, is it ever such that you are awoken from your sleep? 20 

 

MR VENEMA:   Not that I have recalled, other than in the process of trying to 

get to sleep, being disturbed.  But yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you, that is helpful.  Thank you very much. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think those matters have covered what I had a question 

for you on as well, so thank you.  And I will just check if there are 

questions from counsel arising from that. 

 30 

 Ms Appleyard? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Gardner-Hopkins? 35 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   No sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks very much for your careful attention to these 

matters in your evidence and your clear answers.  Thank you. 40 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.00 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We have now got the Air New Zealand opening, I think. 

 45 
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MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Sir, if I may speak briefly about the opening 

submissions that I have filed, I certainly do not intend to read them out. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, that is fine. 

 5 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   So, really, sir, just emphasising a few key points 

really at my 1.2, Air New Zealand’s case is that off-wing engine testing 

is necessary and unavoidable as a component of aircraft operations and 

it would probably go so far as to say it is an essential component of 

operating at Christchurch.  It is integral to its activities and the Plan 10 

needs to provide for those activities to occur. 

 

 Its view is that the constrained contours are an improvement on the 

status quo and so there will be an improvement from what residents are 

experienced at the moment and those contours will operate as a 15 

constraint into the future and so it does mean in terms of the potential 

for additional growth, Air New Zealand, and the other operators with 

the airport, will need to look at various additional mitigation options. 

 

 Now, they say in time that may include a ground running enclosure but 20 

the case for Air New Zealand is that a ground running enclosure is not 

necessary now and that by operating within the constrained contours 

that is a reasonable level of noise and they also say it does achieve a 

balance and a synergy with the existing operational noise contours 

because the engine testing contours fall almost entirely within it and so 25 

there is no additional planning constraint imposed on residents.   

 

 The case for Air New Zealand is also that the Ldn seven day averaging 

approach is appropriate for engine testing and if the standard industrial 

noise approach is taken with a 45 LAeq, for example, which is what the 30 

relevant standard applies, Air New Zealand is clear that that will 

effectively prohibit night time engine testing.  That would be a 

significant constraint on its operations and it would have substantial 

flow on effects in terms of scheduling and the levels of service it could 

provide to Christchurch.   35 

 

  [2.05 pm] 

 

 Mr Morgan explains in his evidence, and he has a highlights package, 

many of the matters that I record my section 2 of the submissions.  I do 40 

not intend to take you through those now.   

 

 What I wanted to emphasise in terms of the statutory requirements, 

really the requirement to consider what is most appropriate in these 

circumstances, and it does appear as if the Panel has a number of 45 

choices or a number of outcomes that submitters are asking for.   
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 We have the Ldn seven day approach advocated by the airport.  It 

appears we have a somewhat vague proposition that an Leq standard 

would be more appropriate but we actually have no substance around 

that and so in my submission, without more substance to it, that is 5 

actually not a realistic alternative for the Panel to consider, at least not 

without significant more work.   

 

 Also in terms of what is most appropriate, in my submission the wider 

environment – and what I mean by that, is the additional or the other 10 

noise sources that exist, the operational aircraft noise, the long history 

of operations at the airport, the State highway and those particular 

matters that I say informs what is reasonable and what is most 

appropriate in these circumstances.   

 15 

 Just touching on section 16; my submission is that that does not need to 

be a primary consideration for this Panel.  It is not irrelevant, but 

section 16 itself does not constrain what can be adopted in a Plan 

through the Section 32 and other evaluation processes. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So it is relevant to our findings on what is most 

appropriate then, is it not? 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   The direction is relevant for your consideration 

and the question of what is the best practicable option can inform your 25 

Section 32 evaluation, and your decision on what is most appropriate.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So do you agree with me that if, for instance, we cannot 

make a determination on the evidence, that the proposed noise contours 

are informed by an application of the BPO test by the airport and 30 

Air New Zealand, then that is relevant for us to report, is it not, in terms 

of our decision but we cannot reach that finding in terms of 

determining what is the most appropriate? 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes, I want to come back to you on what might 35 

be appropriate to record in the Plan.  I think, Your Honour, you 

mentioned possibly a note.  Certainly it is something that you can and 

should consider as part of your decision and it could be recorded in any 

decision. 

 40 

 But my primary submission is that you do have sufficient evidence in 

front of you including Mr Morgan and including Mr Day, that should 

give you the comfort that what is proposed does represent the best 

practicable option. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, if I could just signal to you now that in terms of the 

Panel’s advanced reading of the evidence before us we would hope that 

the relevant experts, including Mr Morgan and others, can assist the 

Panel further in understanding that. 

 5 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:    Yes, thank you, sir.  So, those are the opening 

comments I wished to make and unless there is anything else I can 

assist with I propose to call Mr Morgan now. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will just ask if there are any questions from Panel 10 

members.  Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 15 

 

MS HURIA:   Yes, if I may, Mr Gardner-Hopkins, in your introduction 

overview 1.2 (d)(ii) you make the comment about mitigating the noise 

effects on nearby residents.  I am a bit unclear what you mean by that? 

 20 

  [2.10 pm] 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Right, so that is a reference to some of the 

procedures that Air New Zealand is able to put in place now in terms of 

some rescheduling, that will enable it to reduce some of the effects and 25 

therefore mitigate effects on neighbours in the short term.   

 

MS HURIA:   In the short term? 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Well, they are able to be undertaken quickly. 30 

 

MS HURIA:   Quickly, thank you, okay.  Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 35 

MS DAWSON:  You say that in the Airport’s view the Ldn seven day approach 

is appropriate for engine testing; so whose evidence do you rely on for 

that? 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Mr Day. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Mr Day? 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes. 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Sorry, that is all. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And just along similar lines, Mr Gardner-Hopkins, you 

did not cross-examine Dr Chiles; what do we take from that in terms of 

Air New Zealand’s case? 

 5 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes, so I left that to my friend, Ms Appleyard. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you adopt Ms Appleyard’s position on anything that 

you have not cross-examined? 

 10 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   We have tried to co-ordinate our case to avoid 

repetition. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right.  No, thank you.  All right, if you could call 

Mr Morgan, thanks. 15 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Thank you. 

 



 Page 261 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

<ERIC MORGAN, affirmed [2.11 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR GARDNER-HOPKINS [2.12 pm] 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Thank you.  Mr Morgan, can you confirm that 

your full name is Eric Llewellyn Morgan? 

 5 

MR MORGAN:   That is correct. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And you have prepared two briefs of evidence in 

these proceedings, one dated 17 February and the other dated 

25 February? 10 

 

MR MORGAN:   That is correct. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Are there any corrections that you wish to make 

to your evidence? 15 

 

MR MORGAN:   I do wish to make one correction to my rebuttal evidence.  At 

2.6(e) in the fifth line down I have used the word “taxiway” and the 

word should be “runway”. 

 20 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Is that the only correction you have to make? 

 

MR MORGAN:   That is the only correction I have. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:  Can you confirm that you have the qualifications 25 

and experience set out in your evidence? 

 

MR MORGAN:   I do. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And with that correction made that it is true and 30 

correct to the best of your knowledge and belief? 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes that is correct. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Can you please take the Panel through your 35 

highlight package? 

 

MR MORGAN:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, your honour and 

commissioners.  I am an independent consultant and a director of Elm 

Associates, which is an aviation consultancy.  Prior to forming that I 40 

was an employee of Air New Zealand for 39 years, and I am here today 

on their behalf. 

 

 In this overview statement I will focus on the key issues as I understand 

them to assist the Panel.  I touch first on the size of Air New Zealand’s 45 

business.  Air New Zealand operates approximately 1,050 flight 
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movements per week which rounds up to around 54,500 per annum.  

Air New Zealand employs 1,700 employees in the Canterbury region of 

which 700 are maintenance staff employed at Christchurch airport.  Air 

New Zealand’s maintenance activity at Christchurch supports the Air 

New Zealand fleet, the US Antarctic programme as well as servicing 5 

other airlines at Christchurch. 

 

 Air New Zealand also has a minority shareholding in the Christchurch 

Engine Centre which undertakes off-wing engine maintenance and I 

will just talk through the difference between off-wing and on-wing 10 

maintenance next.  Aircraft must be maintained according to the 

manufacturer’s and civil aviation requirements.  For example, some 

requirements must be undertaken at regular intervals such as every 400 

flight hours or perhaps related to the number of landing cycles that an 

aircraft has made.   15 

 

  [2.15 pm] 

 

 This type of maintenance is planned and scheduled to be completed 

during prolonged aircraft layovers between flights.  Additional 20 

maintenance may also be required where there is component failure or 

damage in service.  Engine testing related to in-service aircraft 

maintenance is undertaken with the aircraft engine on the wing – or on-

wing as we call it.   

 25 

 The windows of opportunity for maintenance for Air New Zealand’s 

in-service aircraft at Christchurch are predominantly during night-time.  

This maintenance is typically called line-maintenance and has the 

objective of keeping the aircraft in service with essential and regular 

checks.   30 

 

 The other type of maintenance undertaken by Air New Zealand at 

Christchurch is typically called heavy maintenance and involves 

removing aircraft from the flight line for a period of time ranging from 

several consecutive days to weeks and sometimes months depending on 35 

the level of maintenance required. 

 

 Heavy maintenance may involve the removal of an engine or engines 

for major overhaul.  In this event the engine will be overhauled off-

wing by a specialist overhaul agency such as the Christchurch Engine 40 

Centre.  This will usually be followed by testing the engine on a 

specially designed test cell before being refitted to the aircraft and there 

may be subsequent systems checks requiring engine running once the 

engine is back on the wing. 

 45 
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 Contrary to a perception, aircraft engines are only run or tested where 

necessary and as dictated by procedure.  It is essential to ensure safe 

operations.   

 

 In respect of safety of maintenance practices, Mr Venema and 5 

Mr Lawry have raised concerns that some of Air New Zealand’s 

practices may be unsafe.  From my experience, observations and 

understanding, that is not the case and I categorically reject the 

criticism. 

 10 

 Is there are need to test aircraft engines at Christchurch?  Air New 

Zealand has maintained aircraft at Christchurch since 1962.  Over the 

intervening period, engine testing has been an integral and essential 

part of Air New Zealand and Christchurch Airport’s activity.  It is 

necessary for Air New Zealand to undertake maintenance at 15 

Christchurch so that it can efficiently service the Christchurch market 

and deliver the best aircraft utilisation.  In doing so Air New Zealand 

contributes significantly to the region’s economy. 

 

 Mr Venema suggests that on-wing maintenance is unnecessary at 20 

Christchurch because it can be carried out at the home base airport.  In 

terms of effective fleet utilisation, maintenance is carried out at the 

most efficient location and as Mr Venema noted, Christchurch is the 

home base for Mt Cook’s AGRs. 

 25 

 With respect to the proposed contours, Air New Zealand supports the 

revised engine testing contours proposed by CIAL, even though with 

one exception I have not been able to find engine testing contours 

applied anywhere else in New Zealand or overseas. 

 30 

 So in that context Christchurch will be unique with its specific engine 

testing contours.  In other words, there will be a more specific and 

greater constraint on engine testing that does not feature elsewhere.  

The revised or constraint contours are not based on a worst case 

scenario as the notified ones were.  While a worst case scenario would 35 

give greater flexibility, I am comfortable that an above average week 

scenario is workable in practice and will appropriately mitigate noise 

effects.  It will require some operational changes and there will be a 

cost for Air New Zealand and the airport in achieving that. 

 40 

 With the implementation of the ETMS tool proposed by Christchurch 

Airport, maintenance planning will need to be managed more closely, 

on a more structured and co-ordinated basis than previously.  It may 

also mean that on occasions schedule impacts do occur or maintenance 

is scheduled to occur elsewhere.  The constraint engine testing contour 45 
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is also almost entirely within the existing operational contours, which 

to my understanding has been a known quantity for around 20 years. 

 

 Other than being based on an above average week, which is less as I 

noted before than the basis for the notified contours, my understanding 5 

is that revised contours contain no provision for growth.  This means 

that if growth is to occur it will need to be carefully managed and may 

require changes in scheduling, relocation of activities and possibly the 

construction of a ground run enclosure – and I will talk a little bit more 

on that shortly.   10 

 

 A number of submitters have commented on the location of the engine 

run pad adjacent or relevant to hangar one.  There appears to be an 

assumption that the threshold of runway 11 is where engine testing 

should occur or must occur.  That is not in fact the case.   15 

 

  [2.20 pm] 

 

 The reality is that while the threshold of runway 11 may once have 

been the primary location for engine testing it can no longer fulfil those 20 

requirements adequately or safely for jet aircraft and has some 

limitations with respect to the engine testing of turboprop aircraft.  

Increased use of the runway 11 threshold for engine testing would also 

impact to a greater extent on other residents. 

 25 

 With respect to a ground running enclosure, a number of submitters 

seek to compel a ground running enclosure to be constructed.  I do not 

support that position for a number of reasons.  The constraining of 

engine testing noise within the existing operational contours represents 

a constraint that has not previously been in place, and will improve the 30 

current position for submitters.  The benefits available from a ground 

run enclosure are uncertain.  The ground run enclosure may not 

improve the situation, as some residents may hope for.  And there are 

additional costs associated with that which must be offset by revenue 

from somewhere, typically that is via the airport and ultimately the 35 

airline customers. 

 

 CIAL proposes, based on advice from Mr Day, that an Ldn seven day 

rolling average methodology should be adopted.  Dr Chiles proposes 

that engine testing should be categorised as industrial noise and that an 40 

LAeq measure should be adopted for the measurement of engine testing 

noise. 

 

 The problem that I have with Dr Chiles’ evidence is that he does not 

place alongside the LAeq criteria a decibel rating that would give us an 45 

indication of what he is proposing.  I can only assume that that means 
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that he proposes that the industrial measures of 55 and 45 are the 

appropriate measures to go alongside the LAeq criteria.  As I understand 

if an LAeq 15 or LAeq 9 hour measure is adopted no operator, including 

the US Antarctic programme, would be able to undertake an engine test 

at Christchurch Airport at night, and my understanding is that in the 5 

bulk of circumstances in the daytime also.   

 

 Furthermore the construction of a GRE may not resolve that constraint.  

The consequences of that outcome would be far reaching.  These 

include the loss of maintenance activity at Christchurch or at a 10 

minimum a substantial reduction in maintenance service.  Other options 

are a reduction in flight schedules to facilitate essential maintenance 

being undertaken elsewhere or alternatively a reduction in the number 

of flights available to and from Christchurch.   

 15 

 And lastly there is some commentary in a number of the submissions 

about a curfew for Christchurch Airport and I just want to make the 

point to the Panel if a curfew was to be imposed at Christchurch 

Airport there would be a substantial effect on tourism and long haul 

traffic, as Christchurch Airport is nominated as an alternate for 20 

Auckland, which is a regulatory requirement that aircraft must have a 

viable alternate at their destination, and in the context of New Zealand 

there are only two airports with runways long enough at the 

commercial level to take ultra-long haul aircraft. 

 25 

 So it would be an extremely unfortunate if a curfew was to be an 

outcome of this hearing.  And that is the conclusion of my evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Ms Appleyard, before I turn to you, is Mr Marra 

here? 30 

 

MR MARRA:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Marra, I don’t know whether you were here this 

morning when I suggested a couple of hints to people who are not used 35 

to cross-examining, did you have any documents you wanted to put to 

Mr Morgan? 

 

MR MARRA:   Yes, sir, I have prepared a cross-examination. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, you are prepared for cross-examination but did you 

have any documents you were intending to put to Mr Morgan? 

 

MR MARRA:   No, none that he has not already seen. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, no, that is fine.  Take your seat again and we 

will call for you in a minute.  Ms Appleyard, is it your or is it Ms Hill? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, we aren’t cross-examining this witness but we are 

adopting his evidence as part of the CIAL case. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, there was just an errant reference to you cross-

examining here, I will take that out.  Thank you, Mr Marra, are you 

ready to go? 

 

MR MARRA:   Thank you, sir. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Look, I am sorry, I am mixing everyone up including 

myself so it is actually Mr Laing.  Mr Laing, you are wondering 

whether you are going to be ignored. 

 20 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [2.24 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you, your Honour. 

 

 Mr Morgan, just a few questions just to clarify aspects of your 25 

evidence, you don’t have any acoustic noise qualifications, do you? 

 

MR MORGAN:   No, I do not. 

 

MR LAING:   If you go to paragraph 6.3 of your evidence please, and just 30 

bring it up on the screen.   

 

MR MORGAN:   This is my primary evidence? 

 

MR LAING:   Primary evidence.  6.3, you say there that “Air New Zealand 35 

already employs a range of mitigation practices” – are those 

documented somewhere? 

 

  [2.25 pm] 

 40 

MR MORGAN:   They are the standing operating procedures that we have 

available to our engineering staff that specify that runs should be kept 

to a minimum, that they should be only for the purpose intended and 

we do in fact for certain engine runs use different parts of the airfield. 

 45 

MR LAING:   So it does include or mention location of engine testing? 
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MR MORGAN:   Well, the locations are specified by the airport and the 

instructions in the appendix to my rebuttal evidence there is a section 

on Christchurch Airport and standard operating procedures that 

requires the engineering staff to adhere to the Christchurch operating 5 

instructions issued by the airport. 

 

MR LAING:   But just to clarify, does Air New Zealand have a manual or 

some written material that could be provided to the Panel - - - 

 10 

MR MORGAN:   We do not - - - 

 

MR LAING:   - - - about its own operating procedures? 

 

MR MORGAN:   We don’t have a specific manual but our procedures are 15 

contained in various manuals that are available to the engineering staff 

and those are extracts from those manuals that I have included - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are they available to the Panel? 

 20 

MR MORGAN:   Sorry? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are they available to the Panel was Mr Laing’s question? 

 

MR MORGAN:   We can make them available, I am sure we can - - - 25 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, I think that might be helpful. 

 

MR MORGAN:   Okay. 

 30 

MR LAING:   In terms of the ETMS that has been developed, where do I find 

that?  Paragraph 6.3 of your evidence. 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes, with the implementation – yes, my understanding is that 

it is under development at the moment, it is if you like an extension of 35 

the recording system that has been recording information for a period 

of time now and Marshall Day have been commissioned to develop this 

tool so that is can forecast the amount of impact from engine running. 

 

MR LAING:   You say at 6.6 as to what it is going to include, but is there a 40 

draft document that is available to the Panel or is there anything at all 

we can look at? 

 

MR MORGAN:   I think you would be better to direct that question to the 

airport because they have commissioned Marshall Day to actually do 45 

the work. 
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MR LAING:   Yes, but you obviously have seen a draft because you are saying 

in 6.6 as to what is going to be included in it? 

 

MR MORGAN:   These are Air New Zealand’s improved management 5 

practices to be implemented with the ETMS.  So once the ETMS is 

available to us these other steps A, B, C, D, E et cetera, are actions that 

Air New Zealand will take. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, but they are not documented anywhere to date, are they? 10 

 

MR MORGAN:   They are not, they are being developed at the moment. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, thank you. 

 15 

 If I can go over to 6.10 of your evidence-in-chief you say there that 

“Air New Zealand has evaluated the Marshall Day report with respect 

to the development of notified contours separately and Air 

New Zealand has evaluated its own activity relative to that report”.  

Did Air New Zealand carry out its own or obtain its own acoustic 20 

advice? 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   It did, who was that from? 25 

 

MR MORGAN:   From Marshall Day.  We use Marshall Day in a number of 

locations to - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Who was the expert? 30 

 

MR MORGAN:   Stephen Peakall.   

 

MR LAING:   So did you get a separate report from Marshall Day? 

 35 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   You did.  Is that anywhere to be seen? 

 

MR MORGAN:   I can make it available to the Panel if you like, I do have a 40 

copy here with me. 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you, if you can make it available to the Panel. 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 45 
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MR LAING:   Going onto 6.11, Mr Morgan, you say that you are supportive of 

Marshall Day’s approach in developing notified contours but then you 

go on to say that you “prefer to have one set of contours” and you refer 

at the bottom of page 12 onto 13 “by a concurrent methodology” – w 

hat are you referring to there? 5 

 

MR MORGAN:   The situation we have in Auckland is that we have an 

operational contour, we have a limited contour for engine testing which 

was initially developed to ensure that houses most affected by engine 

testing in the western end of the aerodrome were mitigated, and by 10 

“concurrent” I mean that we have an operational contour and we have 

an engine testing management regime alongside that. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, and just going to 6.12, I take it you are satisfied from what 

you say in 6.12, that Air New Zealand and the other operators – at least 15 

as you are aware of their operations – can manage ground running 

activity within the revised contours.  That is correct, isn’t it? 

 

  [2.30 pm] 

 20 

MR MORGAN:   I have not talked to other operators – I am not advocating for 

other operators in any way – but my understanding is that the airport 

has discussed the revised contours with other operators, and Air New 

Zealand is comfortable with what is proposed. 

 25 

MR LAING:   Yes, thank you.  Just turning to 7.3 at the bottom of page 13, 

you refer to consulting a prominent GRE manufacturer in the course of 

preparing your evidence.  Who was that manufacturer? 

 

MR MORGAN:   BDI based in Reno, Nevada. 30 

 

MR LAING:   And that is the same people who provided that material which is 

in appendix A, is that what you are referring to?       

 

MR MORGAN:   That is correct. 35 

 

MR LAING:   Did they provide any report to you? 

 

MR MORGAN:   No, they did not, it was effectively a window shopping 

exercise to understand what was available and I asked them for a rough 40 

estimate in terms of cost and they could not give us a cost without 

going through a full inspection, site inspection, design exercise, a 

valuation of weather conditions and so on to establish the proper 

orientation and location on the aerodrome. 

 45 
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MR LAING:   So what sort of level of detail of material was provided to GRE 

for costing purposes? 

 

MR MORGAN:   BDI provided me with an email estimate of cost and two 

drawings, one of which I have attached to my rebuttal evidence, and the 5 

one that I have attached to my rebuttal evidence is the larger of the two, 

it is attachment 6. 

 

MR LAING:   Attachment 6.  Right at the back, isn’t it? 

 10 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   So that is based on what you provided BDI with, is that correct? 

 

MR MORGAN:   I asked BDI to provide us with a concept drawing for a GRE 15 

that would accommodate what is called a code C aeroplane which is a 

A320, and they provided two options. 

 

 One was an option to push an aircraft into the ground run enclosure 

with a tow.  The other one, which is this one that you see in front of 20 

you, which shows the aircraft being able to power – drive in under 

power into the ground run enclosure. 

 

 I have included this one rather than the smaller one because subsequent 

to the receipt of submissions, it is clear that a number of submitters 25 

have a concern about C130 engine running here and a ground running 

enclosure of this size – If that was what was going to be built – would 

enable an A320 if you wanted to, to drive it in, but it would enable a 

C130 to actually be pushed in with a tug.   

 30 

 So it would accommodate both aircraft.  It would not accommodate, let 

me be clear, it would not accommodate a 767 or an aircraft of that size 

– 767 or 777 if that required an engine run. 

 

MR LAING:   Just finally, if I can go to 9.7 of your evidence-in-chief, you 35 

refer to the Council’s revised wording of rule 6.1.4.2.7, you see that? 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   And you expressed a view at 9.8 that you prefer the Council’s 40 

wording.  So do I take it that you are totally happy that 

Air New Zealand can operate within that wording? 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 

 45 

MR LAING:   Thank you. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Marra. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR MARRA [2.34 pm] 

 5 

MR MARRA:   Thank you, your Honour. 

 

 Mr Morgan, in your primary evidence you have a section on 

community relationships.  In 8.4 you say, “That a proactive and 

transparent management of noise related issues is essential” – and 10 

based on Air New Zealand Limited, Air New Zealand’s experience, 

you give examples of how this could be achieved.   

 

 So I thought it might be novel and as a needs of progressing this part of 

the noise issue, to clarify to the Panel, a couple of points that we agree 15 

on. 

 

 Do you think a similar community consultative group as implemented 

in Auckland, would work in Christchurch? 

 20 

  [2.35 pm] 

 

MR MORGAN:   I personally support community consultative groups, and Air 

New Zealand is a participant in several across the country in one form 

or another.  And the short answer is that we would agree that it is a 25 

positive position. 

 

MR MARRA:   Thank you, and Mr Morgan, there is a compulsory contribution 

by the AIAL of $325,000 to the Noise Mitigation Fund for the benefit 

of community amenities.  Do you think this would also be a good 30 

programme for Christchurch? 

 

MR MORGAN:   Without being facetious, your Honour, I am inclined to ask a 

question in return.   

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just be careful before you ask a question. 

 

MR MORGAN:   I am not going to, what I will say is that the $325,000 is a 

recent increase over an earlier level of contribution, and it was 

established for reasons other than perhaps might exist in Christchurch.  40 

And that was that when the contours were established in Auckland and 

there was quite a wide-ranging effect on schools and certain public 

areas, that it was agreed through a negotiation called Mayoral Forum 

chaired by Sir Barry Curtis, that the airport would make a contribution 

towards funding additional activities within the noise contours 45 

themselves rather than community wide, and that is managed by the 
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Auckland – I cannot remember the exact name; Auckland Airport 

Community Trust I think it is called, and they take applications for 

grants and they grant amounts and they distributed quite an amount of 

money over a long period of time to schools for audio visual 

equipment, computers, extra learning or special learning needs and that 5 

type of thing. 

 

 So I would not agree necessarily that that is what should occur in 

Christchurch; there has to be a reason for the fund, and I am not sure 

that the same circumstances exactly apply here. 10 

 

MR MARRA:   Thank you, Mr Morgan, I guess that is a no? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, the answer he has given is that it is not necessarily 

applicable in Christchurch, so the answer is given. 15 

 

MR MARRA:   Thank you, Mr Morgan.  Now in your primary evidence you 

state in the section, “Mitigation of engine testing operations” that from 

Air New Zealand’s perspective, engine testing is a necessary part of 

airport and aircraft operations. 20 

 

 You also say that the two activities are intertwined; one cannot 

undertaken without the other and it follows that engine testing contours 

should be “contained within the operational contours” – and you also 

state that Air New Zealand will manage its engine testing noise to 25 

achieve this. 

 

 I agree with you in principle, but point out that engine testing noise is 

not the same as operational noise, however, - - - 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Marra, come to your question. 

 

MR MARRA:   Can you clarify for the Panel then why we need separate 

engine testing contours? 

 35 

MR MORGAN:   I cannot point to the exact clause, but I think somewhere in 

my primary evidence I have actually stated that my preference is for a 

consolidated contour and Dr Chiles has talked about that in terms of 

increasing the size of the contours. 

 40 

 As I mentioned in my opening comments, other than the specific 

circumstance in Auckland, I am not aware of any airport in the world 

that has an engine testing contour, I cannot find – I have conducted a 

comprehensive literature search, I have a relationship with some other 

airport people around the world, and I cannot find one that has an 45 
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engine testing contour and my only conclusion from that is that it is 

already included in the operational contours, number one. 

 

 Number two is there is not much literature that I can find around about 

engine testing as well. 5 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you, Mr Morgan.  In your rebuttal of my evidence, you 

disagree that the bylaw under which engine testing has been carried out 

for some years, is being flouted. 

 10 

 Air New Zealand, in your opinion, was not being irresponsible.  

However, you submitted in your rebuttal of my evidence, an airbus 

document which gives airbus recommendations for engine runs.   

 

 Point 8 says that engines idle for five minutes to stabilise then carry out 15 

the necessary power run, then let engines cool down for five minutes. 

 

  [2.45 pm] 

 

 In the MDA tables supplied to the mediation a typical week is 439 20 

minutes of engine testing so can you clarify for the Panel how Air New 

Zealand were going to ever comply with the five minute total duration 

of engine running as stipulated in the bylaw? 

 

MR MORGAN:   My reading of the bylaw is that the airport manager is able to 25 

vary that.  The bylaw does not, as I understand it, compel the airport to 

apply a five minute criterion and I do not know who drafted the bylaw, 

it was before my time in this part of the country. 

 

 No engine test is assured as five minutes.  You have just identified that 30 

in terms of reading out from the - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    Mr Marra, just so that you understand, so at that point 

there is a question of interpretation of the bylaw for you to tell us about 

rather than debate with the witness too much.  He has given his view of 35 

how he sees it and you can deal with us, if you like, in terms of how 

you interpret it yourself, but go to the next question. 

 

MR MARRA:   Sir, I imagine you have seen a zillion copies of the bylaw and 

realise what it says. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, we have got copies of that in front of us   

 

MR MARRA:   Moving on to the next rebuttal of my evidence that the 

importance of wind direction was overstated and you have supplied 45 

various documents which state that to carry out an engine run point the 
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aircraft into the wind or more specifically they say, where possible 

point the aircraft into the wind. 

 

 And you further criticise my evidence on this wind issue stating that 

everyday pilots consider pushing back from the terminal such as that 5 

they can start their engines into the wind to prevent stalling but, 

Mr Morgan, since the 1980s engines have had variable inlet 

guide vanes to prevent such stallings and can you imagine as a 

management executive the mayhem at London Heathrow or LAX 

where the everyday pilot said he wanted to face a certain way for 10 

engine start - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    Mr Marra, this is about this airport here in New Zealand, 

in Christchurch, not in London so keep it to a question.  Be careful not 

to make statements to the witness, just put your question. 15 

 

MR MARRA:   Would you not, therefore, agree, Mr Morgan, on this basis that 

if a pilot needs to run an engine or an engineer needs to run an engine 

he can point it any which way he likes to avoid a group of houses or the 

Canterbury Aero Club or the cargo area regardless of the wind 20 

direction? 

 

MR MORGAN:   It is a qualified “no” – we are talking about the operation on 

the aerodrome and I have very clear advice from people who are much 

more competent than me in this particular area, who tell me that with 25 

the ATR, for example, that wind entering the tailpipe during the start 

sequence can cause considerable damage and that the aircraft must be 

positioned off the terminal building, for example, so that the tailpipe is 

not directly into the wind.  So it is a qualified no. 

 30 

MR MARRA:   Thank you, Mr Morgan. 

 

 You also further criticise my evidence in your rebuttal that 

consequences of exceeding the noise limits in Christchurch are the 

same as in Auckland.  That is what I said in my evidence, but in 35 

Auckland the AIAL have offered to 2,700 houses, noise mitigation by 

way of insulation at AIAL cost. 

 

 Now, as a consequence, all as a consequence of exceeding annual noise 

limits.  Christchurch Airport does not have anything like, does it? 40 

 

MR MORGAN:   Christchurch does not have the scheme as Auckland.  I do 

not understand your comment about that the insulation has been offered 

because of Auckland exceeding the noise limits.  The process in 

Auckland is that the existing houses within the 65 Ldn contours when it 45 

was established were to be offered a noise mitigation package.  These 



 Page 276 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

were people already experiencing the noise and the Auckland Plan 

requires as the 65 contour moves out that insulation is offered to houses 

that were existing in, I think it was 2001, when the Plan became 

operative.  So the airport is not exceeding its authorised noise levels. 

 5 

  [2.45 pm] 

 

 It has a contour which is actually substantially wider than, as 

Christchurch does have, than the actual 65 contour today so of the 

2,700 houses, I can make a comment on that as well. 10 

 

 There are more than 2,700 offers have been made.  The number that 

has accepted is the 2,700 of which the bulk is Housing Corporation 

homes.  Only 6 percent of that 2,700 houses are owned by people other 

than the Housing Corporation. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Marra, that is 10 minutes.  How much have you got to 

go? 

 

MR MARRA:   This is the final issue.  No further questions other than to point 20 

out that yes, there were 400 houses that took up that, none of which 

were from engine testing and why was that? Can you think of why no 

engine testing, even though there were houses that fell within the 

engine testing over non-compliance? 

 25 

MR MORGAN:   Well, the airport was required to mitigate houses that were 

affected by engine testing and there was a specific number, close and at 

the western end of the airport, and my understanding is that those 

houses were mitigated.  I am not aware that in that number there is 

anybody who declined. 30 

 

 What I can tell you from the Auckland situation and what is about to 

occur in Wellington is that a number of people offered mitigation 

packages choose not to uplift them for whatever reason. 

 35 

MR MARRA:   My reasoning would be that - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There is no point – you have questioning.  You cannot put 

your reasoning.  You will have a chance to give your evidence shortly. 

 40 

MR MARRA:   No further questions, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Venema? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR VENEMA [2.47 pm] 45 
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MR VENEMA:   Eric, I have been looking through your qualifications and 

experience and you have a longstanding and impressive career in 

management and planning especially with airport operational matters.  

Some of the questions I have will be related to real experiences as 

trained aircraft engineers testing on wing aircraft, engines on wing, and 5 

actually practising first hand safety policies and just (INDISTINCT 

2.50). 

 

 Have you ever carried out an engine test on wing? 

 10 

MR MORGAN:   Not personally because I do not have the qualifications or fit 

the requirements in Air New Zealand Standard Operating Procedures 

but I have been on the flight deck of an aircraft when several have been 

undertaken.  I think I need to - - - 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just perhaps wait for the question.  I think you have given 

enough foundation for the next question.   

 

MR VENEMA:   No, thank you, that did lead on to my other question, you 

answered it, thank you.   20 

 

 In your evidence-in-chief 3.7; you list in particular focus, the key 

differences in engine testing in comparison with the CEC; the nature of 

Air New Zealand engine testing is in the course of routine maintenance 

during layover of operational days required for ensuring reliable and 25 

safe operations of aircraft on line operations and flight as this running 

as a short duration. 

 

 Just focusing on the Air New Zealand operations; I understood flight 

but could you explain what is the mode of aircraft use operation of 30 

aircraft on line operations is? 

 

MR MORGAN:   An aircraft that is withdrawn from service for an extended 

maintenance period is off line.  All other aircraft that are in service on a 

scheduled service is on line. 35 

 

MR VENEMA:   So is it actually an aircraft operation or a function of 

Air New Zealand, in its maintenance? 

 

MR MORGAN:   I am sorry, I do not understand the question. 40 

 

MR VENEMA:   No, well, I did not understand the statement.  Never mind, we 

will move on.   
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 Now, you assert that the nature of Air New Zealand engine testing is of 

short duration and that of scheduled operational aircraft.  Is this all the 

engine testing Air New Zealand carries out? 

 

MR MORGAN:   Where are you referring to? 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   3.7. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Same, 3.7 – we are focusing on Air New Zealand. 

 10 

MR MORGAN:   Would you mind asking the question again, please. 

 

MR VENEMA:   You assert that the nature of Air New Zealand Limited 

engine testing is of short duration and that of scheduled operational 

aircraft.  Is that all the engine testing Air New Zealand carries out? 15 

 

  [2.50 pm] 

 

MR MORGAN:   For aircraft that are in service, engine testing is of generally 

short duration. 20 

 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you.  Is that all the engine testing that Air New 

Zealand carries out; that is the question, you did not really answer it. 

 

MR MORGAN:   If we are talking about on-wing testing yes, it is short 25 

duration.  If we remove the engine from the aircraft and send it away 

then that may be a longer duration period. 

 

MR VENEMA:   I am sorry, this seems to be taking a lot of time.  I am asking 

is that all the engine testing Air New Zealand does? 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You mean - - -  

 

MR VENEMA:   Operational, you say there of short duration of scheduled 

operational aircraft. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So does Air New Zealand do something other than 

scheduled? 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 40 

 

MR VENEMA:   So okay well - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, Mr Venema, just pause a minute, we will get the 

answer.  Is the answer that is the only testing done or is there other 45 

testing? 
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MR MORGAN:   As far as I am aware that is the only testing done. 

 

MR VENEMA:  Okay, sorry.  I was hoping you would say otherwise.   

 5 

 Nonetheless, I note further on in your evidence to chapter 5 that you 

highlight that there are heavy maintenance events and engine testing 

from the heavy maintenance events – so it is a bit awkward asking this 

question but it is in your evidence, is this testing of much longer 

duration post heavy maintenance? 10 

 

MR MORGAN:   I cannot tell you exactly. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay, all right.   

 15 

MR MORGAN:   If you are asking about while the engine is off-wing. 

 

MR VENEMA:   No.  On-wing engine testing but post heavy maintenance. 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 20 

 

MR VENEMA:   Which you do provide in your evidence later on in chapter 5.  

You are not sure that that is longer duration? 

 

MR MORGAN:   I do not know the exact duration. 25 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay. 

 

MR MORGAN:   It obviously depends on which aircraft type you are talking 

about. 30 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay.  So the true nature of Air New Zealand’s current 

engine testing is really a bit different from what you have asserted in 

paragraph 3.7, especially when we look at Air New Zealand’s US and 

military clients with a C130 Hercules, which I was trying to allude to 35 

with heavy maintenance, which are well-known to take literally hours.  

Would you consider five minutes to be short duration for an engine 

test? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Hang on a minute – do you accept the premise for that 40 

question first? 

 

MR MORGAN:   No. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right.  You might want to put it a different way.  So in 45 

other words; you put a proposition to the witness and he does not 
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accept that proposition, and then you said is five minutes short duration 

so perhaps rephrase that question. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay.  All right, I will ask the next question.  Perhaps it will 

help out.  What, then, is the time length you, in your opinion, is short? 5 

 

MR MORGAN:   Well if I was to look at the records of engine testing at 

Christchurch, generally it ranges between 15 and 20 minutes, 25 

minutes for the bulk of activity.  There are some longer, and the 

duration obviously combines a mix of idle, sometimes medium power 10 

and sometimes high power runs. 

 

 Again, it depends on the nature of work and the checks that the 

engineering people are required to undertake. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So what is the range of a short duration, Mr Morgan? 

 

MR MORGAN:   I would say between 20 and 30 minutes.  Up to an hour in 

certain circumstances, but the bulk of it 20 to 30 minutes. 

 20 

MR VENEMA:   Okay thank you Mr Morgan. 

 

 Referring to the table given and it is in – I made a request for this to be 

available in submitter Vanessa Payne’s evidence.  It is the 73B Trafford 

Street night-time duration testing.  Typical week, supplied by CIAL 25 

post-mediation.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will see if that can come up.  Is that something the 

Secretariat know about?  Mr Venema’s question.  What was it again, 

Mr Venema you wanted to know? 30 

 

MR VENEMA:   It is the 73B Trafford Street night-time duration ground 

running table that was supplied by Marshall Day at mediation, and is 

part of Vanessa Payne, submitter 2191’s evidence. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can you ask the Secretariat, oh, there it is there.  Is that 

the one on the screen? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, that looks like it is. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, way you go, yes. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay, we find there that there are numbers of runs between 

40 and 100 minutes.  In your opinion, is this seven day typical data 

supplied by Marshall Day Acoustics based on real facts? 45 
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MR MORGAN:   I do not know. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you. 

 

MR MORGAN:   I have had no part in the compilation of this, and I have not 5 

seen it before.  It came in the evidence. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you.  It is mostly I think all Air New Zealand engine 

running, so I would’ve expected you to have, but never mind.   

 10 

MR MORGAN:   With respect - - -  

 

MR VENEMA:   No, that is right, thank you for the answer. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Have you completed your answer? 15 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Have you completed your answer, Mr Morgan? 

 20 

  [2.55 pm] 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes I have. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 25 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay.  Is Air New Zealand aware that the operative bylaw 

controlling noise, that it states that five minute testing is maximum, 

unless it is done at runway 11? 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So what is the question? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Is Air New Zealand aware of that? 

 

MR MORGAN:   I think I have answered this for Mr Marra; the bylaw can be 35 

varied is my understanding by the airport manager. 

 

MR VENEMA:   That was not the question.  The question was that it states 

that five minutes testing is maximum unless it is done at runway 11. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well subject and I think the answer was, there was an 

answer to that question, it was saying subject to the rider that it can be 

varied by the airport manager. 

 

MR VENEMA:   So yes, okay. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   But it is a matter for you to address us on if you want to in 

terms of any points you want to make later on, but just proceed with 

your questions. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, sorry sir – yes, and this is a point for the Panel is that the 5 

claim of short duration may have been somewhat misleading to the 

Panel. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  Well you can make that point later on, but I just do 

not want you to use up your time talking to us when you should be 10 

asking questions. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay, moving on to 5.3, rules and requirement defined by 

CIAL. 

 15 

 You assert that Air New Zealand complies with these, and I know from 

my own experience at Air New Zealand Limited is it is generally very 

responsible and strives to comply with all known requirements and 

rules. 

 20 

 One of the rules contained in the CIAL Management Plan 2013 – and I 

believe it has been updated to version 10, 201,  and in fact an extract of 

the operative District Plan, operative since 1999 according to Glenda 

Dixon – states that runway 11 threshold location provides the least 

potential disturbance to persons living near the airport and to at least 25 

minimise the adverse noises from the engine testing and requires that 

the majority of engine testing activities will take place within 200 

metres of the cross identified on map 23B and also has an 800 metre 

setback. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now come to your question. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, is Air New Zealand complying with this current 

requirement? 

 35 

MR MORGAN:   To be honest, your honour, I would have to read the words 

that apply to the Plan.  If someone has a copy of the Plan I will tell you 

what my interpretation of that is. 

 

 One observation I would make, absent to seeing that and giving an 40 

answer with respect to that, is that it is quite clear when we looked 

through Council’s decision No. 3, which is contained in Mr Lawry’s 

evidence, that the runway 11 threshold is identified as the primary 

location for engine testing, but it is acknowledged in that decision that 

it is not the only location. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Venema, just so that you know and bearing in mind, 

focus again on what we need to decide in regard to Plan provisions.  

We are not in a position to make any ruling as say a court might be in 

an injunction proceeding or something under the bylaw about whether 

or not any party is complying with it.  It is not before us in that sense, 5 

okay. 

 

MR VENEMA:   No.  Thank you, your honour.  It just led onto what would be 

the next question is how will we expect that Air New Zealand will be 

able to comply with any rules that are made from here on in if indeed it 10 

does not comply with the existing District Plan. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are running close to your time, so get to your 

question - - - 

 15 

MR VENEMA:   Okay, we will move on. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will wait for the question. 

 

MR VENEMA:   7.16 - - -  20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   7.16 of what? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Continuing in Mr Morgan’s evidence. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, thank you. 

 

MR MORGAN:   This is in my rebuttal. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   This is the evidence-in-chief.  It starts, “Limiting engine 30 

ground running”, is that the one?  Limiting engine ground running at 

7.16, Mr Marra, is that where you are? 

 

MR VENEMA:   7.16, yes, it is, Mr Venema, sorry.  The constructive solution 

offered by Air New Zealand Limited by limiting engine ground running 35 

activity within the air noise contour sounds promising when compared 

to what I originally presented by the Council planning maps.  What is 

the estimated cost of this significant commitment by Air New Zealand 

per annum in dollar terms? 

 40 

MR MORGAN:   I will answer the question in a couple of points and I would 

like to address Mr Venema’s initial point about whether Air New 

Zealand can be trusted to comply with the new proposition.  The short 

answer is that there are no engine testing contours today.  There will 

be, assuming that they were picked up by the Panel and put in place – 45 
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there becomes a clear compliance requirement, and there will be 

consequences for non-compliance with that. 

 

  [3.00 pm] 

 5 

 In terms of the exact cost I cannot give you that, but what I can identify 

are areas will costs will be incurred.  One is that where we would 

schedule maintenance to be done today we may have to schedule it on 

another day to comply with the constraints, and that may involve a 

resource impact, it may involve shifting parts from one location to 10 

another, and it may actually have a schedule impact if we have got a 

number of significant events occurring on a single.  I cannot give you 

an exact - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Did Air New Zealand undertake any costing of these 15 

mitigation measures? 

 

MR MORGAN:   I have got some costings for moving around the airfield 

alone, and they minimum 250,000 and could be as much as half a 

million a year, depending on the amount involved.   20 

 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you, that is amount I am after, thank you. 

 

 On the moving around; the ATR 72 line maintenance, where is the 

majority of the ATR 72 line maintenance carried out today? 25 

 

MR MORGAN:   My understanding is that the bulk of it is carried out in 

Christchurch. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Specifically, as in what hangar? 30 

 

MR MORGAN:   I do not know exactly. 

 

MR VENEMA:   It is quite significant to your answers on moving aircraft 

around. 35 

 

MR MORGAN:   When I talk about moving aircraft around, I am talking from 

a maintenance location to somewhere on the airfield for the purposes of 

an engine test. 

 40 

MR VENEMA:   Absolutely. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Venema, that is your time allocation.  Are you 

wanting some more time?  How many more questions have you got? 

 45 
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MR VENEMA:   Yes, your Honour, I do have a number of – I have got three 

more questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well just be aware not to read out statements, 

but get straight to the questions and see if you can wrap it up in a 5 

couple of minutes. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Right, well the question is quite specific in the sense that, and 

this is for trying to highlight to the Panel that this moving around, as 

such, to know where the ATRs are maintained, what it would take to go 10 

to the ground run up pad next to No. 1 Hangar – are they towed or 

taxied? 

 

MR MORGAN:   My understanding is it is a combination.   

 15 

MR VENEMA:   Okay, so do the ATR 72s have any issue with pulling up 

asphalt on ground run? 

 

MR MORGAN:   Not that I am aware of. 

 20 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you. 

 

 Eric, you have claimed that the GRE, the ground run-up enclosure 

results, are uncertain in your highlights, yet Air New Zealand has not 

actually had a full assessment done.  You quoted it as 25 

“window shopping”; how certain is Air New Zealand’s ability to 

comply with this complex shuffling around the airport with the 

constrained contours in the next, say 10 years? 

 

MR MORGAN:   I have absolute confidence that will occur.  If the 30 

requirement was clear rather than optional to the Airport management 

that all running had to be done at the runway level threshold then 

aircraft would be towed there, with a consequential impact either on the 

maintenance time through airfield movements, and the maintenance 

aircraft being subordinated to that, or just in terms of time of relocating 35 

aircraft from one to the other.   

 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you.  There are a number of questions I have 

concerning things you have opposed in my evidence and rebuttal 

evidence, but perhaps we will miss them out, I think they were clear 40 

enough, even though I disagree with your answers and would like you 

to elaborate. 

 

 In your rebuttal evidence – we will move onto your rebuttal evidence if 

I could, 2.3.5. 45 
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 Mr Morgan, you claim that it is self-evident that observing safe 

practices in aviation is the responsibility of the participants individually 

and collectively.  Although the term self-evident is a term in 

philosophy that aircraft engineers keep well away from dealing, with 

the human factors et cetera, I would, however, like Mr Morgan to 5 

clarify what he means by “participants” individually and collectively 

when in context of the jet blast scenario, which I have presented on the 

map, the Google map, of transiting staff? 

 

  [3.05 pm] 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is a very difficult question for me to understand as 

well, have you got that? 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes, I have.  The safe practices are an inherent part of airline 15 

staff training, especially for people who are working in what are safety 

hazard areas.  So, for example, in my rebuttal, there is examples of the 

danger areas around an aircraft when engines are running and there is 

guidance for people not to approach it, not to approach the aircraft in 

those circumstances. 20 

 

 As I identified in my rebuttal evidence, Air New Zealand has a code of 

conduct which applies to every employee in the organisation and 

requires them to adhere to the safety practices. 

 25 

 The first item in that is “Operate safely, responsibly and reliably.”  So 

for example, an aircraft is under power, undertaking an engine test, 

then staff are clearly instructed not to approach it, and if they do, then 

they are in breach of those guidelines.  And, in fact, staff observing that 

are required to alert the staff member that they are entering a hazardous 30 

area, they are also required to record it and to encourage people to 

report hazardous situations and to observe safe practices. 

 

 The company operates what is called a “Just Culture”, and I have noted 

in my rebuttal evidence what a Just Culture is.  It effectively is unless 35 

you undertake something irresponsibly or maliciously, there are no 

penalties to a crew from reporting incidents in the organisation. 

 

 So in the context of Mr Venema’s Attachment C, the track around the 

buildings between the hangars, if an aircraft was under power, I do not 40 

agree with the alignment that he has put for the aircraft there because 

that is not the approved alignment, but if staff are moving around that 

area and in a hazardous situation, then they are obliged to stop, and if 

they keep going then they are performing an unsafe practice. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Was that your last question, Mr Venema? 
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MR VENEMA:   There is just two brief questions, one - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, those certainly were not brief, I said a couple of 

minutes to wrap up and it is about another eight minutes on from there, 5 

so it is four times two. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay, okay.  That particular aspect, would you say, 

Mr Morgan, then if the ground run-up pad was not so close to the 

hangar, this would resolve any safety issues for staff transiting?     10 

 

MR MORGAN:   If an airport environment has a number of risks associated 

with movement on the apron and the standard approach to dealing with 

risks and hazards is to eliminate, mitigate or manage.  In this context, 

you would manage the scenario by people observing the requirements 15 

and by cutting the pad is not necessarily the generator of unsafe 

practices or - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Keep the questions focused, Mr Morgan. 

 20 

MR MORGAN:   Sorry? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Your answer to questions, keep them focused please. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Unfortunately, he did not answer the question. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well he did, but it took a long time and your questions 

invite that I am afraid.  I realise you have not done this before. 

 

MR VENEMA:   The last question is that in 2.36 on your rebuttal evidence, 30 

you assert that my evidence given in 5.2, I think you mean 5.5, of an 

incident with my attachments E and F that note that this incident 

occurred.  You claimed that my attachments claimed that an 

investigation was conducted and appropriate remedial action was taken.  

I do not seem to find those details, and the CAA does not offer those 35 

either.    

 

 Was an investigation carried out with this accident? 

 

MR MORGAN:   I consulted with management and they informed me that an 40 

investigation had been conducted and the appropriate remedial action 

taken.  There were a number of factors apparently in the incident. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Venema.  Mr Daysh? 
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MR DAYSH:   Thank you, thank you, Mr Morgan.  Following up from a 

question from Mr Laing, your 5.7 of your evidence-in-chief discusses 

complaint levels.  Are you aware of the evidence of Mr Boswell that 

the complaints seem to be rising at the airport in terms of noise issues? 5 

 

  [3.10 pm] 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes, I have seen the data in his evidence.  It is not apparent 

to me that that is engine testing related. 10 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right.  Your 6.3 where you talk about this ETMS, is your 

understanding that is a voluntary management plan that is being 

prepared? 

 15 

MR MORGAN:   The ETMS itself? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 

 

MR MORGAN:   My understanding is that it will apply to all operators who 20 

have to undertake engine testing at Christchurch Airport. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   As a voluntary? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Is it being done voluntarily by the Airport? With a requirement 25 

of a plan or a resource consent? 

 

MR MORGAN:   My view is it is voluntary by the Airport.  As far as I can see 

there is no requirement anywhere that says it has to do it. 

 30 

MR DAYSH:   So management plans like this you think would be good 

practice - - -  

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 

 35 

MR DAYSH:   - - - for dealing with this sort of issue? 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you.   40 

 

MR MORGAN:   I could say that we use a similar tool in Hamilton already, 

and it works very affectively. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Is that required or voluntary in Hamilton? 45 
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MR MORGAN:   It was a tool that Air New Zealand, because we are the only 

engine tester there, was a tool that Air New Zealand had developed by 

Marshall Day to enable us to ensure that we remained in compliance. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you.  Your 6.7 in your evidence-in-chief, you say that 5 

Air New Zealand recognises there are other options available to the 

Panel for mitigation.  And then at 7.2 you say that it is not to say that 

there is no benefit available in terms of insulation of GRE, so there are 

a range of mitigation options available to the Airport and the company. 

 10 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   That is right?  Yes.  So I just take you to your rebuttal evidence 

where, I will just get the right paragraph.  At 2.6 E of your rebuttal 

evidence. 15 

 

MR MORGAN:   Sorry, 2.6? 

 

MR DAYSH:   E, so this is page 4 of your rebuttal.  This is where you talk 

about the introduction of the A320 to Air New Zealand. 20 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And towards the bottom of that E you talk about best 

practicable option was the construction of a concrete run pad. 25 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   That best practicable option, was that documented through an 

analysis in a report of all the different options? 30 

 

MR MORGAN:   There was an incident report that covered the issue at the end 

of the runway.  I have not seen a specific report on why the run pad 

location was chosen, but in my observation of the aerodrome and where 

you would put those locations seem to be most probably the most 35 

practicable one.  

 

MR DAYSH:   You use the term best practicable option in the RMA sense, are 

you aware of that term? 

 40 

MR MORGAN:   Yes I am. 

 

MR DAYSH:   I am not sure whether we can get this but Resource 

Management Act, do you have that available, section 2 a definition of 

best practicable option? 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Morgan, were those words put in by your lawyer or 

did you write them? 

 

MR MORGAN:   That was my writing.   

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So while that comes up we have heard from Mr Gardner-

Hopkins that best practical option in terms of noise management is 

something we should be having, the Panel should be thinking about 10 

going forward. 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So this is, I think it is section 2 of the Resource Management 15 

Act, defines best practicable option.   Have you ever seen that before? 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes, I have some time ago. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So that sort of option where you go through the nature of the 20 

discharge - - - 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   - - - sensitivity of the receiving environment, financial 25 

implications, so these are costs benefits. 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes.  

 

MR DAYSH:   And the current state of technical knowledge and the likelihood 30 

that it might be able to be applied. Do you think that type of framework 

might be useful thinking ahead about complying with any particular 

contour or noise level around engine testing? 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes, yes, I was not involved in the selection of location, that 35 

is the first thing.  The second thing is it was understanding was there 

was considerable consultation between the Airport and Air New 

Zealand about the best location, and the location it is in is not actually 

Air New Zealand’s preferred location.   

 40 

MR DAYSH:   But in 22.6 E you say you were involved in the introduction of 

the A320, but you were not involved in the best practicable option 

assignment. 

 

  [3.15 pm] 45 
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MR MORGAN:   No, I was not, when I say that what I am saying is that I was 

involved in the operational planning of the introduction of the aircraft 

and one of the components of that was identifying locations around the 

airline’s network where ground running of an A320 would be an issue 

due to asphalted surfaces rather than concrete surfaces. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   So all those lists of things that led to this best practicable option 

being decided, (i) through to (vi), that is your knowledge or is that 

something you have gleaned from other people? 

 10 

MR MORGAN:   No, these are the items that would be considered in terms of 

the issues that you would take into account with remaining at the 

runway threshold or relocating. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes.  Okay so those are sorta the types of things that you would 15 

look at if you were looking at this again if you had to comply with 

some other rules or requirements? 

 

MR MORGAN:   If you asked me to look at this, those are the sorts of things 

that I would assess. 20 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you.  One final question and I have got to be 

cautious about this.  Are you involved in the Unitary Plan process in 

Auckland on behalf of the company? 

 25 

MR MORGAN:   I was involved early on as an operational advisory to the 

board of airline representatives but I have no recent involvement. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, I will leave it there.  Thank you very much. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Mr Morgan.  In your evidence 

in chief on page 16 under community relationships you refer at 8.5 to 

this community liaison committee.  Accepting your comments about 35 

the situation at Auckland International Airport, would you think it 

appropriate for CIAL to set aside a fund for such a committee to 

remunerate the Independent Chair that you refer to there and the 

community representatives as the others will no doubt be in attendance 

as part of their paid responsibilities? 40 

 

MR MORGAN:   My understanding is that Auckland does fund those activities 

for the Chair and I believe the local board members and I do not see 

any reason why Christchurch could not or should not. 

 45 

MS HURIA:   Thank you. 
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MR MORGAN:   It will all flow back into airline charges eventually. 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you, sir. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:  Thanks, Mr Morgan.  A similar question that you answered to 

Mr Daysh.  When it came to your attention either early this year or the 

end of last year that this process had raised concerns regarding the 10 

noise of engine testing and what do we do about this started to raise its 

head and you have said that you reflected on, or Air New Zealand 

reflected on its practices, presumably with your assistance, and you 

have come up in 6.6 of your evidence with a list of the sorts of revised 

management practices that Air New Zealand feels that it can introduce 15 

to reduce the noise of engine testing for residents.   

 

 How is that undertaken?  Was that by way of a formal assessment of 

best practicable options including looking at a range of options beyond 

these and then weighing up the noise benefits versus the costs versus 20 

the practicality? 

 

MR MORGAN:   We have not undertaken a modelling exercise to determine 

whether one option is better than another.  These are practical 

management steps that we can do to ensure that (1) we can comply, and 25 

(2) that we will minimise the impact that we may have and to ensure as 

well that we can comply with the constrained contours and remain 

within them. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But say we did not have the restraint contours just yet and we 30 

were trying to work out what contours could be implemented by way of 

best practicable options, how do we know that what you are putting 

forward here incorporates all the best practicable options that are 

available and that those have been weighed and that there might not be 

other options that you could do to minimise, in a practical and cost 35 

efficient way, the noise to residents? 

 

MR MORGAN:   These are matters within Air New Zealand’s control that it 

can influence itself directly to ensure that it reduces the footprint if you 

like, its impact on the overall contours.  As it stands at the moment the 40 

costs are contained in Christchurch in terms of compliance.  Going 

forward as we get growth and those costs may be imposed elsewhere 

but, I am not sure if I am answering exactly what you are - - - 

 

  [3.20 pm] 45 
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MS DAWSON:   I suppose my question is how do we know there are not a 

whole lot of other things you could do that would also reduce them 

more, that you have actually looked at the range of best practicable 

options and have not just come up with a list of easy things to do. 

 5 

MR MORGAN:   Well that, outside of these options, I guess the other options 

are is that we do not do or that we cap the amount that we do and we 

shift some of it to somewhere else with consequential impacts on 

schedule and those types of things.  We have not gone as far as that. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   So are you saying that beyond the suite of things in 6.6, the 

next set of actions you could take are a different order of magnitude - - 

- 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes, absolutely.   15 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - we are absolutely not doing maintenance here or shifting 

them to another location or – you are saying you have investigated the 

full suite of options that could minimise noise in a practical way in 

Christchurch. 20 

 

MR MORGAN:   Within our control in Christchurch. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So you say that the revised contours will constrain the noise 

more than it being the current noise that is experienced by people in the 25 

nearest residential areas, for example.  So how do you know that? 

 

MR MORGAN:   The notified contours contain the worst case scenario. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, no, sorry, the revised contours. 30 

 

MR MORGAN:   No, I want to lead into answering the question.   

 

 They contained events that were at one end of the extreme, if you like.  

What the constrained contours do is constrain us, compel us, not to, to 35 

exceed the contours as we might have done in a worst case scenario so 

we will have to make management choices and decisions to ensure that 

the amount of (INDISTINCT 2.08) running – that is why the 

forecasting tool is essential.  We will make decisions that ensure that 

we do not breach those contours, where in the past with no contours 40 

and worst case scenario we would have without awareness. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But the revised contours were the worst case scenario plus – 

sorry, the original contours – plus opportunity for 60 percent growth as 

I understand it. 45 
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MR MORGAN:   The revised contours are - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, sorry, the notified ones had a growth. 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   The constrained or the revised contours do not have – well, 

they do not have that much growth or any growth and they are on more 

of an average week, worst – I cannot remember what it is but it is a 

weekly thing rather than the worst case.  But what I am saying is how 10 

do you know, compared with the noise that people are getting at the 

moment as opposed to what they could have got, how do you know that 

these contours will restrain you more than you are doing at the 

moment, that people are receiving at the moment? 

 15 

MR MORGAN:   The contours are based on an above-average week so there is 

taken, if you like, we have gone to a middle ground between the current 

average activity and worst case scenario so we have – there is capacity 

in the above-average week for a small amount of growth.  There may 

be some weeks where we could exceed it but they will be rare but over 20 

time as we schedule more maintenance activity in here we will reach 

that peak where we then have to make choices around what we do on 

which day.   

 

 If you looked at a sample of the engine running that we do today the 25 

number of engines that are run on a daily basis vary and the types, 

some are ATRs and A320s, some are only ATRs.  So what we will end 

up doing is scheduling work on those days so that it does not exceed 

the contour and the ETMS tool will enable us to put in the aircraft type, 

the engine type, the duration of the run, the power settings to be used, 30 

and the wind direction and that will tell us the amount of noise that we 

will create in doing it. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So you already know from what you are doing at the moment 

that there are some weeks in the way you currently operate that are 35 

noisier than your average week? 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so you know that you are going to have to schedule and 40 

scale at particular times. 

 

  [3.25 pm] 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes, well, one example I could give you briefly - - - 45 
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MS DAWSON:   That is fine I think you have given me enough examples.  

You also were quite definite that if certain LAeq measurements were 

chosen and you just made a stab at what those might be because there 

has been no recommendation as to what they might be, that engine 

testing would need to be stopped certainly at night and possibly even 5 

during the day in Christchurch but are you saying that based on the dB, 

the noise level numbers, that you particularly chose or the fact that 

whatever the noise is would be measured over at an Leq over some 

time period. 

 10 

MR MORGAN:   The number that I use, the 55 and the 45, it is my 

understanding that those are the general industrial noise parameters. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so it is those numbers that cause you to say that the 

engine testing would need to be stopped? 15 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes, well, the conundrum we had was that Dr Chiles has 

recommended the type of measure but he has not actually 

recommended the number that should be attached. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, we know that. 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes, and I can assume because he is categorising it as 

industrial noise, I am assuming frankly that he will apply the industrial 

parameters and if that is the case then the Panel needs to understand 25 

what the impact of that is. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But the impact is of a choice about those industrial noise 

levels is necessarily about the way that they are measured.   

 30 

MR MORGAN:   Well, I would suggest to you that if the Standard Industrial 

Noise Levels are used, I am not an acoustic expert so I am sort of 

guessing here, Mr Day or Dr Chiles would be the appropriate person, 

but my understanding is that the Ldn criterion is a 24 hour measure. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, we have heard evidence about that. 

 

MR MORGAN:   And the 15 minute and the nine hour is too limiting and I do 

not know what number you would put with that to equal the Ldn. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   But you have not had any modelling done on any particular 

noise measurements or means of measuring that would be the basis for 

you saying - - - 

 

MR MORGAN:   On the 55 and the 45 LAeq 15 and nine hour, yes I have. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   And who has done that? 

 

MR MORGAN:   Marshall Day has done that for us. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, so we can ask Mr Day about it. 5 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is it Mr Day or Mr Peakall? 

 

MR MORGAN:   I would imagine Mr Peakall has done the work. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Who did you get the advice from? 15 

 

MR MORGAN:   Christopher Day. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   On that occasion? 

 20 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And earlier you got it from Mr Peakall? 

 

MR MORGAN:   They are interchangeable.  I quite often give a request to 25 

Mr Day. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I just want to know.  Mr Laing asked you a question.  You 

said Mr Peakall and in answer to this question you are saying Mr Day. 

 30 

MR MORGAN:    Well, Mr Peakall did the modelling on the question with 

respect to Air New Zealand’s current use.  Mr Day was requested to 

provide the information on the LAeq.   

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, that is all my questions, thank you. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I need to just clarify one thing with you, Mr Morgan, at 

the beginning, at paragraph 1.8 where you attest to complying with the 

code of conduct.  Now, I am not casting any aspersions on you, do not 

get this wrong, but I take it though the theory of your evidence, I think 40 

you answered to Mr Laing, effectively you are giving evidence for and 

on behalf of Air New Zealand as its effective representative in these 

proceedings? 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, I was interested in terms of, well, starting with that 

45 dBA and the evidence you gave expressing your concerns which 

you have just discussed again with Ms Dawson so if I was to say to you 

what about a receiving environment standard of 50, what would your 

answer be in terms of the jeopardy or otherwise it would put on the 5 

airport’s operation, on the Air New Zealand operation? 

 

MR MORGAN:   I cannot answer that, Your Honour, I am afraid.  I do not 

have the acoustic expertise to be able to do that. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, now I was interested in terms of your rebuttal at 2.6 

in discussing this with Mr Daysh and the best practicable option aspect, 

what I was intrigued by, because I had noted your sentence here refers 

to not the present location necessarily but the best practicable option 

was the construction of a concrete run pad and relocation et cetera to 15 

another airfield location and you use those words “to another airfield 

location”.   

 

  [3.30 pm] 

 20 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And in answer to Mr Daysh I think you said that the 

current location was not Air New Zealand’s preferred location? 

 25 

MR MORGAN:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So first of all I want you to look at this plan, which is 

from Dr Chiles’ evidence, and I will ask the Secretariat to provide you 

with this copy I have got which marks Mr Venema’s property and I am 30 

going to ask you to put that in front of you.  And first of all assist us by 

advising the Secretariat where was the other location that was more 

preferred by Air New Zealand, and just before you give that to me, if 

you could just indicate on the screen so counsel can see just – no, not 

you Sarah, the witness.  That is all right, if you could just give it back 35 

to Mr Morgan please. 

 

MR MORGAN:   I can describe it on the map for you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and then the Secretariat will use the little hand thing, 40 

so where should they go with the little hand? 

 

MR MORGAN:   Where you see “*87 Jessons Road”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   87 Jessons Road, okay up the top. 45 
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MR MORGAN:   Yes, just in the right hand corner, right hand side top corner.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, tell me when. 

 

MR MORGAN:   No, on the word “Jessons Road”. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Go back to the word “Jessons Road”. 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes, just to the right and up from there. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just up from there, about there? 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes, it would be about there. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, if you could bring that to me now and I will just 15 

show counsel before we go any further.  If you could show that to 

Mr Gardner-Hopkins first please, Ms Appleyard and Mr Laing.   

 

 And that location I see is significantly further away from the residential 

properties, do you know how far approximately it is? 20 

 

MR MORGAN:  No, I don’t, I haven’t measured it.  There is a couple of issues 

with it being there, this was a selection by Air New Zealand - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just, I haven’t asked you that question yet. 25 

 

MR MORGAN:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   How far is it approximately from the residents – let’s put 

it this way, where the current pad is and where that deferred location 30 

was, what is the distance more or less? 

 

MR MORGAN:   I would estimate about 1.8 kilometres if we were to draw a 

line to the closest mass of residential housing if you like. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And when Air New Zealand formed its preference for that 

location, I take it was on the presumption that the area would have the 

same treatment that would be necessary to avoid the problem about 

tarmac peeling off with a jet engine? 

 40 

MR MORGAN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So why did the airport decline that location to 

you? 

 45 

MR MORGAN:   I don’t know, sir, but I can make some assumptions. 



 Page 299 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, you were involved in the discussion? 

 

MR MORGAN:   No. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Who was? 

 

MR MORGAN:   I don’t know specifically on the Air New Zealand side, it 

was back in around 2003/2004. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You could look at the records and find out? 

 

MR MORGAN:   I most probably could find out for you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, and who on the airport side was involved? 15 

 

MR MORGAN:   I don’t know. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: So how do you know it was actually preferred by 

Air New Zealand and rejected by the airport then? 20 

 

MR MORGAN:   I have discussed it with the current management. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Of? 

 25 

MR MORGAN: Of the maintenance, Air New Zealand maintenance 

organisation. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the current manager you discussed it with, what it is 

his name or her name? 30 

 

MR MORGAN:   Mark Hobson. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So you were going to say something else before 

I got those matters answered, what was it that you were going to 35 

complete your answer on before? 

 

MR MORGAN: Acknowledging that this was the Air New Zealand 

maintenance preferred location.  My view would be that there would be 

issues with respect to obstacle limitation surfaces potentially and also, 40 

if my recollection serves me right, from observation is that there is a 

depression in the ground there and my understanding is that that has an 

effect on increasing the noise impact but to be frank I don’t know why 

the airport declined it.  Those are the things I would look at 

straightaway. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And I take it those answers are not a statement that it 

would not be practicable to put it there?  You are not suggesting it 

would be impracticable to put it there by those answers? 

 

MR MORGAN:   It could be, I don’t know for sure without doing a proper 5 

investigation but my initial look would be obstacle limitation surfaces 

may be an effect.  It may be close to the REPA or in the REPA and it 

may be inside the runway strip width and therefore a hazard. 

 

  [3.35 pm] 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And were there any other locations explored? 

 

MR MORGAN:    I don’t know. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Have you asked? 

 

MR MORGAN:   Not of the Air New Zealand maintenance people, no, and I 

haven’t asked the airport as to whether others were explored.  Looking 

at the aerodrome though those same constraints apply, if we were to 20 

look at the airport in a general sense on the north side of the main 

runway is an Aero Club facility and a grass runway, you would not put 

it in that location.  You might put it down in the, I am not sure of the 

direction here, I guess the south-western corner.   

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can you indicate approximately where that might be? 

 

MR MORGAN:   Were it says “Savills Road”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Where is says Savills Road. 30 

 

MR MORGAN:   Savills Road, if you come in, I think the airport boundary is 

the road that runs down at a diagonal and there is a square box about 

where the pointer is, close to the pointer right now, if you just come up 

a bit.  I don’t know what that facility is but you might have put one in 35 

that area there.  There would be some significant infrastructure 

requirements for there.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so you are indicating a location which looks like 

it is intersected by the 65 and either side of it we have the dotted, is it 40 

55, we have the dotted red line to one side, I am just getting it for the 

transcript, and hard red line to the other on that south-west side. 

 

MR MORGAN:   Yes, that would be a location I would evaluate. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Look finally, Mr Morgan, I will get you to just 

put an “M” beside your “X”.  At some stage, Ms Appleyard, I think we 

probably should enter this an exhibit, I can take it we can do it by 

consent? 

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Because several people are contributing evidence along 

the way.  All right, well, thank you for those answers, I will just test if 

there is any questions arising.  Mr Gardner-Hopkins? 10 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes, just - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Actually I have just realised, sorry, I may get you to 

resume your seat, I have gone the wrong way around, you would come 15 

last I think.  So we have got, Mr Marra, any questions arising? 

 

MR MARRA:   No questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Venema, any questions arising? 20 

 

MR VENEMA:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Laing? 

 25 

MR LAING:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Gardner-Hopkins? 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR GARDNER-HOPKINS [3.38 pm] 30 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Thank you.  Mr Morgan, you were asked a 

number of questions around what you gave in evidence about the best 

practicable option and including the various management practices that 

you recorded in your evidence, I think paragraph 6.6.  Perhaps just to 35 

assist the Panel, can you explain to what extent in forming your views 

and in recording those management practices you consulted within 

Air New Zealand? 

 

MR MORGAN:   I consulted with the Air New Zealand maintenance 40 

management in Christchurch about the feasibility of these options and I 

also discussed them with the person that I am accountable to in the 

corporate office in Auckland who is the head of operations support.  

And I also consulted with the regional airline general managers and 

their maintenance managers in addition to the local maintenance staff 45 

here. 
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MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Thank you.  And you were also asked a number 

of questions to understand how you had confidence in saying that the 

constrained contours presently proposed represent an improvement 

from the current situation.  Do you recall whether Marshall Day were 5 

asked to produce contours that represented current operations? 

 

MR MORGAN:   I can’t recall that Air New Zealand requested Marshall Day 

to model its current, its activity current contours and I think I am 

required to provide those to the Panel, but I am not aware whether the 10 

airport sought current contours to be modelled of the total activity. 

 

  [3.40 pm] 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And look I do just want to clarify your 15 

understanding of your role in this process in terms of, I think you have 

both stated you are giving evidence for and on behalf of Air New 

Zealand, but you have also attested to following the Code of Conduct.  

How do you view yourself and your role in these proceedings? 

 20 

MR MORGAN:   My understanding is that Air New Zealand has retained me 

to co-ordinate and represent them in dealing with this matter as an 

aviation expert. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Mr Gardner-Hopkins, it is not unsurprising for a 25 

witness to have to give evidence of this kind - - - 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - it may be over the question of independence, but I 30 

just wanted to make sure that what we were hearing from this witness 

was evidence on behalf of Air New Zealand, in other words, we knew 

that was effectively had that authority, and I understand it does from 

the answers. 

 35 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Correct.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Morgan, just finally, I will not ask you this question 

but while you are in earshot if you could just confer with Mr Gardner-

Hopkins on the timetable for providing the additional information that 40 

you indicated you could do, and Mr Gardner-Hopkins can let us know 

about that.  That would be useful. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And on that basis, thank you very much for your 

assistance, you are free to go.  If there is a need to have you back for 

any reason as a result of what we might read from those documents, let 

Mr Gardner-Hopkins know about that. 

 5 

MR MORGAN:   Yes, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.41 pm] 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Marra, I think we might have you – we are running 

significantly behind time, but we have got a long day ahead of us still, 

so I think we will have you in and we will take cross-examination after 

the afternoon break, so if you could come forward please. 15 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Can I just raise one matter while Mr Marra is coming 

forward? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   In the evidence of Mr Day, where you indicated that Mr 

Dacre would be available for questions if there were any.  No party has 

indicated that they are but I need to get on a plane tonight, if the Panel 

is likely to have questions, and I probably should have signalled before 25 

that I was going to ask you about it, but it has only occurred to me now 

as a result of the exchange we have just had, so perhaps after the 

afternoon tea break, if you could let me know whether I need to come 

here for tomorrow. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well Mr Laing may also want to think about that, and 

we will give it some thought. We obviously received a bit of 

information there and we have got more to receive, we will see what 

view we might have - - - 

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:   I mean, another way of going about it is to see how 

Mr Day goes and if we feel that there are questions he just cannot 

answer, we will have to get Mr (INDISTINCT 2.47) down. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That might be another way. 40 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   That is another way of dealing with it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but I will take the views of the Panel after the break 

anyway. 45 
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<MICHAEL HAROLD MARRA, affirmed [3.42 pm] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Have a seat Mr Marra.  Your full name is Michael Harold 

Marra? 

 

MR MARRA:   Yes, sir.  

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you have got a statement of evidence with various 

attachments. You describe a significant aviation career in your 

introduction, and your evidence is informed by that background and 

you describe your house being 1.8 kilometres away from the Number 1 

Hangar. Are there any corrections you wanted to make to your 10 

statement of evidence? 

 

MR MARRA:   No corrections, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, if you could proceed to give us a summary and 15 

after you have done that summary, we will take the afternoon recess 

which will mean you can still talk to other submitters during the break. 

 

MR MARRA:   Thank you, sir.   

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I should say you now confirm your evidence to be true 

and correct? 

 

MR MARRA:   It is true as written. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, if you could proceed. 

 

MR MARRA:   Sir, in addition to the 11 recommendations on page 15 in my 

evidence-in-chief, I add the following statement: 

 30 

 When the US dentist, Walter Palmer, shot and killed Cecil the lion last 

year in Zimbabwe, do you think he comprehended the consequences of 

his action that within a few days the conservation park where Cecil had 

lived received more than $US1 million in donations to fund research 

into lion conservation.  This was a historic moment, one the wider 35 

community grasped ensuring that the conservation industry simply did 

not go on with business as usual. 

 

  [3.45 pm] 

 40 

 When the CIAL and Air New Zealand decided to shift their engine 

testing from the threshold of Runway 11, do you think they thought of 

the consequences of moving 1.8 kilometres closer to the local 

residences?  

 45 
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 Do you think that they thought they would provide a watershed 

moment after which the CIAL could not simply go on with business as 

usual? 

 

 It is not right that the CIAL should try to retrospectively legislate and 5 

put into current law a bylaw that has not worked.  Let us not be fooled 

into thinking that the CIAL can design a bespoke noise management 

plan that is better than any other airport. We need to change the 

adversarial approach of the CIAL to a collaborative approach. By 

collaborative I mean for the CIAL to be inclusive of the community, 10 

not exclusive of the community.   

 

 We need out of this review and hearing process to have a robust, 

workable and transparent set of rules and conditions.  A watershed 

moment has been reached and after this review and hearing process it is 15 

my hope that the CIAL does not simply go on with business as usual.  

Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  We will take the afternoon recess, resume here 

at 3.55 pm. 20 

 

ADJOURNED [3.46 pm] 

 

RESUMED [3.58 pm] 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, we are obviously running a bit behind time but I 

would still be rather keen to go through what we have scheduled for 

today, but if there is anyone who needs anything rearranged – 

Ms Appleyard? 

 30 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, I am wondering whether I might assist.  I provided 

my legal submissions in writing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:   I am happy to deal with questions maybe tomorrow or the 

next day. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that would be helpful, thank you. 

 40 

MS APPLEYARD:   The three that I have got that I would definitely like to 

sort of prioritise; I have got Mr Copeland here from Wellington. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   Mr Shaw from Australia and Professor Bagchi has come 

in to do us a favour, he has been sitting there quite - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:   So it might just need a little bit of juggling around.  

Mr Boswell is staying here anyway for the duration of the hearing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Well you order them the way you see fit and we 

are ready to go with that order. 10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Okay so, now Mr Marra you have completed 

your summary I think.  Mr Laing you are going to question him? 15 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [3.59 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you.  A few questions, Mr Marra. 

 20 

 Could I have up a copy of Mr Marra’s submission 2054 please?  

Mr Marra, could you go to page 3 of that submission.  I just wanted to 

ask you about your recommendations.  In terms of the first one that the 

engine or run the test contour be contracted, that in fact has occurred 

with the revised proposal has it not?  Page 3.  Page 3, recommendation 25 

one of your original submission, there? 

 

  [4.00 pm] 

 

MR MARRA:   I am sorry.  Yes, the original bulge, Harewood bulge has to all 30 

intents and purposes been reduced. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes.  And then your recommendation number two was the 

CIAL plan, limit the power settings – which plan are you talking about 

there, it is not the District Plan is it? 35 

 

MR MARRA:   No, sir, that is the Noise Management Plan. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes.  And recommendation three, you recommend the Noise 

Plan; is that the same plan you are referring to as in two? 40 

 

MR MARRA:   Yes, sir. 

 

MR LAING:   And is that the same with four? 

 45 

MR MARRA:   Yes, sir. 
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MR LAING:   And five, on page 4. 

 

MR MARRA:   Yes, sir. 

 5 

MR LAING:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Laing.  Ms Appleyard? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [4.01 pm] 10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  Good afternoon, Mr Marra. 

 

MR MARRA:   Good afternoon. 

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   We have a plan floating around; I just wonder if you 

could indicate to us where you live? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The Plan, yes (INDISTINCT 1.44) 

 20 

MS APPLEYARD:   And if we could just get – I am sorry about the scale of 

this. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, if you could just put the initials MM I think beside 

your house, Mr Marra just so that we can track it on the transcript. 25 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So if you just want to tell us what your address is too, 

while you are doing that. 

 

MR MARRA:   35 Skydale Drive, Harewood. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, now we will see if we can bring up the scale on the 

screen to help you find it on a smaller scale plan in front of you. 

 

MR MARRA:  It has conveniently been drawn in I think, probably by 35 

Ms Appleyard.  It is a little black dot adjacent to Nunweek Park which 

is the blank area running from Harewood Road south to - - -  

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, I have not drawn anything in.   

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, but okay, you can see it. 

 

MR MARRA:   I can see it. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So Nunweek Park, is that the big blank area that we can – 

if we just find Nunweek Park for a start, somebody can wiggle the hand 

at Nunweek Park. 

 

MR MARRA:   Go left with your hand, keep going left and you will find a big 5 

blank are and go halfway down the blank area and there is a blacked 

out house on the right hand side, halfway along the park. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, can you see it there? 

 10 

MR MARRA:   Just above the hand now, it has got my name on it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right now, if you could find where that is, mark MM 

and show that to Ms Appleyard. 

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   How long have you lived there? 

 

MR MARRA:   Seven years. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  And have you ever complained to the Airport 20 

about engine testing noise? 

 

MR MARRA:   I have not. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   A similar question that Ms Dawson asked a previous 25 

submitter, have you ever woken up as a result of engine testing noise? 

 

MR MARRA:   Approximately three times a week. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You wake up? 30 

 

MR MARRA:   I, or my wife, wake up. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, and you have not taken any steps to complain about 

that? 35 

 

MR MARRA:   Not to complain, but the reason I am here is because of it. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, thank you. 

 40 

 I just want to ask you a couple of questions about your 

recommendations, and in relation to your recommendation 10, that 

CIAL offer insulation inside the 65 contour and half the cost inside the 

55 contour.  We are talking about engine testing contours here, I take 

it? 45 
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MR MARRA:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes.  Are you within the 65 or 55 constrained engine 

testing contour? 

 5 

MR MARRA:   I am not, I am in the 50. 

 

  [4.05 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:    Yes, so you would not be a party that would benefit 10 

directly from your own recommendation? 

 

MR MARRA:  No. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Over at your paragraph 21 you talk about the requirement 15 

to insulate within 65 and 55 and you talk about Auckland and you say 

firstly, that there is mitigation for residences or schools that fall within 

the 65; are you aware of how many houses currently receive noise 

levels of 65?  From operational noise, I should say? 

 20 

MR MARRA:   No, I am not aware of the total number, but I am aware of the 

number that are at the end of Harewood Road which form part of the 

Harewood bulge.  So I imagine they fall under the airport noise as well. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well, I am talking about residences that currently 25 

received 65.  If I tell you there are two houses in that category you 

would not be able to dispute that, would you? 

 

MR MARRA:   No, because I have read it – originally you had said four and 

now you say two. 30 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes.  You say here that Auckland Airport, as a result of 

the rule mitigates within 55 airport noise contour or engine noise 

contour.  Mr Day says he is not aware of any airport with a requirement 

to mitigate within 55, so where did you get your information from? 35 

 

MR MARRA:   Direct quote from the Auckland Unitary Plan. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:    Okay, so can you show me where that is in relation to the 

55 dBA in the Auckland Unitary Plan?  Is there a requirement in 40 

Auckland for the airport to pay half the costs? 

 

MR MARRA:   There is. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   At 55? 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   I see there is reference to 50 percent in (k), are you 

referring to (k) on page 10? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Sorry, sir, I didn't hear you. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am just trying to assist the witness to find the evidence.   

 

MR MARRA:   Sir, I cannot find a reference to 55.  I find a reference in my 

attachment to 60 and 65, but not 55. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  You gave a recommendation regarding a 

community liaison group; are you aware of the existing community 

liaison group? 

 

MR MARRA:   Not until recent days. 15 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Until you read Mr Boswell’s rebuttal?  Or have you read 

Mr Boswell’s rebuttal? 

 

MR MARRA:   No, I have not read Mr Boswell’s rebuttal. 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So, you will not be aware then of Mr Boswell’s evidence 

where he sets out the establishment of the Christchurch Airport 

Community Liaison Group from March 2014?  You are not aware of 

that part of his evidence? 25 

 

MR MARRA:   Yes, I have, on recollection, yes, I have read that.  It surprised 

me. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So, you were not aware of it at the time you wrote your 30 

evidence? 

 

MR MARRA:  No. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  Thank you. 35 

 

MR MARRA:   I looked it up and I still could not find it. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, I have no further questions. 

 40 

  [4.10 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Gardner-Hopkins? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR GARDNER-HOPKINS [4.00 pm] 45 
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MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes, sir, just one thing that has not been covered 

already. 

 

 Mr Marra, you helpfully set out a number of recommendations in terms 

of relief that you are asking the Panel to give.  I just want clarity on one 5 

matter; are you seeking a rule or a management package that prohibits 

night time engine testing? 

 

MR MARRA:   No, sir. 

 10 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Sorry? 

 

MR MARRA:   No, sir. 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And so do you have in your mind, what you 15 

consider to be reasonable, in terms of number and frequency of night 

time testing, that you would see a package allowing? 

 

MR MARRA:   No, sir, I do not have a number or a frequency that apply. 

 20 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   And – I think I asked another witness this – 

would it be fair to say that the constrained contours if you accept that 

they are an improvement on the current situation, would go some way 

to addressing your concerns? 

 25 

MR MARRA:   I would concede that they go some way to addressing some of 

the concerns because they are lesser but they do not address the 

difference between operational noise versus engine testing noise, nor 

the time of day. 

 30 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Yes.  Thank you, no further questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you, Mr Marra, just one question.  You refer in your 35 

evidence to the CIAL Noise Management Plan? 

 

MR MARRA:   Yes, sir. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Is that the document that Mr Boswell attaches as his 40 

attachment F to his evidence-in-chief, there is a Noise Management 

Plan, 28 March 2014 version 10? 

 

MR MARRA:   I do not have Mr Boswell’s evidence-in-chief, but I am 

familiar with the 2014 issue that you talk about. 45 
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MR DAYSH:   If you could just pull it up quickly on the screen, page 86 of 

Mr Boswell’s evidence.  So this is the title of the Noise Management 

Plan, is that the plan you refer to in your evidence? 

 

MR MARRA:   Yes, sir. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   Can we go to the next page, please? 

 

 You will see there that in terms of the tables of contents, it deals with 

city plan requirements, engine testing noise, noise complaints; so it 10 

covers all sorts of things you think a noise management plan should 

cover? 

 

MR MARRA:   Yes. 

 15 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, okay, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Marra.  You have told in answer to a question 

that you or your wife, were woken up, say, about three times a week 25 

from engine testing noise.  Is there anything else you want to tell us 

about your experience from receiving noise from engine testing? 

 

MR MARRA:   The noise from engine testing at night time when the 

background noise is very low, the perceived noise, in fact probably the 30 

measured noise, is far more significant when it is at 2 o’clock in the 

morning or 4 o’clock.  The consequence of that is that being woken up 

three times a week, it then becomes habitual and so you find you 

become, you get stuck in a cycle of always being woken up regardless 

of whether the noise is there, and that is not conducive to what would 35 

be called a normal night’s sleep, it is interrupted sleep. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean you also – your property is mapped as being within 

the 50 dB contour for the operational noise as well - - - 

 40 

MR MARRA:   Yes. 

 

  [4.15 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - and we have heard evidence that they go quite late at 45 

night, some of them - - -  
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MR MARRA:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - at midnight or even till 1.00 am in the morning.  Is there 

anything you can tell us about the different experiences between 5 

operational noise versus the engine testing noise? 

 

MR MARRA:   Yes, the difference is one of duration.  The operational noise is 

a passing noise, as in a passing truck, but engine testing noise is an 

ongoing noise that you cannot ignore. Whereas a passing noise you can 10 

get into the habit of accepting it, acknowledging it and going back to 

sleep, but you cannot do that with engine testing noise, you try and 

ignore it and then the more you try and ignore it, the more it stays and 

it goes and if it is of the duration of around an hour, which is the 

average night-time testing, then it can be debilitating. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   And I mean, what is it that means that, “you” in particular 

and I was going to say “people like you”, but “you” in particular do not 

complain, I mean I know you are here and you have acknowledged, I 

acknowledge you are here because of this very reason but you have 20 

said “no you have not complained”, I mean I am just interested in why 

people, and I can only ask you about this of course - - -  

 

MR MARRA:   Yes. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   - - - what it is that means you do not complain? 

 

MR MARRA:   I honestly cannot say, and the evidence or the research I have 

done in and around other airports the same thing applies, people do not 

complain until something happens that gives them a kick into reality 30 

that they should be complaining, or perhaps some confidence in a 

complaint system that in the local newspaper we are seen to be 

working, or into perhaps a newsletter which was seen to be working, 

might install some confidence that if I complain something will be 

done, albeit retrospectively but hopefully with some consequences it 35 

will not happen again. 

 

 But the likelihood – if there are no consequences then why will it not 

happen again? So, on that basis you sort of grin and bear it. 

 40 

 We were living near an airport – quite happy to live near an airport – I 

have been a noise generator for 46 years and now I am on the receiving 

end, there is some justice in it I suppose. 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is your testing edges – all right, thank you very much 45 

for that, Mr Marra, thank you. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Marra, I have just got – I think I have just got one 

question for you and it follows up from Mr Gardner-Hopkins’ question 

for you, would it be of significant assistance do you think, in terms of 

the noise issues that you and your wife suffer that noise levels were set 5 

at a level which meant, “While you might have to keep the windows 

closed, if you did keep them closed at night you would get a decent 

sleep”? 

 

MR MARRA:   At a personal level it would probably be acceptable because we 10 

have a triple glazed house and air conditioning, but for those who do 

not have that - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I just want to hear your personal view. 

 15 

MR MARRA:   Yes. Well, I have never measured the noise outside my house 

versus inside, but I have measured the noise up Harewood Road, in the 

middle of the night where perhaps some other Air New Zealand people 

promoting this or CIAL people promoting this perhaps have not done 

and, however, any constraint on the noise level has got to be beneficial 20 

for where we live. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well thank you for that. 

 

 Now Mr Laing any questions arising? 25 

 

MR LAING:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. Ms Appleyard? 

 30 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [4.19 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Just perhaps one question, Ms Dawson asked you a 

question about engine testing noise versus operational noise, do you 

know what level of operational noise you actually receive at the 35 

moment? 

 

  [4.20 pm] 

 

MR MARRA:   Do you mean which contour am I in?  40 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, you are in actually. 

 

  [4.20 pm] 

 45 

MR MARRA:   The - - -  
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MS APPLEYARD:   Now, not in the future.  So now do you know, if you do 

not know just give me the answer that you do not know, thank you. 

 

MR MARRA:   No, I do not. 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And similarly with engine testing noise, do you know 

how much noise you actually receive now? 

 

MR MARRA:   No, as I said to the honourable Judge, I have not measured it at 10 

my house. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  Yes. Were you given a copy of material that was 

circulated post-mediation? 

 15 

MR MARRA:   Yes I was. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And did you receive a copy of a figure M2 that showed 

actual noise received now versus what you would receive under the 

constrained contours?  Do you remember seeing document M2? 20 

 

MR MARRA:   I can remember seeing M2. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  Thank you. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Gardner-Hopkins? 

 

MR GARDNER-HOPKINS:   Nothing arising. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Well thanks very much, Mr Marra.  Thank you 30 

for coming along, taking the trouble to tell us about these things and we 

will certainly factor in your issues when we come to evaluate 

everything. 

 

MR MARRA:   Thank you, sir. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are free to go. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [4.21 pm] 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, Ms Appleyard who do you want to call through 

first?  Perhaps give us a bit of an order so we can get our files. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I think Mr Copeland.  And then maybe Professor has 

been waiting very patiently, and then we will see where we are up to 45 

after that. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, Mr Copeland first. 
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<MICHAEL CAMPBELL COPELAND, sworn [4.21 pm] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Appleyard, if you could let me know when this thing 

should be given in exhibit.  I mean if you have got other witnesses you 

wanted to use this. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I think there are another couple of submitters. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I just really wanted to get this submitter and we might be 

able to put it in a better - - - 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well we will make it part of the same exhibit if you did 

come up with something better but you let me know.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well I am conscious, I just want to get the submitter and 15 

where their houses are on it, I have got others that are coming 

tomorrow so it is probably now. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, sorry. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Ms Appleyard, is the M2 that you referred to, is that attached 

to anyone’s evidence? 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean what the existing noise levels, they, albeit modelled 

are, we keep asking about that and I could not find anything about it. 

 30 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, I was just going around looking for it.  So what we 

gave to the submitters post-mediation was the notified contours and the 

constrained ones so they could see the difference, and there was an 

explanation that the notified ones are current plus 2 dB for growth.  So 

I have asked Mr Day to bring tomorrow M2 with the minus 2 dB on it. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, that will be helpful. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  And that information has been circulated to the submitters.  

I was sure it was in the evidence somewhere but I cannot find it. 40 

 

MR DAWSON:   Thank you.  It will turn up. 

 

MR LAWRY:  Am I allowed to say something in reply to that or not?  Because 

there has been an issue over the mediation. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Well we are running considerably behind time. Is it 

something you want to think about overnight and come back to 

tomorrow? 

 

MR LAWRY:   It is very quick this is.  The point is all our group are totally 5 

against the engine testing contour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well that is a submission Mr Lawry, we will hear from 

you in due course on that. 

 10 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now I call the evidence, thanks. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [4.23 pm] 15 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Do you confirm that your full name is Michael Campbell 

Copeland? 

 

MR COPELAND:   That is correct. 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You are a consulting economist currently a director of 

Brown Copeland and Company Limited? 

 

MR COPELAND:   Correct. 25 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You have provided to the Panel a statement of evidence 

dated 17 February 2016? 

 

MR COPELAND:   Yes I have. 30 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And a statement of rebuttal evidence dated 25 February 

2016? 

 

MR COPELAND:   That is correct. 35 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Do you have any amendments you need to make to those 

documents before confirming them true and correct? 

 

MR COPELAND:   No, I do not. 40 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I will ask you to confirm them as true and correct. 

 

MR COPELAND:   I do. 

 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you. Now you have a highlights package to 

provide to the Panel. 

 

MR COPELAND:   Correct. 

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  I think there are copies circulating, hopefully 

the Panel members have them. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, we have. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you. 

 

MR COPELAND:   My name is Michael Copeland.  I have filed evidence for 

this hearing on behalf of Christchurch International Airport Limited.  In 

my evidence-in-chief I highlight the positive externalities from the 15 

future development and operation of the Christchurch International 

Airport are of such significance for Christchurch city residents and 

businesses that the Plan should include objectives, policies and rules 

which protect it from impediments to its safe and efficient future 

development and operation. 20 

 

 Tourism is currently New Zealand’s number one export earner.  As the 

primary point of entry for visitors to the South Island, Christchurch 

Airport is an important part of the national visitor economy.  Until the 

Christchurch earthquakes of 2010 and 2011 Christchurch was a popular 25 

destination with domestic visitors and international and domestic 

tertiary students.  The earthquakes disrupted those various visitor 

patterns as a consequence of damage to facilities, infrastructure, visitor 

perceptions and confidence. 

 30 

  [4.25 pm] 

 

 CIAL’s share of international visitor arrivals fell from around 22 

percent to 14 percent of the New Zealand total.  Christchurch’s share of 

the national confidence market is estimated to have fallen from around 35 

28 percent to two percent.  The South Island regional economy has lost 

an estimated $1 billion in visitor expenditure over the last four years. 

 

 It is estimated that 50 percent of visitors arriving in Christchurch arrive 

via Christchurch Airport.  Christchurch Airport is a significant 40 

contributor to a broad range of sectors of the total Christchurch 

economy, including transport, accommodation, food and beverage, 

entertainment, retail, recreational and educational sectors as well as to 

the travelling public. 

 45 
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 Christchurch International Airport has an important competitive 

advantage over other airports in Australasia in that it can operate 

uncurfewed and unrestricted as to the type of aircraft using it.  The 

ability to continue to operate 24 hours a day 365 days a year without 

restriction is important to the future recovery and growth of the 5 

Christchurch city economy. 

 

 At the Airport there are around 6000 persons employed, making it the 

largest single employment site in the South Island.  I understand that 

Air New Zealand has its own aircraft maintenance base located on 10 

Orchard Road at Christchurch International Airport, and employing 

more than 1700 engineering and administrative staff with a total salary 

and wage payments of more than $160 million per annum. 

 

 This does on wing or ground running aircraft engine maintenance and 15 

testing work for Air New Zealand and other international and domestic 

airlines flying to and from and within New Zealand. 

 

 On-wing maintenance work is required to maintain aircraft safety, 

operating efficiency and to prolong the life of the engines.  This work is 20 

required by aircraft engine manufacturers, the operator’s requirements 

and aviation law.  Because of aircraft schedules, which in turn reflect 

passenger demand, much of this ground running is done at night to fit 

in with aircraft arrival and departure times at Christchurch Airport and 

other airports throughout New Zealand and overseas. 25 

 

 

 I understand from the evidence of Mr Morgan that the restrictions that 

prevent or limit night time testing of aircraft engines would result in 

significant disruption to airline schedules, the need to increase the 30 

number of aircraft in a fleet, or increased aircraft size or possibly a 

reduction in the airline capacity at CIAL. 

 

 Christchurch International Airport Limited is part of the future 

recovery and growth of the Christchurch visitor economy, as it set itself 35 

a growth strategy out to 2025.  This strategy will significantly 

contribute to the recovery and growth of the Christchurch visitor 

economy. 

 

 I understand that the purpose of land use controls within the airport 40 

noise contours and engine testing noise contours is to prevent 

additional persons being exposed to airport noise and thereby 

preventing any increase in reverse sensitivity effects.  This will enable 

Christchurch International Airport Limited to plan the future 

development of the airport with greater certainty and with fewer 45 

impediments to optimising the efficiency of future airport operations. 
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 I understand that Christchurch International Airport Limited and Air 

New Zealand have already proposed some mitigation in order to allow 

the contours that were initially proposed for engine testing noise to be 

somewhat constrained.  Further mitigation required in respect of engine 5 

testing noise at Christchurch Airport is either impracticable or will 

impose significant additional costs on the airlines using Christchurch 

Airport and ultimately the Christchurch city economy. 

 

 Those additional costs are avoided if Christchurch International Airport 10 

Limited’s relief is adopted and the avoidance of these costs in enabling 

the future recovery and growth of the city’s economy are the benefits of 

the relief Christchurch International Airport Limited are seeking. 

 

 The costs associated with bird strike include the direct damage to 15 

aircraft and the indirect costs for airlines, airports and passengers.  

Where bird strike causes major damage to aircraft engines repair costs 

alone can be in the millions of dollars.  Christchurch International 

Airport Limited seek the retention, with some amendment, of the 

provisions within the plan that control land use within Christchurch 20 

Airport’s reapers at each end of the runways.  This is to avoid 

increasing the effects of an aircraft accident within these areas.   

 

 The measures sought by Christchurch International Airport Limited 

will impose some costs on affected landowners and users of the land 25 

whose activities may be restricted.  There are a number of factors 

which will limit the extent of the economic costs imposed. 

 

 These include the measures sought by CIAL do not seek to prevent 

existing land uses, but only seek to prevent the future establishment of 30 

new sensitive land uses in certain areas.  CIAL does not seek to prevent 

all types of land uses within the noise contours, but only sensitive land 

uses. 

 

 From a city wide perspective economic activity is not reduced or lost if 35 

CIAL’s proposed restrictions result in the transfer of activity within the 

city, rather than the loss of that activity from the city. 

 

  [4.30 pm] 

 40 

 CIAL has sought to minimise the cost impacts of the restrictions it 

seeks to reduce the bird strike and CIAL’s REPAs are substantially 

rural areas and therefore the restrictions sought on land uses within 

them do not have a major cost impact. 

 45 
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 In response to Dr Chiles’ evidence for the Christchurch City Council; 

as an economist I question whether good practice gives priority to noise 

mitigation options at source, where the costs to the community of 

mitigating noise at source are large relative to the cost of the relief 

sought by CIAL, measures such as those contained with the relief 5 

sought may be much more cost effective. 

 

 In my rebuttal evidence I respond mainly to Mr Lawry’s evidence and 

state: CIAL, Air New Zealand and other airline operators are proposing 

various at source mitigation measures to reduce noise effects from 10 

engine testing.  Any additional measures requiring greater at source 

mitigation are either of questionable effectiveness and/or extremely 

costly to CIAL, users of Christchurch International Airport and the 

wider Christchurch City economy. 

 15 

 Despite operational curfews being imposed at other airports in 

New Zealand and elsewhere around the world, to impose an operational 

curfew at the Christchurch International Airport would impose 

significant additional economic costs on the residents and businesses of 

Christchurch City, the South Island and New Zealand. 20 

 

 Mitigation at source of adverse noise effects should not take 

precedence over land use controls within the airport engine testing 

noise contours.  For significant infrastructure, e.g.  Transpower’s 

National Grid, seaports and airports there are substantial economic 25 

benefits from enabling that infrastructure to be developed and operated 

safely and efficiently.  The costs arising from land use controls within 

the airport engine testing noise contour sought by CIAL are limited 

from a Christchurch City perspective. 

 30 

 I believe that the relief sought by CIAL is consistent with enabling 

people and communities to provide for their economic wellbeing, the 

efficient use and development of resources and the recovery and future 

growth of Christchurch City. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Laing? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [4.32 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Mr Copeland, can I go to paragraph 22 of your evidence-in-40 

chief please. 

 

 You say there that, “An essential first step when carrying out an 

evaluation of the positive and negative economic effects of the 

proposed District Plan is to find the appropriate viewpoint that is to be 45 

adopted” – do I take from that sentence that you would agree that you 
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must look at and try to assess both the cost, the positive and negative 

economic effects, and is that what your evidence is attempting to 

achieve? 

 

MR COPELAND:   Yes. 5 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Laing, I might just get you to move across a bit just to 

make sure that microphone is - - - 10 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you, sir. 

 

 Then going on to paragraph 25 you say there “Externalities arise 

because the actions of individuals or firms sometimes create positive or 15 

negative impacts on others”, do you see that? 

 

MR COPELAND:   Yes, I do. 

 

MR LAING:   And then in 26, the first sentence: “In the case of CIA there are 20 

both positive and negative externalities arising from its ongoing 

development and operations” – and then over to 27 on page 5 you say 

that: “There are potential negative externalities arising from CIA’s 

activities in particular noise effects and these are discussed the 

evidence of Mr Day” – and then over on to paragraph 30, the last 25 

sentence, “The noise effects of relief sought by CIA are discussed in 

the evidence of Mr Day”.   

 

 Is there anywhere in your evidence where you attempt to assess the 

costs of the disbenefits caused by noise effects? 30 

 

MR COPELAND:   No, there is not for the reason that I have set out in that 

section on intangible effects that – or two reasons. 

 

 Firstly I think that the attempts that are made to do that in dollar terms 35 

are usually fraught with controversy, if you like, and therefore you 

have already done a shift – you have shifted the level of uncertainty 

somewhere else.  And, secondly, I believe there is always a danger of 

double counting and that there other experts, for example Mr Day and 

others, Mr Chiles, who will be dealing with those and for me to do it 40 

within an economic framework could potentially lead to double 

counting. 

 

  [4.35 pm] 

 45 
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MR LAING:   So really are we then to take it that your evidence provides a one 

sided view as to the costs and benefits; is that correct? 

 

MR COPELAND:   Largely although I do talk in my evidence as to why I 

believe from a city-wide perspective the costs of land use controls is 5 

minimised. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, we will come on to that, but can I now go over to 

paragraph, I think it is 77 – I am sorry, paragraph 55.  So do I 

understand that is what you understand that the Airport Company is 10 

seeking by way of relief; that must be correct? 

 

MR COPELAND:   That is my understanding. 

 

MR LAING:   Have you looked at the Council’s revised proposal of 4 March 15 

2016? 

 

MR COPELAND:   I don’t believe I have looked at that specifically. 

 

MR LAING:   No, okay.  Have you looked at Mr Bonis’ revised proposal, 20 

which is contained in his evidence-in-chief, and I will just ask this be 

brought up – Mr Bonis’ evidence-in-chief, paragraph 87. 

 

MR COPELAND:   The question is have I looked at it, and the answer is no, 

but I will look at it now if you wish me to. 25 

 

MR LAING:   Well, there it is there, so you haven’t seen that before? 

 

MR COPELAND:   No. 

 30 

MR LAING:   So your evidence is not based on what Mr Bonis is now 

proposing - - - 

 

MR COPELAND:   Sorry - - - 

 35 

MR LAING:   - - - by way of relief, is it? 

 

MR COPELAND:   I have had this explained, I didn’t read, I probably 

finalised my evidence before Mr Bonis finalised his evidence but I 

have had this particular aspect explained to me; this 2 dB exceedance 40 

when there is exceptional circumstances and I think I have referred to 

that in my evidence-in-chief, do you wish me to find it? 

 

MR LAING:   No, that is all right.  Just in fairness can you look at also 

paragraph 97 of Mr Bonis’ evidence-in-chief, which is relating to 45 

engine testing – and I take it you have not seen that either? 



 Page 327 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

 

MR COPELAND:   No, but I have discussed this with Mr Bonis and others 

before his evidence was prepared and had it explained to me and I am 

pretty certain I can find it in my evidence if you wish, in my evidence-

in-chief, I have talked about this allowance for when there are such 5 

things as volcanic eruptions or a need to, aircraft engine manufacturers 

put out a special requirement for urgent maintenance checks because of 

a particular flaw has been found and so forth. 

 

 So I am familiar with the general context, albeit I have not read through 10 

the various versions within the Plan, or put up by Mr Bonis. 

 

MR LAING:   So just so I understand your evidence; did you do an evaluation 

between the costs and benefits of the rules that the Council put forward 

in its revised proposal and those which are now proposed by Mr Bonis? 15 

 

MR COPELAND:   I - - - 

 

MR LAING:   The marginal costs and benefits, did you do that exercise, 

Mr Copeland? 20 

 

MR COPELAND:   No, my evidence was predicated on the basis of the relief 

that the Airport Company was seeking. 

 

MR LAING:   And that is all? 25 

 

MR COPELAND:   That is correct. 

 

MR LAING:   So you can’t tell me the difference in the costs or the benefit of 

the Council’s revised rules and the Airport Company’s proposal? 30 

 

MR COPELAND:   No, I couldn’t as I see, no.  Nor do I have quantitative 

assessment of even the relief which the Airport Company is seeking, I 

have explained in qualitative terms the significance of the airport and 

the implications of tighter controls up on them. 35 

 

  [4.40 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, you have not done any marginal cost benefit analysis 

between the two sets of numbers? 40 

 

MR COPELAND:   No, that is correct. 

 

MR LAING:   Going to paragraph 84 of your evidence-in-chief, you say the 

economic costs associated with the relief sough CIAL, are not likely to 45 



 Page 328 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

be significant; where can I find your assessment of that in your 

evidence? 

 

MR COPELAND:   It would be in my paragraph 73. 

 5 

MR LAING:   There is no attempt to cost those impacts is there, in your 

evidence? 

 

MR COPELAND:   In dollar terms, no. 

 10 

MR LAING:   No. 

 

MR COPELAND:   Just because it is not quantified in dollar terms, 

(INDISTINCT 0.57). 

 15 

MR LAING:   To be frank, Mr Copeland, you are just putting your finger in the 

air, aren’t you? 

 

MR COPELAND:   No, I do not think so.  My understanding of the Resource 

Management Act is that just because something is not quantified in 20 

dollar terms does not mean to say it should be necessarily dismissed. 

 

 And I have set out there why I believe from a Christchurch City 

perspective, the costs of the relief are not large and certainly not large 

relative to – and major steps were taken to reduce the efficiency or safe 25 

operation of the Christchurch Airport which I regard as significant 

infrastructure. 

 

MR LAING:   Just to clarify, you have made no attempt to quantify the cost 

imposed on residents by adverse noise effects, have you? 30 

 

MR COPELAND:   No I have not, no, but as I have said – as you referred me 

to earlier in my paragraphs covering the area of intangibles, that I 

regard that to be more appropriately done by appropriately qualified 

noise experts and this Panel here will consider the economic arguments 35 

I have put up and the technical information about noise effects in 

coming to its judgement.  They make that judgement, not me. 

 

MR LAING:   Isn’t one measure of the impact on residents, the cost of putting 

into place mitigation measures for those residents by way of noise 40 

insulation? 

 

MR COPELAND:   It could be a partial measure. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, but you have not costed that, have you? 45 
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MR COPELAND:   No, I have not, no. 

 

MR LAING:   No, thank you. 

 

MR COPELAND:   But I do not think that that in itself would be a full 5 

measure of the cost and I believe that it is more appropriately handled 

by a proper noise expert. 

 

MR LAING:   But that is one way of at least partially accounting for those 

costs, is it not? 10 

 

MR COPELAND:   It could be, I would suggest probably a minimum cost. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, and what about in some other ways, can you think of any 

other ways? 15 

 

MR COPELAND:   Well, Mr Lawry in his evidence, refers to the 

(INDISTINCT 2.49) technique is to try and assess house price 

differences of those equivalent houses in an aircraft noise path, versus 

an equivalent house which is not, and you try and assess the difference 20 

between those two house values. 

 

 And my criticism of that approach is that it is extremely difficult to get 

proper comparisons and all that you generally do is end up having an 

argument about whether the figures are correct otherwise. 25 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, but it is a measure, is it not, of the costs imposed on 

residents? 

 

MR COPELAND:   It would be a measure, yes, but it would not be the end of 30 

the story in my opinion. 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Daysh? 35 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you, Mr Copeland.  Can I ask you a question about 

paragraph 11 of your evidence-in-chief, please. 

 

 You talk about the relief sought by the Airport Company, “will 40 

facilitate improvements to the operational efficiency and safety of the 

airport.”  What exactly are you referring to there? 

 

MR COPELAND:   I guess, well, in terms of operational efficiency to the 

extent that reverse sensitivity issues are not impinging on their 45 
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activities.  I would suggest that it would enable things - to be able to 

plan with greater certainty. 

 

 So that would be the sorts of efficiency improvements I would see 

there. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   And the safety? 

 

MR COPELAND:   Well, in terms of the bird strike issues, in terms of the 

REPA issues, obviously they have safety implications.   10 

 

MR DAYSH:   You give us evidence that it will also improve the health and 

safety of Christchurch residents.  Are you an expert in health and 

safety? 

 15 

MR COPELAND:   I have done some work in road safety, economics and so 

forth, so I have some familiar with it.  If there were fewer aircraft 

accidents, I would say there would be a saving in accident costs, that 

has economic dimension, so I guess I have some aptitude in that area, 

but I- - - 20 

 

  [4.45 pm] 

 

MR DAYSH:   That is a very firm statement, “It will also improve the health 

and safety of Christchurch residents”.   25 

 

MR COPELAND:   Well I mean it is stealing from the section 52 and as I say, 

I would have thought any action which reduces the number of aircraft 

accidents will improve the safety of either those in the aircraft or 

maybe those people who happen to be on the ground. 30 

 

MR DAYSH:   So you are referring to the aircraft safety, peoples’ health and 

safety in terms of the aircraft? 

 

MR COPELAND:   I would have thought that was an aspect of it. 35 

 

MR DAYSH:   So you have not considered the health effects Dr Chiles talks 

about in terms of noise which is (INDISTINCT 0.40) 

 

MR COPELAND:   That would be on the other side of the ledge, that is 40 

correct. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So did you consider and weigh those two aspects when you 

have given us your independent expert evidence? 

 45 

MR COPELAND:   No I have not weighed those there, no. 
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MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you.  In paragraph 63 on page 12 of your 

evidence-in-chief, you make a statement that tightening or further 

restrictions on engine testing noise at CIA is either impractical or will 

impose significant additional costs on airlines.  So what empirical 5 

evidence do you base that conclusion on? 

 

MR COPELAND:   It was based on my discussions with Mr Morgan. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What evidence?  What evidence is it based on? 10 

 

MR COPELAND:   Well that is the extent of it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But sorry the evidence, what it is based on in terms of the 

evidence before the Panel? 15 

 

MR COPELAND:   Well I have, as I have said here, I have cross-referred to 

Mr Morgan’s evidence and I have also set out in the very sub-

paragraphs the types of additional costs and why they would occur.  So 

that is the logical linkages as to why there would be additional costs for 20 

the airlines or for CIAL which in turn would be passed on to 

Christchurch City residents. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So what I am trying to get is what is your expertise in making 

those statements?  How is that assisting us to make a determination 25 

about different approaches, if you have got no factual evidence or any 

numbers or any costs or any analysis? 

 

MR COPELAND:   Well, for me there were a number of statements in the 

various sub-paragraphs which I think logically follow.  If for example 30 

Christchurch was to lose its ability to do engine testing, it seems to me 

that it needs to be set out that that would mean that that engine testing 

would still need to be done, it cannot just simply be not done.  It 

therefore means it has to be done at a second choice location and for 

example if it done for the South Island in Nelson, if it is possible, or in 35 

Queenstown for example, then clearly from Air New Zealand’s 

perspective that is a less preferred location than Christchurch is.  So I 

believe that would add costs to the airline and I think it flows from the 

statements I have made there. 

 40 

MR DAYSH:   So just a general statement it would add costs, that is all you 

can give us? 

 

MR COPELAND:   Well to an economist, if you add costs to achieve the same 

ends it is less efficient.  And I believe that under the RMA that is one 45 

of the issues that you grapple with. 
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MR DAYSH:   Are you, as an economist, have you had experience looking at 

costs and benefits in relation to section 32 of the Resource 

Management Act? 

 5 

MR COPELAND:   A little, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So have you actually prepared or been involved in a section 32 

analysis or evaluation? 

 10 

MR COPELAND:   Yes, I have and I am aware there are many times there that 

things are not quantified and where they are quantified it is debatable 

how accurate those quantifications are.  For example the national 

policy for transmission, I have looked through the section 32 type 

analyses and the dollar figures that were thrown up there.  But I do not 15 

know that I would necessarily bank my house on them. 

 

MR DAYSH:  So could you explain what context you have prepared section 32 

analyses in? 

 20 

MR COPELAND:   I have looked, I am familiar with their preparation and I 

also was involved in sort of a multi-criteria analysis type thing when 

they were developing one with respect to fresh water. 

 

  [4.50 pm] 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   But you are aware our job is to look at different plan 

provisions, objectives, policies, rules, and look at costs and benefits as 

said under Section 32 and Section 32AA, as an economist you are 

aware of that? 30 

 

MR COPELAND:   I am, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes.  Have you been involved in any BPO analysis which again 

has costs and feasibility and - - - 35 

 

MR COPELAND:   Sorry, BPO? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Best practicable option – were you here when we talked about 

it on the screen earlier on? 40 

 

MR COPELAND:   I did hear you discuss that. 

 

MR DAYSH:   You have never been involved in that type of evaluation? 

 45 
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MR COPELAND:   Well as I said before I have been involved in, for example, 

multi-criterial analysis type exercises and I have been involved in one 

of those – well, in a road into Nelson where different experts sit in a 

room for a day and derive different criteria and give them weights and 

so forth and it is not to dissimilar to the sort of exercise that you 5 

yourselves have to do eventually. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Do you think that is a useful approach to get experts in the 

room with different skills and look at costs and benefits and options? 

 10 

MR COPELAND:   Yes, I do and in a similar sort of way that is what you are 

doing here; taking my evidence and Mr Days’ evidence and Dr Chiles’ 

evidence and others but no signal expert is necessarily quantifying 

everything and all the terms and nor is any single expert saying the 

answer is “x”, having done the waiting in different criteria and so forth 15 

for you.   

 

MR DAYSH:   Right. 

 

MR COPELAND:   The other comment I would make is with respect to those 20 

types of exercises, when people do quantifiable, do it in five colours or 

they put in weights and then give, marks a score, a cynic might say 

figures can lie and lies can figure, you know, you can sometimes get 

the answers you really wanted by putting in the appropriate weights 

and so forth so even if you have got a quantitative across the criteria or 25 

provided these you often end up just debating about what the 

appropriate weight should be.   

 

 The last point I make is those sort of exercises, in my opinion, regularly 

have an element of doubt counting.   30 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 35 

MS HURIA:   None from me, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Copeland.  You said at the end of your 40 

summary that – and you are talking about additional mitigation 

methods and mitigation at source of adverse effects should not take 

precedence over land use controls within the airport and the engine 

testing contours. 

 45 
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 So Mr Laing has asked you about the costing of the land use controls 

that is – and I think it is 73.2 you talk about expanded or new 

residential activities, controls on educational facilities, stormwater 

management. 

 5 

 You say those costs are not likely to be significant.  So although I know 

you have said that you have not done a full costing of that, have you 

done any evaluation of the extent of the areas of the city where certain 

uses that might previously have been allowed would not now be 

allowed with these additional land use controls in order to base your 10 

“this will not be significant” statement? 

 

MR COPELAND:   My understanding, and maybe it has been explained to me 

incorrectly, but my understanding is that the engine testing noise 

contour has been brought back in so it now fits in with the operational 15 

noise contour. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but your statement was not just to do with engine testing 

noise contours, was it? 

 20 

MR COPELAND:   It was for the relief in total, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, it was the relief in total which is the bird strike contours, 

the operational contours and the constrained engine testing contours.  

The bundle of the land use controls that go on all sorts of properties 25 

whether they are residential, rural, commercial - - - 

 

MR COPELAND:   No, no, I have not gone and added up the numbers of 

properties affected and so forth but I am setting up some reasons as to 

why I do not believe in the context of significant infrastructure versus 30 

putting constraints on the airport; I do not believe that the cost, from a 

city-wide perspective, are significant. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So you have said that the cost to the airport of having to be 

constrained would be significant? 35 

 

MR COPELAND:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But you said that the cost of the restraints that the airport 

seeks to put on other properties would not be significant, or just not as 40 

significant? 

 

  [4.55 pm] 

 

MR COPELAND:   Certainly not as significant. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   But that is not the same as saying they are not significant in 

their own right. 

 

MR COPELAND:   No, no, but I have given reasons as to why they are 

diminished if you like. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Where have you - - -  

 

MR COPELAND:  Sorry, in my evidence-in-chief, I think it was paragraph 73. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   73, well that is where I am looking at.  You are saying they 

do not seek to prevent all types of land use. 

 

MR COPELAND:   And what I hopefully prefaced in my summary, when I say 

from a city-wide perspective, because one of the points I am making is 15 

that from a city-wide perspective if a certain activity does not occur at 

one place but occurs somewhere else then the only cost is the extent to 

which it is more expensive or less efficient to be displaced somewhere 

else. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so you are not saying it is not significant to those that 

might have previously been able to do something on their 

(INDISTINCT 0.58) 

 

MR COPELAND:   I can certainly see from an individual’s perspective that it 25 

is quite significant. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Or even groups of individuals in the area. 

 

MR COPELAND:   Sure, certainly, yes. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  When you are talking about mitigation at source 

should not take precedence over land use controls so that is what we 

have just been talking about.  But the other side of the coin here, and 

this is just in relation to engine testing, is that mitigation at source 35 

could have benefits, in other words reduced cost, less costs, to those 

people who are experiencing noise that either they or in Mr Chiles’s 

case, Mr Chiles thinks is unacceptable or unreasonable.   

 

 And you have given your reasons for not trying to cost those and you 40 

say those are addressed by Mr Day, the costs of not further restricting 

engine testing is covered by (INDSITINCT 2.02) - - - 

 

MR COPELAND:   Well the acceptability or otherwise from a public health 

point of view. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   And have you read Mr Day’s evidence as to whether he does 

cover from a public health, sleep disturbance, amenity point of view the 

acceptability of the noise that would be experienced (INDISTINCT 

2.19) 

 5 

MR COPELAND:   No, I just was aware that he is covering the technical 

evidence from Christchurch residents point of view. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so you know he is covering noise. 

 10 

MR COPELAND:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But do you know that he actually covered the costs to 

individuals of the noise? 

 15 

MR COPELAND:   I do now know that he does, not, no, no. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right. 

 

MR COPELAND:   But my challenge to Mr Chiles was more on the phrase he 20 

used which says that good practice requires just to go to noise at 

source.  Almost it implies as though it takes precedence, over all else - - 

-  

 

MS DAWSON:   All right - - -  25 

 

MR COPELAND:   - - - and I am just simply saying that as an economist I 

believe your role is not to take one factor and regard it as taking 

precedence over the others. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   But even if it, yes, but as an economist is it conceivable that 

the costs in terms of health and amenity on individuals from receiving 

noise could be greater than the cost of mitigating at source? 

 

MR COPELAND:   It could be conceivable, yes. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so it is not that it is always going to be one way or the 

other. 

 

MR COPELAND:   No, and if this Panel thinks that $10 million, firstly if it 40 

accepts evidence which says that this ground testing enclosure is 

affected and my understanding from Mr Morgan’s evidence is that he 

questions whether it indeed will be affected, but if it is acceptably 

affected and it has a cost of $10 million and it has additional annual 

operating costs of $1 million and you look at that and you get the 45 

measure of that in dollar terms, I do not suggest you actually try and 
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cost out the noise effects of people but if you want you could say what 

is the cost of insulating all those houses that are affected, you could do 

that straight off and then perhaps you could then argue about who pays. 

 

 Or alternatively how about you make the Airport buy those houses?  5 

But if insulation or buying the houses is not an option you simply turn 

around the extreme and say I believe good practice is to say you just 

have to mitigate the source.  The only way to do it is for people to walk 

and take ships.  The growth we were hoping for for the Christchurch 

recovery is we want them to come - - -  10 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is quite an extreme. 

 

MR COPELAND:   It is an extreme so therefore, to me - - - 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   We are looking at I do not know how many people, we have 

not been given the information yet about how many people are affected 

by what noise at the moment and I am just going to potentially come 

back a wee bit from that but it is definitely in the hundreds or 

thousands.  It is not in the tens of thousands probably but it is not in the 20 

tens either.  

 

  [5.00 pm] 

 

 And for example at 63.5 you say Air New Zealand has estimated that it 25 

will cost between $1 million - $2 million if some or all aircraft engine 

testing was shifted to the western side of the Airport. 

 

 Now, I mean I know that is just a cost that you have been able to put on 

one aspect of it, and it is an option, but I mean $1 million - $2 million 30 

versus say 1,000 people waking up every night, I mean that is a 

possibility that those, that it is not one of those costs that yells out to 

you clearly that is the way to go.  There is something to balance up 

there from an economist’s point of view.   

 35 

MR COPELAND:   Well yes, as I say, if shifting across is effective and that is 

a cost and again listening to Mr Morgan this afternoon, if there are no 

safety issues associated with relocating, and then you compare that on 

the other hand with the number of houses affected and then you do the 

assessment and what Mr Day says is, or what Dr Chiles says is 40 

acceptable and so forth, and there are public health issues, then that I 

believe is the balancing job you do. 

 

 I just do not think, because I am an economist if I start doing it I think I 

am arrogant. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   But then you do come to these very firm conclusions, and 

you say that “the relief sought will provide for the economic and social 

wellbeing and health and safety of the people and communities of 

Christchurch”.   

 5 

MR COPELAND:   Well, I think it - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   It is going to be efficient. 

 

MR COPELAND:   Well I think, yes, well okay, yes. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean what I am saying is that okay, from what you have 

done you might come to that conclusion, but I am saying to you, as an 

economist do you see it not being beyond the realms of possibility that 

there is something to be weighed off on either side here? 15 

 

MR COPELAND:   I certainly do, and I am sorry to do the hospital pass but I 

see it that is your task to do the weighing. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes well - - - 20 

 

MR COPELAND:   And I apologise if my conclusions are too strong, but I 

have drawn those on the basis of the things that I have assessed, and I 

have said right at the outset that I have not assessed the noise impacts 

on individual people.  I believe that is in Mr Day’s evidence, and on the 25 

other side Dr Chiles. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much Mr Copeland. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Copeland, I think almost everything has 30 

been covered off.  Just on that last matter and somewhat in your 

defence, in paragraph 80, I think your conclusion there about the 

significant economic costs and putting at risk the recovery and growth 

of Christchurch is footnoted, and that footnote is your foundation, and 

that refers to Mr Morgan’s evidence. 35 

 

MR COPELAND:   Certainly. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right.  I have just got one other question for you, and it 

does rely on me just telling a little bit of a story first.  So the evidence 40 

we have received over our enquiry included the evidence we received 

for the Residential chapter, and you gave evidence there, but the 

evidence from Mr Day there explained the rationale for the 50 contour.  

And I think it comes up again in his statement now that it relates to two 

dynamics. 45 
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 One is it mitigates against the amenity impacts of present and future 

residents of Christchurch by having noise sensitive activities managed 

in a way.  And related to that it has a benefit perceived and indeed 

supported by findings in our Residential Decision, and in the RPS for 

protecting the Airport from reverse sensitivity risk. 5 

 

 Now, if we drill into that reverse sensitivity risk thing for a moment it 

really is a type of risk that the Airport’s operation could come under 

future scrutiny and challenge, for instance resulting in a curfew.  Is that 

how you understand it? 10 

 

MR COPELAND:   I certainly do, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So thinking about all that, if we think about the engine 

noise, and we think about the number of residents that are existing 15 

residents in that environment, not new residents, but existing sensitive 

activities, they, if they are experiencing noise, which in a nuisance 

sense for them is beyond reasonable, in other words unreasonable, 

impacting their amenity or worse still impacting their ability to sleep, 

that would in a sense in my mind put at risk that strategic value of the 20 

airport going forward, in other words pose a form of challenge risk, or 

future scrutiny risk for the Airport.  Do you agree with that? 

 

  [5.05 pm] 

 25 

MR COPELAND:   Yes, I do, arguably no greater than as at present, and what 

the airports trying to protect is for that pressure to get greater by adding 

more people and, you know more dense population and so forth in 

there. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but we have got evidence for instance from 

Dr Chiles who reports to us his concern; firstly scaling that in number 

terms, I think he put it in the hundreds, characterising it in noise impact 

terms saying it has a sleep disturbance associated with it in terms of 

risk, and I think both he and Mr Day both caution us about drawing any 35 

strong conclusions on risk associated with the level of complaint, do 

you understand that? 

 

MR COPELAND:   Yes. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So in other words they are saying, “Do not come to an 

assumption that just because there are not many complaints there is not 

risk”. 

 

 So if we look at that foundation evidence, I think I hear you say that, 45 

depending on what we say – whether we accept that evidence and if we 
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were to accept that evidence, we would have to consider the contingent 

risk to the airport as a strategic asset going forward. 

 

MR COPELAND:   That is correct, but that is why I tried in summary to allude 

also to the Transpower situation - - -  5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR COPELAND:   - - - where again they do not seek to remove “under build”, 

but they seek remove “new under build” or increase the size of your 10 

floor plate and so forth. 

 

 So, you know, I would have thought in those instance, Transpower and 

also the Airport Company will be – it has to assess the extra costs for it 

and the ability for it to reduce more noise at source, to try and 15 

somehow rather get down the risk of reverse sensitivity complaints - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so there is a balance to get right. 

 

MR COPELAND:   - - - and it has to get it right now, and just like you, but it is 20 

also doing that, and as I understand it, they have looked at what they 

can do and they pulled their horns and a bit, compared to the current 

situation in terms of bringing the engine testing noise contour into fit 

within the operational noise contour, and then they say it is a too bigger 

threshold step in terms of additional costs or impractically aspects if 25 

you like, and that again must - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that does focus the question before this Panel, does it 

not, in terms of, “Are we satisfied that enough testing has not been 

done on the question of practicability, to know where to draw the line?” 30 

  

 

MR COPELAND:   But for this – but for your Panel - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you agree with that? 35 

 

MR COPELAND:   - - - I would have thought, as you have outlined it, there is 

a bit of a comforting thought going forward as this new technology and 

new practices so forth, that the Airport Company and Air New Zealand 

themselves, have an in-built desire to reduce the risk of reverse 40 

sensitivity effects even from existing residents within the contours. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well will continue to ask questions about that. 

 

MR COPELAND:   Yes. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Now any questions arising, Mr Laing? 

 

MR LAING:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any re-examination, Ms Appleyard? 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Thank you very much for your assistance, 

Mr Copeland and you are free to go, if there are any further assistance 10 

we need we will let counsel know. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [5.08 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, Professor Bagchi? 15 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay. 

 20 
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<SOMNATH SAKA BAGCHI, sworn [5.08 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [5.09 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, do you confirm – you will have to forgive me 

for my pronunciation, if you can correct me – confirm that you are 

Professor Somnath Saka Bagchi? 5 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   How did I do? 

 10 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  And by profession you are academic, serving 

as a global distinguished professor? 

 15 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You have actually previously appeared before the Panel 

as a submitter in your own right – well not in your right, on behalf of 

the Avonhead Group, have you not? 20 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes.  You have provided on this occasion rebuttal 

evidence dated 8 March 2016? 25 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   7 March. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Sorry, 7 March, and can I ask you to confirm that that it is 

true and correct to the best of your knowledge? 30 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  Do you have a summary? 

 35 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, if you just provide that to the Panel thank 

you. 

 40 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Good afternoon. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Kia ora. 

 

  [5.10 pm] 45 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   I am the Chairman of the Avonhead Community 

Group, what is known as ACG.  It is voluntary, not for profit, residents 

organisation registered under the Incorporated Societies Act 1908.  We 

represent over 8,000 households in the north-west of Christchurch in 

the area contained within Russley Road, Memorial Avenue, Waimairi 5 

Road and Yaldhurst Road. 

 

 The ACG has approximately 2,000 individual financial members and 

associate members who are corporate bodies, including Christchurch 

International Airport.  The membership involves uniform fees of (ph 10 

0.46). 

 

 The community represented by the ACG is situated next to the airport 

and falls directly under the flight path (INDISTINCT 0.55) safe and 

efficient operation is in the community’s best interest. 15 

 

 The ACG agrees with CIAL that night time engine testing is necessary 

for the airport’s safe operation.  The ACG also supports the relief 

sought by CIAL to minimise bird strike issues and the strict activities 

within the runway end protection area, REPA, and the airport 20 

protection surfaces. 

 

 The ACG has to date not received any complaints from residents within 

our boundaries about the airport noise.  Residents have informed us in 

meetings that they have encountered the sound of engine testing at 25 

night, but do not consider it to be a problem.  The general view among 

the residents in our area, is that they knew when they bought their 

property in the locality, that they would be next to an airport and were 

prepared to put up with the noise. 

 30 

 The ACG has found CIAL to be a good neighbour in the sense that it 

has been transparent in its communication with the community about 

its projects and priorities.  CIAL has also made genuine attempts to 

listen to the community’s concerns.  Since 2014, the ACG is part of the 

Christchurch Airport Community Liaison Group which provides a 35 

forum to learn more about the airport’s operation. 

 

 The Airport Liaison Committee of the Airport Liaison Group holds 

regular meetings each of which is attended by a representative of the 

ACG. 40 

 

 Thank you, and I am happy to answer questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, I will just get the Secretariat’s attention. 

 45 

 So Mr Venema, proceed when you are ready. 
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<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR VENEMA [5.13 pm] 

 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you and good afternoon Professor Bagchi, is it? 

 5 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If you just make sure you speak, you can hear yourself in 

that microphone, it is quite sensitive. 

 10 

MR VENEMA:   Okay, I will give that a try.  Professor, who approached you 

to give evidence? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Nobody approached us. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Who asked you? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Who asked you to give evidence today? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   No, it was voluntary. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Who asked you to give evidence? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   We have been following the whole Panel’s 

proceedings and we entered when we found that there were a lot of 25 

misconceptions going about CIAL, then we decided to come with our 

evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The question is relevant in the sense, Professor, that you 

do not have a separate submission to be heard on this matter but you 30 

are part of the airport’s case? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So on that basis, if you could just answer the question 35 

please. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   So nobody has approached us, it was our decision. 

 

MR VENEMA:   When did you make that decision? 40 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sometime in late February. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Of this year? 

 45 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, when we went through all the submissions, 

went through the issues, then we decided. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Do you represent yourself or the group, Avonhead 

Community Group? 5 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   No, it is not, I am chairman of the Avonhead 

Community Group so I am here in that capacity. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Professor, if you can just direct your answer into the 10 

microphone and then by that, you are directing them to us? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, sir, right, sir. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Who did you personally canvas, consult or contact or inform 15 

regarding engine testing noise at the Christchurch International 

Airport? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, as for these particular words like canvas, 

campaigned; nobody has canvassed, nobody has campaigned, nobody 20 

has influenced us.  We also listened the engine testing noise, but it is 

the question of our area is not in that 65 decibel, it is 50.  A very small 

area is 55.  People have accepted that engine testing noise is a part of 

life in this area.   

 25 

  [5.15 pm] 

 

 So nobody has canvassed, nobody has campaigned, nobody has 

influenced us to take this decision. 

 30 

MR VENEMA:   Was that the engine testing originally advised contours or are 

you talking the air noise contours when you mention the 65, 55 and 50? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   I was not the engine testing contours, it is on the 

other noise contour, but still we get engine testing noise. 35 

 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you.  So outside the engine testing contour is your 

group? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 40 

 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you.  I have seen on the website for the Avonhead 

Community Group postings for various meetings way back until, in 

fact I have searched for information even further back than 2013.  

There does not seem to be any mention at all of airport noise let alone 45 
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engine testing noise, yet you say you have consulted; could you explain 

that? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes.  Whatever you have seen in our website we 

were more and more concerned with the NWR3, traffic issues and all 5 

other issues.  Basically this whole group was born to deal with NWR3 

issues. 

 

 Engine testing was discussed in our meeting; we had three public 

meetings in 2013, 2014 two, 2015 two, and this year also we are going 10 

to call, so in our public meeting we get to know our community’s view, 

their interest, their concern plus we receive email almost on a weekly 

basis on an average of 10 to 15 emails in a week. 

 

 We have never had any concern and the question what you had asked 15 

me, sir, I will take one more minute to address it, like who has 

prompted us?  We had requested the community that if they have any 

concern about engine testing they are free to put their submission.  That 

is why we did not submit as Avonhead Community Group, we left it to 

the community members.  And if you look at the list of submitters, sir, 20 

you will not find a single submitter who has expressed their concern 

from this boundary which is with the Avonhead Community Group, 

except one gentleman, he was submitter number I think 302 = 

302 Russley Road who is one of the landowners but he did not come 

forward with any evidence. 25 

 

MR VENEMA:   So that group that you are representing, not only being 

outside the engine testing contours, they are also unaffected by these 

proposed rules, is that correct? 

 30 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   I beg your pardon, I could not follow your question 

please. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Say it again, did you say? 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is the group that you are representing outside of the 

contours and unaffected by the engine testing rules, is that right? 

 

MR VENEMA:   But he had answered it they are outside the contour rules.   

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that the question?  Have you answered that question? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Would you agree then that they are unaffected by the 

proposed rules? 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Have you got the question? 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, sir, I have got the question. 

 

 We are unaffected in the sense that we have taken it, we have accepted 

it that engine testing noise will be there as a part of our life.  And that is 5 

tolerable, nobody has complained.  We are not unaffected.  We are 

affected but we are not so much so affected what I have heard from 

many of you who are in 55 decibel or 65 decibel areas, so I have full 

sympathy for you. 

 10 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you. 

 

 In paragraph 3 of your rebuttal evidence you claim that you are at this 

hearing as a representative of the community that lives next to the 

Christchurch International Airport.  I have never heard of you and live 15 

in the vicinity of the Airport.  I and the group of submitters listed have 

never been contacted by you and certainly do not concur with your 

claims.  Can you explain how, then, you represent such a global style of 

inclusiveness without consultation? 

 20 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, I can explain to you in detail. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Try to be brief. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   In fact the first thing I had explained that we have a 25 

boundary on the right side is Memorial Avenue, on the left side 

Yaldhurst.  The other side is Russley, this side is Waimairi.  Our group 

is within that area and more your evidence and the submitters what I 

get from the lease there from the Harewood area or one or two from the 

Yaldhurst area. 30 

 

  [5.20 pm] 

 

 I can tell you that from Yaldhurst area we were involved in the 

mediation with one of the submitter from Harewood area there were 35 

two lady member who contacted us in 2013. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Professor, we are not here for war and peace; just cut to 

the chase, will you? 

 40 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sorry.  2013 they contacted us to be included in our 

group, I requested them to found their own group and then move their 

own resolution - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What has that got to do with the question? 45 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   That was the question, sir, he has not heard our 

name, that is why.  So the rest of the things are all known, the whole 

Council knows us, CERA knows us, the Hearing Panel knows us, I do 

not know why did you know about us. 

 5 

MR VENEMA:   Well we take exception to that claim but never mind.  The 

last question I have there is, second to last, there is an additional one.  

Are you the author of all the evidence given entirely yourself? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   We have a group of people in the committee, we 10 

have a 30-member Committee - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Who wrote the evidence that you are presenting? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Who wrote the evidence that you are presenting? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Myself - - - 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There is your answer. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Entirely? 25 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Entirely. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you. 

 30 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you. 

 

MR VENEMA:   You said until 7 March was when you submitted or wrote 

that evidence? 

 35 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, it was a rebuttal evidence.   

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, the actual evidence that you signed is signed 8 March 

which is correct. 

 40 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Because since it was coming as rebuttal evidence, it 

was dated 7 March but when it had been lodged I cannot tell you.  

Certainly it was 8 or 7. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Did you change the date? 45 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   No, I did not change the date. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There is your answer. 

 

MR VENEMA:   That is all the questions.   5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you very much.  Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, one question, thank you, Dr Bagchi.  You talk about the 

Community Liaison Group, and the fact that since 2014 you have been 10 

part of that group? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Mr Boswell has given us his attachment D, a minute from one 15 

of those meetings, April 2014.  It does not include you or anyone from 

your group. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   I have got a complete list of all the meetings.  I can 

present it to you, since - - - 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Daysh, have you completed your question? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 

 25 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Since it was 2 April 2014, the first meeting we were 

not informed in time and we could not make it.  The next meeting was 

in July, that was 2 July 2014.  Here you may kindly see that my name is 

also there and we have deputed a regular representative for that 

meeting, he is also present here, is a very senior member of our group, 30 

Mr Mark Thomas, so his name will also be appearing in every minutes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you.  No more questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 35 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Just one question.  As far as you are aware, are you the only 

community group that regularly goes or is a member of the Airport 

Liaison Group? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   No, there are some others.  Even the last meeting I 45 

was told that people came from even Kaiapoi Community (ph 4.14). 
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MS DAWSON:   All right, so there are other - - -  

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, there are. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  I have just one question I think.  Could you 

put up on the screen the plan from Dr Chiles’ evidence that we have 

been looking at? 10 

 

 Do you see that plan there?  Or perhaps bring it up in profile slightly so 

it just a bit more extended – you will see Savills Road there, professor? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And if we draw a line across the airport we get to 

Avonhead, more or less.   

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   On behalf of those you represent in the Avonhead 

community, were the engine testing to be relocated to that location, do 

you think that could have impacts on their amenity? 

 25 

  [5.25 pm] 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, actually as far as the engine testing it is a highly 

technical thing. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, answer my question please. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are not an expert on the technical components of 35 

engine testing, you are not here for the Airport; you are here for your 

Association so stick to my questions please. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What is your answer? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Our impact will not be much enhanced, definitely 

not. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Would it impact the amenity of the Avonhead 

community? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   No, sir. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So in other words if we were considering practicable 

options we can take your word to be on behalf of the residents group 

that that would be fine? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   We have no concern. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Now, any questions arising, Ms Appleyard? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Actually, Mr Venema, any questions arising from the 20 

Panel before I ask Ms Appleyard again? 

 

MR VENEMA:   No thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Thank you, Ms Appleyard.  All right, thank you 25 

very much, professor, you are free to go. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you, sir. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [5.26 pm] 30 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Now, I might just have a discussion with the Panel, the 

timetable indicates an approximate 6 pm finish.  On the timetable we 

have still got Mr Boswell, Mr Shaw and Mr Brough, I do not think any 

of them – sorry, oh, and Ms McKenzie, none of them have a constraint 35 

in that they have to go on today. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well, the Panel is rather keen to get through as much 

as we can, subject to any constraints people have, even to sit past 6 if 

we need to. 40 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, so I was going to ask you that question, I am 

thinking the most logical thing to do now is probably call Mr Boswell.  

That has got quite a bit of cross-examination with it but I am not 

confident we will get through Ms McKenzie, Mr Shaw and Mr Brough. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well, if Mr Shaw wanted to ahead. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I think Mr Shaw is happy, he is here tomorrow so that is 

not a problem so whether we just commit to getting through 

Mr Boswell and then see where we are up to.   5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I might indicate, if the Panel wasn’t too worried, to 

Mr Brough that he can go home? 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will just check if the Panel has got questions for him.  

Any questions from the Panel for Mr Brough?  Mr Daysh, do you have 

a question? 

 15 

MR DAYSH:   No. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There are no questions from the Panel for Mr Brough. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Actually that is a good question; Mr Brough is actually 20 

quite short, Mr Laing, I take it you have got questions? 

 

MR LAING:   I can take some instructions, he may be able to be excused, if I 

can just have one moment? 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I can have Mr Boswell come up in the meantime perhaps. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think so. 30 
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<RHYS DUNCAN BOSWELL, sworn [5.28 pm] 
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MR LAING:   I think Mr Brough could be excused. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  Well, Ms Appleyard, we could have 

Mr Brough’s evidence in by consent effectively as not cross-examined 

and no Panel questions. 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes.  You are free to go, Mr Brough, you won’t need to 

come back tomorrow. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So effectively Mr Brough is free to go and it can just go in 10 

by counsel. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Given that we are sitting late we may take a short comfort 15 

stop at some point, let’s put it down to limitations of the Chair. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I am just having a bit of (INDISTINCT 4.49) issue about 

the summary at the moment.   

 20 

<EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [5.30 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   We have just had a photocopy error, I’m just trying to 

correct that.   

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see, is this in the summary? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, just in relation to the summary.  Thank you.   You 

confirm that your full name is Rhys Duncan Boswell? 

 30 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You are the General Manager, Strategy and Sustainability 

at Christchurch International Airport? 

 35 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And you have held that role since 2009? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 40 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You have provided to the Panel a statement of evidence, 

dated 17 February. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   And a statement of rebuttal evidence dated 25 February 

2016. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  Now you have a summary statement? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I do. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Now if I could just explain to the Panel what I have just 10 

been trying to sort out.  In paragraph 6 of the summary Mr Boswell 

indicates that he has attached an email. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   In fact what got attached was more than the email, so the 

document he was wanting to refer to was the email to (INDISTINCT 

1.57) Matt Bonis, which is the top, and I will deal with that when we 

come to it. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So just to clarify what I have got, I have an email from - - 

- 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   The email is with some suggested wording, this one is 

Matt Bonis and Amy Hill and the section we are wanting the Panel to 25 

have a look at is the suggested wording that is there, that starts - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   He has suggested the following? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes.   30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Thank you. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  And we will clarify that when we get there.  

So if you could just provide your summary, thank you. 35 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Sure.  Christchurch International Airport is the largest 

airport in the South Island, the second largest in New Zealand.  It is a 

significant economic contributor to the Canterbury region.  The airport 

is unique for a number of reasons, as they would operate un-curfewed 40 

and unrestricted as to the type of aircraft that can use it.  It has 

important Antarctic connections, particularly as it is the site of the US 

Antarctic Programme, and it offers very competitive aircraft and engine 

maintenance services.   

 45 
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 These factors allow the airport to remain relevant in an extremely 

dynamic and competitive market.  This is put at risk by the threat of 

reverse sensitivity effects.  CIAL take a proactive stance to planning 

processes to ensure that airport operations are appropriately provided 

for and safeguarded. 5 

 

 The most appropriate protection is achieved through robust planning 

provisions in the Regional and District Plans.   

 

 In 2012 CIAL commissioned BERL to complete a series of economic 10 

impact assessments on a range of future development scenarios, 

including the impact on the Canterbury region of a curfew at the 

airport.  There was an assessment found that a curfew could have 

detrimental effects on overnight aircraft maintenance, the operations of 

the US Antarctic Programme and overnight inter-island mail services.  15 

These effects would lead to a reduction in employment in the region 

and a loss of millions of dollars of GDP. 

 

 Since this submission of evidence CIAL has continued discussions with 

Isaac Conservation and Wildlife Trust and the University of 20 

Canterbury, to try and reach agreement with regard to the specific relief 

sought by those parties. 

 

 I have attached an email which contains an outline of CIAL’s position, 

as sent to Ms Seaton in regards to the Isaac request for the imposition 25 

of an 80 LAmax limit for engine testing noise at Peacock Springs site. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Now I will just ask you to stop there, because I have 

taken the email off the versions other than the one that Mr Laing and 

Mr Caldwell have, because they are the two parties interested in it.  So 30 

could you just read into the record the highlighted paragraph from that 

email that starts “there has been no scientific…” 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes.  So the suggested as following:   

 35 

 “There has been no scientific evidence provided that supports an LAmax 

of 80 decibels.  However, CIAL agrees in concept to not noticeably 

increasing the LAmax levels that have historically been experienced at 

the Isaac Sanctuary.   

 40 

  [5.35 pm] 

 

 CIAL would agree to a minimum of two weeks of noise logging at the 

site to establish current Lmax levels. 

 45 
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 3 decibel tolerance would be added to the measured Lmax level to allow 

for historically noisy aircraft and the different fly in 

 

 CIAL agree not allowing an engine testing location to be established 

closer to the Sanctuary if it was shown that this level would be 5 

exceeded from that location. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, just carry on, thank you. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   While CIAL has been in discussions with the University of 10 

Canterbury since the exchange of evidence, we have not been able to 

resolve the outstanding matters, and negotiations remain ongoing. 

 

 With respect to engine testing; nightly aircraft maintenance is 

undertaken at the airport to ensure that the commercial passenger 15 

aircraft are ready for their scheduled flights first thing each morning. 

 

 This includes on-wing testing or ground running which is required by 

engine manufacturers, aircraft manufacturers, airlines and aviation law 

and is essential to ensure that aircraft engines remain properly serviced. 20 

 

 CIAL has identified for some time that a more sophisticated regime 

than the one required by the 1980 bylaw, is required for management of 

engine testing.  CIAL agrees with the Council and submitters that the 

District Plan is the appropriate vehicle for dealing with both sides of 25 

the engine testing argument, mainly land use restrictions and 

compliance. 

 

 Engine testing contours: the Christchurch City Council notified air 

noise contours in Stage 2.  CIAL worked with the Council and its 30 

experts prior to notification to provide the Council with the necessary 

information and modelled extent of the engine testing contours in the 

extremely constrained timeframes available. 

 

 However, late last year CIAL undertook a review of these contours 35 

with Marshall Day and Air New Zealand, came up with a series of 

significant operational mitigations which might allow the contours to 

be shrunk to minimise the properties effected. 

 

 The contours were then remodelled to account for these mitigations.  40 

The resulting contours have become known as the constrained 

contours. 

 

 The constrained contours have been able to be put forward on the basis 

that appropriate rules accompany them.  CIAL was supportive of the 45 

inclusion of the constrained contours and associated rules into the 
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Replacement District Plan such as the future of this essential activity 

can be assured subject to specific restrictions.  These restrictions will 

be discussed in detail by Mr Day and Mr Bonis. 

 

 Under the heading “Complaints”: under the operative Plan, CIAL was 5 

required to report annually on noise monitoring and other issues.  CIAL 

publishes information on noise related activities via its website. 

 

 Before 2012, noise complaints were difficult to record because 

complaints were made to many different agencies.  Since taking 10 

responsibility for receiving and responding to noise complaints in 2012, 

CIAL has made every effort to capture as much detail about a 

complaint as possible. 

 

 In 2014, CIAL established a Christchurch Airport Community Liaison 15 

Group which meets every three or four months.  This is a forum for 

communication between the airport community and neighbouring 

community representatives. 

 

 Under the heading “Compliance and Monitoring”: CIAL is asking for 20 

some flexibility in the operational noise compliance and engine testing 

compliance rules.  This is necessary to accommodate unavoidable one-

off instances in which compliance may be breached. 

 

 In the case of operational noise; CIAL seeks that an exceedance of up 25 

to two decibels is allowed where it can be demonstrated that the 

exceedance was caused by typical weather events, acts of God or 

airport infrastructure or repair and maintenance. 

 

 In my evidence I gave an example of the changes observed during the 30 

major maintenance of the main runway in 2015 where noise levels at 

the 65 Ldn air noise compliance contour in relation to the cross-wind 

runway changed dramatically as a result of the unusual increase and 

increased use of that cross-wind runway. 

 35 

 In the case of engine testing noise, CIAL has put forward drafting 

which it considers necessary to provide for scenarios in which an 

exclusion from the compliance calculation would be allowed.  Those 

scenarios are: uncharacteristic weather patterns, acts of God, disruptive 

flight patterns and airport infrastructure repair or maintenance. 40 

 

 CIAL considers that this more extensive list will be provided for urgent 

and necessary maintenance activity and will provide for the needs of all 

operators and the infrastructure maintenance requirements of the 

airport. 45 
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 CIAL funding insulation.  The issue of CIAL funding noise insulation 

measures was raised by Mr Marra.  In paragraphs 40 to 44 of my 

rebuttal evidence, I explain how CIAL is keeping the matter under 

review as the annual noise monitoring reports are produced. 

 5 

  [5.40 pm] 

 

 Currently there are two residential dwellings inside the actual 65 Ldn 

contour based on the 2015 data and to my knowledge neither of these 

property owners have approached CIAL to discuss possible mitigation.  10 

There, sir, I am talking about the 65 Ldn contour based on the 

operational contours. 

 

 Looking forward over the life of the proposed Plan, CIAL are willing 

to engage with owners that are affected by the actual 65 Ldn contour 15 

with a view to assisting with insulation if this was what the affected 

residents wanted, however I do not believe any of these potentially 

affected landowners are submitters in this process. 

 

 Airport protection surfaces:  It is vital as a matter of safety that the 20 

airspace around the Airport is protected from inappropriate 

development.  Airspace near the Airport and along flight paths must 

remain obstacle-free.  No structures are appropriate within the 

protection surfaces. 

 25 

 In her evidence on behalf of Transpower at paragraph 24 Ms McLeod 

states that there is a discrepancy between the location of the protection 

surfaces in appendix 6.11.7.2 and the 2013 obstruction survey and Civil 

Aviation Authority advisory circular.  I wish to clarify that this is 

because the protection surfaces in appendix 6.11.7.2 are based on 30 

extended runways.  This was done to provide for the reasonably 

foreseeable growth and expansion of the airport. 

 

 The obstruction survey is based on the protection surfaces as they exist 

at present in respect of the current runway lengths.  At present the 35 

Transpower national grid structures do not fall within the Airport 

protection surface as they relate to the current runway length, however 

those existing structures do or would breach the protection surfaces if 

the runway length is extended, as provided for in the proposed Plan 

provisions. 40 

 

 Under the heading Clearwater Golf Resort: the Clearwater Golf Resort 

lies within the 55 dB Ldn and 50 dB Ldn operational noise contours.  

This development and zoning was established through variation 93 to 

the operative Plan. 45 
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 CIAL supported variation 93 but reserved the right to propose any 

alteration to the variation conditions.  CIAL remain supportive of the 

permissions approved via variation 93. 

 

 CIAL considers it is important that the Replacement District Plan does 5 

not permit any more development at Clearwater than is already 

permitted in the operative Plan.   

 

 I have read the evidence of Ms Dixon as it relates to Clearwater and 

generally agree with her conclusions.  I wish to clarify her comments in 10 

paragraph 14.23.  CIAL is very supportive of efforts to rebuild the 

significant loss in the city’s stock of hotel rooms that resulted from the 

Canterbury earthquakes.  It is CIAL’s experience that in the past hotel 

bedroom development rights at Clearwater have been used to construct 

stand-alone units which in practise become owner-occupied residential 15 

dwellings.  CIAL is therefore wary of plans to develop more hotel 

rooms at Clearwater.  Consequently, CIAL considers that the most 

appropriate approach would be the development of a single roof hotel 

being made up of the 180 rooms that are permitted.  That is all, sir. 

 20 

MS APPLEYARD:   Just a couple more matters to clear up some issues that 

have arisen today.  I am just wondering if we could have Dr Chiles’ 

appendix B up, and in particular if we could zoom in on the red dots. 

 

 Can you confirm how many of those properties you own and/or 25 

identify ones you would like to own? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   So starting perhaps at the Harewood Golf Club dwelling.  

We own that property, and going counter clockwise, 117 Savills Road 

we do not own but we have been in discussions with the owner of that 30 

property for some time about potential sale. 

 

 56 Savills Road we own; 148 Grays Road we own; 609 Avonhead 

Road we own and 565 Avonhead Road I think we also own. 

 35 

 559 Memorial Avenue we own, and 655 Russley Road, so that is 

heading north now, yes, 655 Russley Road we own. 

 

 We do not own Jessons Road but similar to Savills Road we would be 

more than willing to entertain the possibility of purchasing that 40 

property. 

 

S APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  Now the Community Liaison Group, there was 

a question asked about City Council involvement in that Community 

Liaison Group.  Can you talk about the – and I want short answers 45 

because we are running a bit – just the group and who has been invited, 
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who has attended and if you have had any problems with getting people 

interested, tell us about that. 

 

  [5.45 pm] 

 5 

MR BOSWELL:   I believe in my rebuttal evidence I identify who has attended 

those groups.  The City Council has been represented by way of 

members of the Fendalton Waimairi Community Board and the 

Sockburn Yaldhurst – I believe they are called – Community Board.  

The Avonhead Community Group was not invited after the first 10 

meeting because they were the only group that we were aware of that 

represented a significant number of neighbours as a cohesive body.   

 

 We also have representatives from ECan and other representatives from 

the airport community including Air New Zealand, Airways 15 

Corporation and the Canterbury Aero Club. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  And one final question, Mr Morgan was 

asked some questions, I am just pre-empting something that is coming 

about alternative locations for the run-up pad, he gave some evidence 20 

about operational difficulties that it might arise at other locations.  

Could you comment on that? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I think Mr Morgan was probably generally correct in that 

the location as he identified it on the drawing I think he said just to the 25 

right of the 87 Jessons Road notation there would be operational 

constraints with that site associated to the protection areas and future 

requirements for airfield infrastructure in that general location so I 

think the comments he made about having other issues associated with 

that site are generally accurate. 30 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  If you would answer any questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, Mr Laing? 

 35 

MR LAING:   Mr Boswell, paragraph 77 of your evidence-in-chief. 

 

MR BOSWELL:  77, did you say? 

 

MR LAING:   Yes.  And you refer there to following the establishment of the 40 

hanger 1 run-up pad that was approved, that an increased number of 

tests could be conducted in this location on the understanding that the 

majority of engine runs will be a short duration.  Can you explain to me 

what do you mean by short duration? 

 45 
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MR BOSWELL:   I probably confer with Mr Morgan’s assessment of short 

duration in that the engine runs typically range anywhere from 20 to 30 

minutes as I understand it and so that is probably, I would consider that 

any engine testing activity less than 30 to 40 minutes would constitute a 

short duration. 5 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, but are there any activities carried out there of a longer 

duration? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   There are – look, I think the engine records show that there 10 

are engine testing runs that have occurred longer than that 20 to 30 

minute period, yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you.  Turning to paragraph 86, that is under the section of 

your evidence dealing with the constrained contours and at 86 you say, 15 

“Following consideration, many submissions from residents opposing a 

position that controls the Airport Company, you have the Marshall Day 

and Air New Zealand until the detailed review and came up with a 

series of significant operational mitigations that might reduce overall 

size of Engine Testing Contours.  These mitigations include commit to 20 

move more tests to remote location”.  Can you just tell me where that 

location is? 

 

MR BOSWELL:  My recollection of that process is that the remote location 

probably referred to there as probably on the crosswind runway.  So 25 

Runway 11. 

 

MR LAING:   And then you also refer to imposing further limits on night time 

testing.  What are those further limits? 

 30 

MR BOSWELL:   Well the limits pertain to the proposal that the constrained 

contours become the limit and so through use of the engine testing 

management software, Air New Zealand and other operators have 

access to real time information about recent historic use that enables 

them to better schedule short term operations such that they don’t 35 

compromise those constrained contours. 

 

  [5.50 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   So you are talking about the ETS? 40 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   But can you think of any others in some layman’s terms what 

further limits on night time testing are proposed? 45 
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MR BOSWELL:   No, I think those are the ones that I had in mind. 

 

MR LAING:   I would just like to ask you a few questions about compliance 

and monitoring and at 93 you talk about the fact the Airport Company 

seeks exceedance of the testing contours by up to (INDISTINCT 0.46) 5 

dBA.  And then there is various grounds there given, can you just have 

a look at Mr Bonis’ evidence-in-chief please and I asked the previous 

witness about this but it is 87 for noise operations and then over for 

engine testing that is 97 on page 23.   

 10 

MR BOSWELL:   87 and then 97, is that what you said? 

 

MR LAING:   Yes.  And I think you would agree with me that there are 

common carve out factors there, aren’t there, uncharacteristic weather 

patterns, act of God, disrupted flight patterns or airport infrastructure 15 

repair or maintenance? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   So if we could perhaps just talk about engine testing first, is that 20 

the version of the rule that the Airport Company now supports on 

engine testing? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   The version that the airport supports - - - 

 25 

MR LAING:   6.1.4.2.7 paragraph 97 of Mr Bonis’ evidence. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Let me just go there.  

 

MR LAING:   Take your time. 30 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes, I believe so, yes. 

 

 

MR LAING:   Unless I have missed something, Mr Boswell, there is no dBA 35 

limit there anymore, is there? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   No. 

 

MR LAING:   So in theory if one of those atypical events was met there would 40 

be no limit on the amount of engine testing noise that could be created, 

is that right? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes, with, I guess, the qualifier being there would have to be 

an atypical event so it wouldn’t be common but yes. 45 
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MR LAING:   But there is no limit in there now at all? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   No. 

 

MR LAING:   And is that what your company now supports, no limits? 5 

 

MR BOSWELL:   No limits as to the exceedance. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, no dBA limit, no exceedance by 2 or 3 dBA, there is 

nothing in that rule, is there that has actually got a dBA limit? 10 

 

MR BOSWELL:   No. 

 

MR LAING:   Is that what your company supports? 

 15 

MR BOSWELL:   For that particular issue, yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Really? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   As I say it is important to consider that we are talking about 20 

an exceedance as a result of one of these atypical events. 

 

MR LAING:   So just to give an example, if there was some disrupted flight 

patterns, are you saying that the Airport Company can make as much 

noise by way of engine testing as it likes? 25 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Look, I guess that is – that would be an extreme situation 

but, yes, on the simple reading of that rule, yes, that is possible. 

 

MR LAING:   Do you think that is a reasonable proposition to put before this 30 

Panel? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   On the advice I have had from our various experts and in 

consultation with our planning advisors I did understand that to be a 

reasonable proposition. 35 

 

MR LAING:   So another example, if there was some additional aircraft, if 

there was additional runway repair or something like that, this rule 

gives you carte blanche to create as much as engine testing as you like, 

doesn’t it? 40 

 

  [5.55 pm] 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes, on the proviso that it was – as a result of these atypical 

events, yes. 45 
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MR LAING:   Is anyway that you can suggest that the rule should be rewritten 

to avoid that situation? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Look, I cannot – I would have to rely upon the advice from 

the people I work with, Marshall Day and Anne McLean’s, I think that 5 

is it.  It is a technical. 

 

MR LAING:   Well are you saying that Mr Day supports this rule? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I believe he does, yes. 10 

 

MR LAING:   And you say that Mr Morgan supports this rule? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I think there is a distinction between what Mr Morgan has 

asked for and what CIAL is asking for. 15 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, in fact he supports the Council’s rule, doesn’t he? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I believe so yes. 

 20 

MR LAING:   Yes.   

 

MR BOSWELL:   And the important – sorry, but can I elaborate, sir? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   By all means complete your answer. 25 

 

MR BOSWELL:   The distinction just to make it clear, the reason for the 

distinction between CIAL position and that of Air New Zealand, is that 

CIAL is trying to provide for the needs of all operators at the airport, 

current and future.  Whereas, as I understand it, I think Mr Morgan was 30 

asked the question, “Can Air New Zealand sit within the confines of 

the rule as proposed” and he answered “yes” – that is on behalf of Air 

New Zealand – but we have been mindful of other operators, current 

and future. 

 35 

MR LAING:   I just come to the words “uncharacteristic weather patterns”; if 

the Council is looking at some sort of exceedance, how would the 

Council be able to know what “uncharacteristic weather patterns” are in 

terms of deciding whether the Airport Company fell within that 

exceedance or not, where they will sort of carve out? 40 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Well I guess in respect at 6.1.4.27 they would perhaps have 

to make similar judgement in 6.1.4.26 as well. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Answer the question, please. 45 
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MR LAING:   Please. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   What was had in mind when we were talking about 

“atypical weather events” were things such as El Nino which might 

occur every 10 years on average, and so it was, you know, it is a 5 

possibility in those sorts of events that there is an elevated use of a 

particular runway because of the winds that are associated with that 

event. 

 

MR LAING:   It is extremely vague, is it not? 10 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I would have to agree, sir, it is difficult to quantify some of 

those words, yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Just going onto aircraft maintenance – sorry, infrastructure, 15 

repair and maintenance, you talked about runways, is that not 

something that can be planned in advance and a course that could be 

taken? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Not always, sir, no.  I mean to cite a recent example, we 20 

have had – if there were works that were necessary as a result of 

seismic activity, we could not reasonably anticipate when they might 

occur or what extent they might involve. 

 

MR LAING:   Well, if that is the concern, why does not that rule say so, 25 

seismic activity/act of god - - -  

 

MR BOSWELL:   Well I guess - - -  

 

MR LAING:   - - - natural disaster, what is your answer to that? 30 

 

MR BOSWELL:   So you saying that “act of God” covers that? 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, and what about disrupted flight patterns? 

 35 

 Now I may be simplistic, but if flights are disrupted that means 

possibly that less aircraft are landing at the airport over a given period, 

correct?  Or less taking off? 

 

MR BOSWELL:    Possibly.  It could be that the opposite is true.   Mr Morgan 40 

I think talked about a scenario where Auckland Airport may not be 

available and therefore aircraft were directed to Christchurch; so it is 

possibly either way, yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Well if that is a concern, surely some words could be phrased 45 

around that particular concern, Mr Boswell, is that not correct? 



 Page 368 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes, quite possibly.  I mean endeavouring to put forward 

these rules we have endeavoured to consult with Council about what an 

appropriate wording might be. 

 5 

MR LAING:   This is not the Council’s wording, is it? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   No, this is our wording. 

 

MR LAING:   It is your wording. 10 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   And it is not the wording that is supported by the Council, is it? 

 15 

MR BOSWELL:   No, it is not. 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Laing.  Mr Lawry, next.  Mr Lawry are 20 

you ready to go? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR LAWRY [6.00 pm] 

 

MR LAWRY:   At the onset, sir, I would just like to ask if I am allowed 25 

another five minutes?  Every time I get something from CIAL there are 

a whole lot of new issues that have developed. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, just proceed; yes, you have got five minutes. 

 30 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You have got 15 I should say all up. 

 

MR LAWRY:   I appreciate that, thank you.  Rhys, do you accept the finding 35 

then of the Independent Commissioner (INDISTINCT 0.49) that the 

engine testing bylaw written by CIAL, for CIAL, is inappropriate? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I admit that time has moved on since that bylaw was drafted.  

I am not certain that the bylaw was drafted by CIAL, but if it was I 40 

think, yes, time has moved on, it is no longer appropriate. 

 

MR LAWRY:   It is no longer appropriate? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 45 
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MR LAWRY:   So when does CIAL intend to retire that bylaw? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   My understanding is that should the outcome of this process, 

should the Panel decide to apply the contours or some version of the 

contours as proposed, that the elements of the bylaw that pertain to 5 

engine testing noise, because of course it is much broader than just 

engine testing, but the elements that pertain to engine testing noise 

would largely become redundant.  I am not expert in how that 

mechanism would occur from a legal or procedural standpoint. 

 10 

MR LAWRY:   The Panel will recall that I have alleged that CIAL growth 

projections are often exaggerated, and that the Council testing of 

CIAL’s applied projections are poor. 

 

 In September 1998, Council decision number two, was heard before 15 

independent Commissioner Collins, appendix 14, of my documents 

here if you want to refer to it.  In page 4 of his report point 2.2, CIAL 

led evidence that in that year there was 83,815 scheduled aircraft 

movements – that is in 1998.   

 20 

 In response to my request last year you supplied me with aeronautical 

movements or the scheduled aircraft movements.  That document 

indicated in 2015 there were 50,476.  Is it correct then that there has 

been a reduction over the last 20 years of nearly 33,000 scheduled air 

movements?  A reduction of 33,339 air movements, between 1998 and 25 

last year? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Boswell, deal with that in two points please.  First is 

there a reduction?  Secondly, is Mr Lawry correct with the number. 

 30 

MR BOSWELL:   I do not have the 2008 numbers in front of me but I am 

fairly certain that there has been a reduction in the number of 

movements, principally as a consequence of the earthquakes.  In terms 

of the numbers that you asked for, Mr Lawry, I gave you an excerpt of 

a report which shows – and thank you for providing it – which shows 35 

year to date aircraft movements, so the numbers you are referring to are 

year to date as at 29 March 2015 which I believe they are measuring 

financial years, so that is approximately nine months of a 12 month - - - 

 

MR LAWRY:   So the year – the same document had the previous year 2014 40 

had 50,633 which was a full year’s information. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   No.  It is a comparison, it is a year on year comparison.  So 

it is endeavouring to compare – this is an excerpt from a report that is 

used for management purposes.  It is endeavouring to measure the same 45 

point in a year. 
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MR LAWRY:   So when I asked for the scheduled movements you misled me? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   No, no, I did not mislead you, I gave you the report that I 

had available at the time. 5 

 

MR LAWRY:   So what are the scheduled movements currently? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I have them in my rebuttal evidence, just one moment. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can you assist the witness in identifying paragraphs in the 

rebuttal to save a bit of time, Mr Lawry? 

 

MR LAWRY:   The evidence that relates to the 83,000 is page 4.2.2 of my 

appendix 14, that is the 83,815 scheduled movements in 1996.  So just 15 

to - - - 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Page 9 of my rebuttal evidence. 

 

  [6.05 pm] 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Page 9 of your rebuttal, okay. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   There is a figure 3; all aircraft movements excluding general 

aviation and helicopters, it shows a reduction from 2010 so I think 25 

Mr Lawry was referring to 2009 at 83,000.  Look, not unreasonable to 

expect that in 2009 that figure was slightly over 80,000.  It is now just 

under 75,000. 

 

MR LAWRY:   So in 20 years there has been nearly a 10,000 reduction of 30 

scheduled movements, is that correct? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well that is what the evidence says – next question. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Do you accept that simultaneously operated runways is 35 

worldwide being seen as a safety risk? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   No, I do not accept that. 

 

MR LAWRY:   You take no knowledge of the risks associated with 40 

simultaneous runways, with some airports going away from it due to 

safety risk? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, we do not either because I do not know whether that 

is in evidence.  I have not seen it in your appendices.  I have read your 45 

evidence. 
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MR LAWRY:   Okay.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that is all that we can rely on. 

 5 

MR LAWRY:   Is CIAL committed to re-evaluating the contours in accordance 

with the Experts Panel Agreement in 2017, is that a firm commitment? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   CIAL is committed to re-evaluating the contours at a time 

that is probably – I will not say dictated to us but requested of us by the 10 

RPS process which I understand to be 2018 so it may not be 2017, it 

might be 2017. 

 

MR LAWRY:   It was signed in 25 October 2007, and the agreement is 

standalone and my question is; are you going to do it in 2017 in 15 

accordance with the agreement? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well that was not your question and his answer referred to 

the Regional Policy Statement and said 2017 or 2018 and could not 

give you a guarantee on 2017, so that is the evidence.  Go onto the next 20 

question. 

 

MR LAWRY:  Okay. 

 

 The expert panelling in relation to birdstrike, the Expert Conferencing 25 

Panel found that the quality of the expert evidence was such as to 

indicate a lack of transparency; can you explain why CIAL evidence 

was of such poor quality to get that response. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Is that something I address in my evidence? 30 

 

MR LAWRY:   You are already talking to birdstrike.  I understand I am cross-

examining you on birdstrike today.  I am asking you why the 

information that was given to that proposal was so poor as to the 

experts came back saying it was a lack of transparency? 35 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I really cannot comment on that.  I was not involved in that 

Expert Panel, I cannot comment on that.  It probably more 

appropriately dealt with by Ms McKenzie - - -  

 40 

MR LAWRY:   You would accept then that I have raised this theme about 

CIAL not wishing to do mitigation on site?  Would you agree that the 

purchase of Avian Radar would allow CIAL to better understand its 

birdstrike risk, before it went to land control planning and rules? 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Would Avian Radar allow you to better understand the 

risk before you go to rules? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I am not sufficiently qualified to answer that question.  That 

is better asked of Mr Shaw, but my understanding – so, I think the first 5 

part of your question was we are not prepared to – sorry, can you repeat 

the first part? 

 

MR LAWRY:   I will say it again quickly for you.  There is a theme I have 

raised through my evidence and the theme being that CIAL has the 10 

capacity or had the capacity to influence Council’s land planning 

controls which is quite unusual.  The question being - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, the question is, what is relevant. 

 15 

MR LAWRY:   The question is, is it not better for you to understand birdstrike 

problem by purchasing the onsite mitigation of Avian Radar which is a 

very common in airports that are seriously looking at birdstrike.   

 

MR BOSWELL:   No, I disagree.  Firstly we are very serious about the issue of 20 

birdstrike. 

 

 As to mitigate and addressing the issues on site; Ms McKenzie has 

evidence as to the degree to which we – the measures we take on 

airport to manage birdstrike risk on airport.  In terms of off airport 25 

birdstrike risk I am not familiar with the technical limitations of Avian 

Radar and what sort of range it has. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You may want to ask Mr Shaw about that, Mr Lawry.  I 

have read in his evidence, for instance, about issues to do with Tokyo 30 

or some airport over there, but by all means put it to the relevant 

witness I think. 

 

  [6.10 pm] 

 35 

MR LAWRY:   Is it correct that CIAL’s contour land planning controls and 

activity avoidance rules are primarily aimed at ensuring that curfew 

restrictions never impede airport operations? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Certainly that is an important driver, it is not the only driver 40 

though.   

 

MR LAWRY:   Try to narrow that down, sorry - - - 

 

MR BOSWELL:   No, that is fine. 45 
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MR LAWRY:   Try to just nail that down then.  Is it 80 percent for that reason, 

90 percent, how important is non-curfew to you people in terms of 

those controls? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I am not able to put a weighting on it, it is very important, it 5 

is one of the issues that we guard against. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Do you see it as appropriate that CIAL are controlling the 

complaints about the noise they generate? 

 10 

MR BOSWELL:   We are not controlling the complaints, we receive the 

complaints and record them and we respond to them and we provide 

records of those complaints. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is it appropriate that you receive the complaints and 15 

respond to them? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I believe so, I mean, we have access to, either directly or 

through other stakeholders at the airport, information that allows us to 

identify what has caused the noise and therefore give a speedy and 20 

informed response to the complainants. 

 

MR LAWRY:   So taking that curfew as a very big risk, how do you ever get a 

curfew if Council never actioned any of your complaints that would 

drive the curfew, how is it possible to get a curfew if you are taking the 25 

complaints, are you going to give yourself a curfew at some point? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I do not necessarily believe that a curfew would occur as a 

direct result of a certain number of complaints being registered. 

 30 

MR LAWRY:   What I am trying to get to is there is absolutely zero possibility 

of you getting a curfew in that scenario, isn’t there? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, that is your submission to us rather than to 

Mr Boswell.   35 

 

MR LAWRY:   But I am asking if that is what he thinks. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well then put the question - - - 

 40 

MR LAWRY:   Sorry? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If you want to ask the question is it appropriate that only 

the airport receives the complaint and the Council does not as well, by 

all means put that question if it relates to the curfew risk. 45 
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MR LAWRY:   With regard to that one, Rhys, do you want answer that? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Boswell, is a better way of referring to a witness in 

this process. 

 5 

MR LAWRY:   Sorry, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   If the Council were to be the receiver, if you like and 10 

coordinator of complaints, at a philosophical level I do not have any 

problem with that, but in practice I would imagine they would end up 

contacting us, contacting Air New Zealand, contacting Airways 

Corporation, and probably unnecessarily complicating the process. 

 15 

 But we provide information to anyone concerned about the details of 

the complaints that we receive.  We provide a summary report to the 

Council on an annual basis.  I am unaware of any requests from the 

Council or anyone else to break that complaint information down any 

further than we have to date.  20 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you.  Would you agree that if it was established that at 

the very low 50 dBA noise level, the noise complaints are not driven by 

noise, but other identifiable factors that are all avoiding new noise 

sensitive activities, would not reduce complaints and as such it would 25 

be pointless? 

 

 The Bell Report is telling you and Clarke is telling us, that the 

causational issue for complaints at the already low 50 dBA, is not noise 

- - - 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if you take that premise to the question as a given for 

the moment, and then answer it then you can disagree with the premise. 

 

MR BOSWELL:  I guess I do not agree with the premise.  I mean - - - 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If you agree with the premise, what is the answer, just see 

if you can go with that too, please. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Sorry, sir, if I agree that there is not a causal link - - - 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if you take the premise of that evidence being correct, 

namely, I think, that a 50 dBA contour does not have a material risk 

mitigation consequence for complaints, is that right? 

 45 

 If that is the premise, then what is your question? 
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MR LAWRY:   The question is, would it not be pointless then to have a new 

sensitive avoidance rule under 50 dBA. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   A new being the engine testing, is that what you are saying? 5 

 

MR LAWRY:   No.  What is the point of having a new activity avoidance rule 

at the 50 dBA level - - - 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 10 

 

MR LAWRY:   - - - when it does not drive complaints.  Therefore, removing 

the activities will not affect complaints at all which is the major risk of 

curfew. 

 15 

MR BOSWELL:   I guess if it does not generate complaints, there probably 

would not be any point to it, but I do not agree - - - 

 

  [6.15 pm] 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So he does not accept the premise. 

 

MR LAWRY:   No, I accept that he does not accept that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 25 

 

MR LAWRY:   And immediately your evaluation of the existing contours 

would release safe land for immediate development, promoting 

earthquake recovery, is that preferable to unnecessary restricting its 

use? 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well that is probably a question for us really, and we have 

to give effect to High Order documents like the Regional Policy 

Statement and our decisions as well, so you know, one day and you are 

an hour and a quarter past – is this your last question or - - -  35 

 

MR LAWRY:   This will be my last question. 

 

 Is it correct that CIAL earns approximately a third more from property 

development that it does from core aviation activities? 40 

 

MR BOSWELL:   That is possibly correct, I do not know the exact figure but 

the approximate split between what we call “aeronautical” and “non-

aeronautical revenue” is probably of that order 60/40, currently. 

 45 
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MR LAWRY:   So the cost of a ground run-up enclosure that would mitigate 

this noise, is that a problem to your company or to Air New Zealand – 

you probably cannot answer for Air New Zealand – answer for your 

company? 

 5 

MR BOSWELL:   I guess we would need to first establish that it was – that the 

noise being experienced was unreasonable and that there was – it was 

warranted that something like a 10 million dollar enclosure was going 

to prove effective. 

 10 

 How would what we go about providing that enclosure, it could either 

be something that the airport company purchased if you like, bought, 

and required the operators to use and therefore impose some sort of 

recovery by way of landing charges or some other mechanism, or in 

fact Air New Zealand could choose to purchase/construct one and in 15 

turn provide some sort of level of charging to its people who conduct 

services for – other airlines, try and recover that investment back 

through ticket prices on aircraft potentially. 

 

MR LAWRY:   So lastly, do you accept that that source mitigation is best 20 

practice world-wide? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Look, I could not comment on that, that is beyond my area 

of expertise – I believe it is one method of mitigation, but I would not 

say that it is the best or the only method. 25 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is something you can address us with, Mr Lawry, if 

you want, you know about Section 16 of the RMA? 30 

 

MR LAWRY:   I do, yes, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, Mr Venema. 

 35 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR VENEMA [6.18 pm] 

 

MR VENEMA:   As was mentioned by Mr Lawry, there have been some 

further questions but could they be done at the end of this - - -  

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I beg your pardon? 

 

MR VENEMA:   There are some further questions that have developed so 

applied. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, please do not follow the lengthy question lead. 
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MR VENEMA:   No, this should - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you really need to? 

 5 

MR VENEMA:   I believe they are valid. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I will test on that, but you want another five minutes 

as well, do you? 

 10 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, I believe so. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR VENEMA:   I will try and make it quick, sir. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, we are going to take a recess for five minutes. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you. 

 20 

ADJOURNED [6.18 pm] 

 

RESUMES [6.26 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  So we will retire for the evening after we 25 

finish with Mr Boswell.  Mr Venema? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR VENEMA [6.26 pm] 

 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you.  Good afternoon, Mr Boswell.  Just a few items 30 

to just clear up.  Your evidence in your rebuttal evidence as such, my 

name is not mentioned as evidences that you have read, is that correct? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes, and you highlighted that point last week and so I guess 

that is an oversight.  Your name should have been listed under 35 

paragraph 3 of my rebuttal. 

 

MR VENEMA:   So you have read my evidence? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes I have. 40 

 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you.  You are currently a full-time employee of the 

Christchurch Airport Company? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I am currently. 45 
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MR VENEMA:   In your evidence paragraphs 74 through to 76, you claim the 

knowledge that the number one hangar run-up pad, the ground run-up 

pad, now has the majority of engine testing and that this - - - 

 

MR BOSWELL:   This was my evidence-in-chief you are referring to? 5 

 

MR VENEMA:  Yes, sorry your evidence-in-chief. And that it was an evolving 

practice.  How long did you know that this evolutionary process was 

taking place? 

 10 

MR BOSWELL:   Well this is my knowledge informed on a retrospective 

review of historic engine testing and current engine testing. 

 

MR VENEMA:   So five years, one year?  This evolving process, how long it 

had been taking place? 15 

 

MR BOSWELL:   It probably evolved after the construction of the concrete 

run-up pad near hangar one. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you. 20 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes, it would be after that point which is approximately 

2004/2005. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you.  Your evidence in paragraph 79 and the attached 25 

CIAL Noise Management Plan which is now 2014 version 10, page 10 

do not reflect a scope for this evolutionary process.  In fact the extract 

from the District Plan, operative since 1999, contains rules that state 

that runway 11 threshold location provides, and there is a lot of data 

concerning that, and there is an indication that this should be attended 30 

to if the engine running is more than five minutes.  How - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Venema, are you referring to a document that I do not 

have and the witness does not have as far as I understand it? Is that 

right?  Are you referring to a document that I do not have and the 35 

witness does not have?  Yes or no? 

 

MR VENEMA:   No, I believe. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well where is it? 40 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay 2013 it is attached to Mr Boswell’s - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well take Mr Boswell to where it is in his evidence if 

you are asking a question otherwise we do not know what you are 45 

talking about. 
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MR VENEMA:   Sorry, I did put it through - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   These are the sort of things you need to be organised on if 

you are going to ask for more time because this is time wasting. 5 

 

MR VENEMA:   Sorry, I had requested that document to be available. 

 

  [6.30 pm] 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Stand up and carry on, but do not refer to a document we 

don’t know, go to the question where we don’t have to refer to 

something we don’t know what you - - - 

 

MR VENEMA:   Mr Boswell may have the required answer. 15 

 

 Is CIAL enforcing these requirements that are contained in the CIAL 

noise management plan, in the evidence that you give in paragraph 79? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so at paragraph 79 of his evidence, is that right? 20 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so just put your question. 

 25 

MR VENEMA:   Is CIAL enforcing this requirement, or not? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Enforcing what requirement? 

 

MR VENEMA:   That is the safety aspects - - - 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Of the management plan? 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Have you got that, is CIAL enforcing the 

management plan, and I think the safety requirements of the 

management plan.   

 

MR BOSWELL:   Sorry, sir, I might not be – para 79 - - - 40 

 

MR VENEMA:   Para 79, underneath the bar graph, if that helps anything. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is this 79 of the - - - 
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MR BOSWELL:   Of the evidence-in-chief.   

 

MR VENEMA:   Evidence-in-chief, yes.   

 5 

MR BOSWELL:   So it talks about the bylaw, and it talks about the - - - 

 

MR VENEMA:   Noise Management Plan, CIAL’s noise management plan. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 10 

 

MR VENEMA:   Copy, attachment F.   

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes.  The noise management plan incorporates I guess to a 

certain extent, it incorporates elements of the bylaw, and so it has 15 

already been discussed I think that the bylaw does provide a provision 

for the airport management to agree to engine testing that is outside of 

some of the provisions in the bylaw, and so my view is that the noise 

management plan provides direction as to the locations for engine 

testing at the airport and the circumstances under which that testing can 20 

occur and the records that need to be kept and provided to CIAL and 

the Council around those testing activities.   

 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you.  You have responded already that you agree that 

a 20 to 30 minute engine run is a short run; how do you see that 25 

complying with that requirement which indicates five minutes? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   As I said, the bylaw does allow for engine testing that is 

approved by the airport manager.   

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well in terms of compliance, can you say that there is 

approval in writing from the manager to exceeding the five minute 

requirement of the bylaw? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Well in as much as it relates to the noise management plan, 35 

sir, yes. 

 

 So CIAL’s view is that the noise management plan and the policies and 

procedures that have been agreed between CIAL and the operators, and 

I believe I have provided a copy of my evidence, provides that written 40 

permission if you like for the operators to conduct those tests in a way 

consistent with that policy for those procedures. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that is the answer that Mr Venema.  You can address 

us on the substance of whether you agree with that or not, and you can 45 

go to your next question. 
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MR VENEMA:   Okay your Honour, yes.  In para 79.1, you have there that 

“the ground running procedures purpose and aim is to minimise risk to 

other parties, damage to operational areas, damage to buildings is 

minimised, community exposure to aircraft noise associated with 5 

engines, ground running, et cetera” – do you see that the purpose and 

aim of this policy is being met by airline operators at CIA? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes I do.  I do not believe, based on the advice of Mr Day, 

that the noise being experienced as a result of engine testing, current 10 

engine testing activity, is unreasonable, and I believe that what is 

proposed by the airport company, along with the operators, by way of 

the constraining contours is an improvement on the current situation.   

 

MR VENEMA:   Let’s focus on risk to other parties.  Were you aware, recent 15 

as September 2011 that Air New Zealand and Virgin Australia had a 

crash whilst engine testing was being carried out? 

 

  [6.35 pm] 

 20 

MR BOSWELL:   I am not familiar with the detail, I am aware that there was 

an incident but beyond that I am not familiar with the details. 

 

MR VENEMA:  Isn’t it true that Eric Morgan, Mr Morgan, said that an 

investigation was carried out by the Airport Company? 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, we have heard that and the answer has been given so 

move to the next question. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Does CIAL realise that Air New Zealand staff regularly use 30 

the pathway very close to No 1 hangar pad for transiting to other No 3 

and No 5 hangar? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Look, I listened to Mr Morgan’s evidence on this matter and 

I understood him to say that the principal method of safety and risk 35 

minimisation as it relates to that incident is staff awareness.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So were you aware of it and then move to the next? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Only what I have heard today, sir. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, next question. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you.  Okay, these questions have arisen so moving on 

quickly thankfully.  The extra two residents that you mention in the 45 
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65 dB, you mentioned that there are no submissions from those 

properties.  Is No 2 Whitchurch Place one of those? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   So the drawing I am referring to is in my rebuttal evidence, I 

am not sure what number that is but it is this drawing here, the blue and 5 

gold contours. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So this is just immediately after the last statement of your 

rebuttal? 

 10 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   After page 17. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   And so this contour relates to aircraft operational noise and 15 

so, no, the Whitchurch Place property is not inside the yellow contour.  

The two properties that are, are on Pound Road to the south of the main 

runway. 

 

MR VENEMA:  So is No 2 Whitchurch Place within the engine testing contour 20 

65 dB? 

 

MR BOSWELL:  It may well be.  Can we bring up that attachment to 

Mr Chiles, this relates to operational noise you appreciate. 

 25 

MR VENEMA:   I am submitting on engine testing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, so engine testing, there is the plan now what do you 

want to show the witness?  Do you see Whitchurch Place there, do you 

see that, Mr Venema? 30 

 

MR VENEMA:   Yes. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I think I know roughly where he is talking about.  Yes. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So is it within the contour for engine testing? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   It does appear to be inside the 65, the 65 contour. 

 

MR VENEMA:  Yes, I appreciate it is quite hard to actually tell from that map. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, so that is the answer. 

 

MR VENEMA:   Okay.  Were you aware that there is a submission No 2866 

from that property on engine testing, chapter 6? 45 
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MR BOSWELL:   Look, you have reminded me, I am aware that there is a 

submission from that address but in my rebuttal I was referring to the 

operational contours but, yes, you have reminded me that there is a 

submission. 

 5 

MR VENEMA:   Yes, thank you.  Just the last question, the complaints system 

that there was a question posed as to whether it was seen as okay for 

the Christchurch Airport to manage the complaints system being the 

actual noise generator as such.  Would you see it as fair if my 

neighbour making a lot of noise, that my first port of call would be to 10 

complain to him when this is actually advised not to do in the current 

residential noise complaints system? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   As I said earlier I think the current system is appropriate.  I 

am confident that the airport addresses each and every complaint and 15 

responds to those complainants, wishing to understand what their 

concerns are specifically and we provide information about the events 

that have caused the concern for them.  As to whether or not that is an 

appropriate process going forward that is a matter for the Panel. 

 20 

  [6.40 pm] 

 

MR VENEMA:   So would you say that it is entirely reliant on the Airport 

Company’s goodwill? 

 25 

MR BOSWELL:   No.  We are required to gather that information, produce 

reports, it is not a matter of goodwill, I think we are required as a 

matter of rules in the Plan to collate that information, so it is not on our 

goodwill. 

 30 

MR VENEMA:   Thank you, Mr Boswell. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now Mr Caldwell, I am just mindful that you are sitting 

there patiently and just sort of to reiterate what I said before.  If counsel 

wants to head off, because we will not get to Mr Shaw today and we 35 

will not get to Ms McKenzie. 

 

MR CALDWELL:   All right, well thank you, appreciate that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you should feel free to head off if you wish. 40 

 

MR CALDWELL:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Mr Daysh? 

 45 
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MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you, Mr Boswell.  It has been a long day.  I would 

like to start with some comments you have made in paragraphs 82 to 84 

of your evidence-in-chief.  This is where you characterise the 

development of this proposal that is before the Panel.  Is it true that 

what you are telling us was that this was a very rushed and busy 5 

process for everyone involved? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes, I believe so, sir, yes.  I think Ms Dixon also talked 

about the time pressures that people involved were under, yes. 

 10 

MR DAYSH:   And I think you are saying to us that the airport got stuck in and 

did quite a lot of work over the last 14 or 15 months leading to this 

hearing to respond to the proposal and submissions, is that your 

opinion? 

 15 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes, yes it is. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay.  You have also given evidence that you think the bylaw 

regime is out of date and needs to be replaced, and you are looking 

towards this new Replacement District Plan to effectively replace the 20 

planning regime that the airport operates under; is that your view? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes, that is my view and opinion, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And in developing that new regime do you agree that it should 25 

address any identified significant adverse effects? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Can you elaborate on what you mean by any? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Do you think the new regime in the District Plan, should it 30 

anticipate and respond to identified significant adverse effects? 

 

MR BOSWELL:  If it was considered that addressing those identified 

significant adverse effects – there is a balancing exercise I guess would 

be my answer; balancing the costs of addressing those identified 35 

adverse effects against the potential cost of mitigations or compliance. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes.  So we have heard some evidence, the Panel, that 

Dr Chiles at least thinks there is some significant adverse health effects 

which the current regime are looking at as proposed, or sorry the 40 

company’s proposed regime would bring about.  You understand that 

that evidence is in front of us about health effects on sleep deprivation? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I listened to Mr Chiles this morning about his views on what 

noise levels might constitute, I think he used the word undesirable but 45 
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it was not clear to me, and I do not recall hearing him say what he 

considered was unreasonable. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay.  So in your view you think any response needs to be both 

reasonable and practicable? 5 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you.  Now just looking at your paragraph 86 about the 

constraining contours; you talk about a detailed review undertaken by 10 

Marshall Day and Air New Zealand looking at significant operational 

mitigations that may reduce the overall size of the engine testing 

contours? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 15 

 

MR DAYSH:   Were you involved in that review? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes I was. 

 20 

MR DAYSH:   Can you tell me were there a series of different scenarios or 

different contours or outcomes looked at in that review? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes, there were, yes. 

 25 

  [6.45 pm] 

 

MR DAYSH:   And in that review did you – did that look at cost benefits?  

Both in terms of the company and the wider community? 

 30 

MR BOSWELL:   From the airport’s point of view the costs to the airport 

directly are not great – I should probably make that point.  The airport 

does not enjoy direct financial benefit from their activity associated 

with the engine testing. 

 35 

 The benefit to the airport, I guess is derived by way of the fact that that 

maintenance activity supports the flying activity from which there is 

direct benefit. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And were those costs and benefits looked at in the process 40 

as Mr Daysh asked? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Not in detail, no.  They were looked at – sorry, I should 

qualify that again – I guess one of the scenarios that was contemplated 

was the potential impact of “banning” if you like engine testing at night 45 



 Page 386 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

and that the curfew costs were assessed by BERL in 2012, so we did 

consider that information. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Is that review available to the Panel? 

 5 

MR BOSWELL:   The BERL Report is not. 

 

MR DAYSH:   No – yes, no the detailed review that was undertaken in 2015 

by Marshall Day, is that in front of us? 

 10 

MR BOSWELL:   I do not believe it is, sir, no, the – sorry, there was a – no, 

other than it is represented in the constrain contours. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Was a report prepared that summarise that process? 

 15 

MR BOSWELL:   I do not believe there has been, sir, because – and it is 

probably – the report has probably – because of timing issues, has 

probably now in front of the Panel by way of Mr Day’s evidence. 

 

 The proposal of the constrain contours was put to submitters, including 20 

Council, in December last year as a possibility, and in essence, sir, 

what the airport and the operators sought feedback from the Council 

and submitters as to whether there was any merit in us pursuing this as 

a possibility, and so that is what we are focused on post-December, is 

Mr Day preparing the evidence that supports the constrain contours. 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you for that.  In your paragraph 61 you talk about 

the complaints and the fact that they have been rising in the last year or 

so, and you mention that majority of the complaints come from a single 

complainant, who is that complainant? It is a 61 on your page 14 of 30 

your evidence-in-chief. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I could make that information available to the Panel if you 

thought it was valuable, I would be reluctant to name names, for one I 

cannot recall the lady’s name at present, but I can make that available 35 

to you if you think it is important. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, we will give that some thought and let you know – 

not now. 

 40 

MR DAYSH:   So just one last question about your attachment F which is a 

noise management plan - - - 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 

 45 
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MR DAYSH:   - - - version 10, so we looked at that your page 86 of your 

evidence, we have seen that before on the screen and the table of 

contents, you saw that when I asked some questions about that? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I think so, yes. 

 10 

MR DAYSH:   So in your opinion the continuation and development of both 

the noise management plan and the community liaison group, would 

you see those aspects as being fundamental to the future ongoing 

management of noise at the airport? 

 15 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And those would need to be updated around any new rules or 

contour? 

 20 

MR BOSWELL:   Absolutely; it is a living document, so yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   But both those, the community liaison group and the 

management plan that would be fundamental to ongoing management 

by the company? 25 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes, sir. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you, that is all I have, sir. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 35 

 

  [6.50 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Hello Mr Boswell, were you working for the airport when the 

engine testing was primarily moved from runway 11 to the No.  1 40 

hangar, located at the run-up pad? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes I was, I have been employed with the Airport Company 

since 2000. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   I do not want to ask you if you do not have knowledge of that 

time. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I was not working on this aspect of airport management at 

that time, but I would just like to say that when you say primarily, it is 5 

not my interpretation of the historic data that the majority of testing 

was always undertaken on the cross-wind runway, and – I received this 

earlier today, I cannot recall who provided it, was it Mr Lawry 

provided this additional information today shows a - - - 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Look at the transcript, what is it, just read the heading so 

we don’t get to - - - 

 

MR BOSWELL:   It is a table sir, it is titled: “Ground Running Between 2300 

and 0600 Only Between January and November 1996.” 15 

 

 I am just looking at it, it clearly shows that there are a variety of 

locations used for engine testing back in 1996 before the engine, the 

concrete run-up pad was constructed in 2004, and just at a quick 

review, perhaps less than 20 percent of engine tests were conducted on 20 

the cross-wind runway, so that - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is fine, but around 2005 a concrete run-up pad was – a 

decision was made to construct a concrete run-up pad in the location 

where it currently is, by the No.  1 hangar? 25 

 

MR BOSWELL:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean that was obviously a decision, some money was spent 

and I am just presuming that a decision was made, that that was going 30 

to be used reasonably regularly. 

 

 So at that time do you know if any assessment was done of the 

modelling, or assessment of the noise implications of more 

continuously, or using it on a more regular basis, that particular 35 

location for engine testing? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   So I am not aware of any analysis that was done about using 

that run-up pad. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   And the effects that might have on residents? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I am not aware of it.  The principal driver, as I understand it, 

for the construction of the run-up pad, was around this issue that I think 

Mr Morgan talked about, where there was damage being caused to 45 

parts of the runway system. 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes, we have heard that, what I want to know is whether – I 

mean there were obviously drivers for doing that, but I am wanting to 

know is was any assessment done- - - 

 5 

MR BOSWELL:   Not that I am aware of, no. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - -for any consideration of the downside of moving, to other 

people? 

 10 

MR BOSWELL:   Again, based on my reading of records, I would not say 

there was no consideration of possible noise effects, but it was at a 

fairly high level and I think there was some decisions made around the 

fact that there were very few complaints historically about engine 

testing, and rightly or wrongly, that was taken as an indicator of 15 

annoyance. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Mr Daysh has asked you about the process that you have 

been through at the end of last year and earlier this year, looking at, 

again a range of alternative options of mitigation measures that could 20 

be taken to reduce the noise impact, and you have said that you did not 

do any costing in any detail of the pros and cons of the options other 

than the banning of night time testing which the BERL Report is about.   

 

 So would I be right that as part of that option, have you and Air New 25 

Zealand considered looking at alternative options, locations for testing 

and done some costing of that? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   At a very rudimentary level; yes, we have.  If as a starting 

point we say that we need to replicate the engine run-up pad assets 30 

somewhere else on the airport, that would come at a cost of, I cannot 

recall the number off hand, but several million dollars. 

 

  [6.55 pm] 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   I think Mr Copeland said one to two million. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Okay, I will accept that. 

 

 And then as to other costs, they are more in the domain of Mr Morgan, 40 

but there are the operational costs associated with the increases in 

aircraft movement relocation activities and so on, attached to those 

different locations. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And as you said to Mr Daysh, whether it is that alternative or 45 

other ways and means, there is no formal report or structured process 
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that you are able to provide that systematically looks at these various 

options, the development of the constraint contours? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   No, that is fair.   

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Now, I just have a couple of other questions.  Am I correct on 

the Airport Community Liaison Group there is no representative from 

the Bishopdale Harewood area?  It does not appear in your list at all. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I am not sure if the boundaries of the Fendalton Waimairi 10 

Community Board, whether they incorporate the Bishopdale area.  I 

believe they do and so our view was that appropriate representation of 

those groups was by way of the community board representation. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, so if it is it would be through that community 15 

board? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  With the University of Canterbury, you have said 20 

that you do not want to impose unreasonable constraints – I think this is 

in your rebuttal evidence.  You just want some kind of consultation 

process, I think is your words.  Mr Boswell, you know a bit about 

planning I presume; what could you mean by some kind of consultation 

process in a planned preparation sense that does not mean they need to 25 

get a resource consent and that written approvals might be required. 

 

MS BOSWELL:   That question is possibly better asked of Mr Bonis, who is 

far more familiar with planning matters than I but the principal matter 

being as I understand it the relief being sought by the University 30 

allowed them significant scope – forgive me if I am not using the exact 

right terms – for a range of activities within their campus and that by 

and large the airport cannot see a problem with the majority of those 

activities in principle but the breadth of the activities that are as I 

understand it incorporated within what the University are seeking 35 

include things that are noise sensitive such as childcare facilities, 

residential activity and so that is why we have had difficulty in being 

able to reach an agreement with the University on providing a 

mechanism that gets past the policy that talks about avoidance of noise 

sensitive activities. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:  Well moving away from planning, which you have said you 

do not know anything about, you want more than just some kind of 

consultation process then, you want to be able to say “these things are 

all right” and “these things are not all right” and that is more than 45 

consultation, isn’t it, you want the ability to influence whether 
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something happens or something else does or something does not 

happen? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I guess to a certain extent, yes, we consider ourselves an 

affected party and if there are elements of what the Canterbury 5 

University wish to do by way of future development that start to, in our 

view, undermine policies on avoidance of noise sensitive activities 

then, yes, we are seeking a position of influence in some respect, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Now my last question; I notice that the 10 

requirements for reporting on whether the airport is in compliance with, 

I think either it is operational or the future engine testing standards is 

through an annual reporting sequence.  So each year you provide a 

report where you report on whether or not you have met the noise 

standards in whatever year you are reporting on and I hear that you 15 

have just produced the 2014 report at the beginning of 2016 so I am 

interested in how, I mean if you are exceeding the noise standards, 

whether it is operational or be it engine testing and you did that early in 

the year, how on earth is there going to be any sort of I suppose – how 

is compliance going to be managed when people do not know for 20 

maybe two years afterwards whether or not you are complying or not, I 

mean I am sure – I mean may be the Council can take some action then, 

but for the people that are actually affected it is a long lag time, is it 

not? 

 25 

  [7.00 pm] 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes, but the operational noise contours we are reporting on 

the previous year’s activity and sometimes look last year, regrettably 

that report was submitted, so I have no excuses for that. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   But even if it was in the middle of the year it is still - - -  

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes, it is after the fact. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   It is after the fact and it is a whole year’s worth before you 

even get to prepare the report. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes, I mean - - -  

 40 

MS DAWSON:   What are the consequences? What could possibly be the 

consequences for the airport if say you are exceeding the engine testing 

noise for the three months at the beginning of a year or even throughout 

the year and you reported on it much later, how do people that are 

actually affected going to sort of see any improvement or how is that in 45 

practice going to work? 
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MR BOSWELL:   For the operational noise contours historically we have not 

been anywhere near the constraint levels or the compliance levels. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, because they are set well in the future. 5 

 

MR BOSWELL:   They are. 

 

MS DAWSON:   At some point they might, but the engine or testing ones are 

no longer going to be like that, they are going to be actually what you 10 

have got to comply with now. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes, yes. So look, it is a fair question and my recollection 

was that we did suggest a regime where we would report more 

regularly than annually, that we report quarterly, it might in part 15 

address that issue for engine testing. But again this is my recall that that 

was chosen to be a 12 month self-reporting cycle – yes, that is the only 

way I can respond to that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Nearly done, Mr Boswell, your faring up well – paragraph 

86 of your evidence-in-chief, was an area where Mr Laing asked you 

some questions and I just had a couple of follow ups in that area, and 

primarily I am focusing on these follow ups on the basis of considering 25 

what are practicable options and the evidence that we have got on those 

or do not have on those. 

 

 So in regard to the Jessons Road alternative site, you might recall in 

answer to Mr Laing, you explained I think that you thought Mr Morgan 30 

was right, more or less with his answer in regard to why that was not 

selected and you referred to the potential for airport infrastructure, you 

recall that in that locality? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So what was the nature of that airport infrastructure? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Could I have that image brought up please – look, I was not 

party - firstly I would say I was not party to the discussions that 40 

Mr Morgan raised - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, no, just answer the question, what was the airport 

infrastructure that you are referring to - - -  

 45 
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MR BOSWELL:   It was future infrastructure, sir, and that location to the right 

of the Jessons Road notation, the airport has long term plans to extend 

the runway and extend the associated taxiway, so if you imagine - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So long term, give us a date on, it will not happen before 5 

this date. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I could not say that, sir, the - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well give us a decade, it will not happen before this 10 

decade. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   It is unlikely to happen before the end of this decade. It may 

occur sometime next decade, in the 2020s. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. So that is the infrastructure you refer to there - - 

-  

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - the second thing I got a bit of an issue with, in terms 

of testing practicability, is you refer to - that better scheduling was a 

reason why I think you said Air New Zealand was able to come to a 

sort of a more moderate position on the contour, I think you mentioned 

it because better scheduling was possible, do you remember that, they 25 

were able to achieve better scheduling? 

 

  [7.05 pm] 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes.  30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now my difficulty is, well that is good, but I have no idea 

whether that represents what they could practicably achieve in 

scheduling versus they have just done a bit.  So help me out, how much 

towards – this is all they could practicably achieve, have they bettered 35 

their scheduling? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I cannot answer that, sir, I am not - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Did you ask.  40 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Pardon? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Did you ask Air New Zealand in your discussions? 

 45 
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MR BOSWELL:   The nature of our discussions did explore how much 

changes could be made to current practice to reduce the effect on 

surrounding communities. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And did you ask whether they effectively had gone to the 5 

max in terms of what they could practicably achieve or not? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I don’t recall asking them that, sir, no. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Now the question around noise exceedance, 10 

that sort of little exception that you were discussing with Mr Laing for 

a range of things, you deferred to Mr Bonis and Mr Day.  Now would it 

not be the other way round, this is what is puzzling me, that you would 

not be led by the experts, but you would tell the experts in effect what 

your instructions were as a client.  Did you not do that? 15 

 

MR BOSWELL:   No, it would be a combination of the two, sir.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, just help me out, so you have effectively deferred to 

Mr Bonis and Mr Day to provide the assistance that Mr Laing was 20 

seeking on our behalf on whys and wherefores for this new rule.  You 

were not able to answer any of it.  So why is that, given that you are the 

client? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   No, sir, I wasn’t deferring to Mr Bonis and Mr Day on the 25 

drivers if you like behind the words in that rule, it was more to do with 

the interpretation of that rule.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well with respect, Mr Laing was asking you about the 

drivers.   30 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And effectively the drivers in the sense of what you were 

trying to achieve, ie the client drivers.   35 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you could not answer any of those questions.  

 40 

MR BOSWELL:   I thought I did, sir, in terms of issues around - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So when we asked Mr Bonis or Mr Day about the same 

things, can you tell me now that they will be able to tell us what the 

client is wanting here or not? 45 
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MR BOSWELL:   I believe so. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But you cannot tell us? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Sorry, sir, could you go back to what it is you believe I am 5 

not telling you? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well it is getting a bit late in the day, but there were a 

number of questions around rescheduling flights, other drivers of the 

vague language, the lack of any particular noise limit being specified 10 

above a certain margin, all of those things, and in all of those ways you 

deferred to Mr Bonis and Mr Day, which seemed to be right in the 

territory of the client rather than the consultant.  So why could you, as 

the client, not answer those questions? 

 15 

MR BOSWELL:   Well I endeavoured to answer them. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But why couldn’t you answer them? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Well, sir, I believe I answered the question around what the 20 

key drivers were. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well let’s start with one, why couldn’t you give an answer 

to whether or not there should be a number above what is specified in 

the rule already, in other words the Council’s view, why couldn’t you 25 

specify what the client wanted there, or is it that you were just on the 

spot, caught out on the spot and you do have a view that there should 

be, a) for instance, a level specified, a 2 dBA limit specified or some 

other thing.  You were not able to answer any of that. 

 30 

 So why doesn’t the client have a view on that? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   So my view on that, sir, is that there was consideration of a 

level, whether it be 2 dB or 3 dB as a exceedance, and that that might 

represent – my understanding was that might represent, in correct 35 

terms, a 60 percent increase of exceedance. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So what does the client want, what do you as the client 

want? 

 40 

MR BOSWELL:   Sir, I just want the mechanism that allows for the reasonably 

foreseeable needs of the operation of the airport.  So, sorry, sir, in 

answer to that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.   45 
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  [7.10 pm] 

 

MR BOSWELL:   So sorry, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So am I right to understand that effectively you are 5 

acknowledging that there are problems with what has been put forward 

and you are not able to answer how those problems can be addressed 

without further discussion with your consultants? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Sir, I would acknowledge that the wording as proposed by 10 

us at this stage can be interpreted as being vague.  I do acknowledge 

that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Now in terms of these run-up enclosures, and 

there are various airports that have been referred to as operating them, I 15 

think the Spirit of St Louis might be one airport and I have seen others, 

have you in your capacity on behalf of the airport been in touch with 

any of these other airports overseas to see how they work? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   No, sir, not directly.  Sorry, sir, that is not true.  I did contact 20 

Atlanta Airport just recently. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and what was their opinion? 

 

MR BOSWELL:  I contacted them by way of email and I asked for information 25 

about where they conduct aircraft on-wing testing and they provided 

me with extracts from their management documents that showed 

locations on the airfield. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But it was not a conversation around the effectiveness of 30 

these run-up enclosures? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Now finally, just thinking about a context first.  35 

We have got the 50 contour, it is in the policy statement for aircraft 

operations and we have heard evidence from Mr Day in previous 

rounds of this inquiry including residential around the rationale for that 

and he has again referred to this in his evidence before this Panel. 

 40 

 And it is two-fold, one relates to protecting amenity values of residents, 

and secondly dealing with the strategic risk of complaint.  You accept 

that is a fair enough summary of what he describes as a rationale of the 

50 contour? 

 45 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes, I do. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So if we start with that proposition and just think only 

about self-interest from the airport’s point of view in terms of this 

strategic asset, if Dr Chiles is correct that there are in the vicinity of 

thousands of existing residents in the Bishopdale for instance area 5 

whose impacts may be so significant as to cause sleep disturbance 

impacts, going beyond amenity values, would you agree that if that is 

correct that the Airport and ourselves should be worried about the 

strategic risk of future challenge to the Airport in terms of its 

operations and possible curfew? 10 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So it comes back to which is the more reliable noise 

expert in that area, does it not? 15 

 

MR BOSWELL:   I believe so, sir, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  All right.  Now questions.  Go through the 

list.  Excuse me, I am feeling a bit weary.  Mr Laing? 20 

 

MR LAING:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Mr Lawry? 

 25 

MR LAWRY:   One question. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well stand up. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you, sir. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Does it relate to the Panel? 

 

MR LAWRY:   It does.   

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR LAWRY:   In your answer to Ms Dawson’s question you indicated that 

one of the reasons that further analysis was not undertaken was because 

there were not many complaints.  However is it correct that until 2014 40 

and a year after I raised these issues in PC84 in 2013, that the 

complaint process was so broken that in fact any data from it basically 

does not exist?  There is no quantifiable data - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Question. 45 
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MR LAWRY:   This cannot be relied upon.  Do you agree with that comment? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   My comment to Ms Dawson related to my interpretation of 

the decision-making process or the discussions that occurred between 

Air New Zealand and the Airport Company on or around 5 

(INDISTINCT 4.15) 

 

MR LAWRY:   Your answer was that there was a lack of complaints that drove 

the lack of analysis so I am asking you was the lack of complaints due 

to the fact that your complaint process was broken?  You were not 10 

taking them? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, please answer, Mr Boswell. 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes.  Look I would accept that the complaints process as it 15 

was at that time was far from perfect.  I cannot disagree with that. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Mr Venema, any questions arising from the Panel?  20 

Ms Appleyard, any questions arising or re-examination? 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [7.14 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Just a couple and it relates to this issue of the engine 25 

testing rule that CIAL is seeking and in particular in relation to the 

questions put by the Panel and Mr Laing about the removal of of 

exceedance by up to 1 dB or no reference to any dB, I am wondering if 

the Secretariat could bring up Ms Kelly Marie Andrews’ evidence of 

4 February 2016, the Council Officer’s redline version.   30 

 

 And could you go down to (f) and see the birdstrike provision? 

 

  [7.15 pm] 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Up to 1 dB? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Is your understanding that the removal of any reference to 

the exceedance was as a result of the Council Officer’s 

recommendation? 40 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes, that is my understanding.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And the words “remove there also” were the words 

“atypical weather patterns”, which were the Council’s wording? 45 
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MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And what CIAL did was remove those words “atypical 

weather patterns” and insert them into (d)? 

 5 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Just in relation to the Panel’s questions about why you 

could not answer questions about the circumstances which might lead 

to these exceptional events – you have got acts of God such as volcanic 10 

eruption; what situations would necessitate additional aircraft 

maintenance safety?  I will let you go through them. 

 

 Forget about the wording, just in layman’s terms tell us what the 

circumstances are, we can fix the wording – “safety” would be one of 15 

them? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   What uncharacteristic weather patterns might necessitate 20 

more engine testing? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Weather patterns that may be – well, when aircraft may 

have been flying through hail or something of that nature, where an 

aircraft might be flying through atmospheric conditions perhaps caused 25 

by earthquakes, but perhaps other events, which could increase 

particular matter in the air.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Disrupted flight patterns, does that refer to nationally 

disrupted?  30 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So what do you mean by disrupted flight patterns? 

 35 

MR BOSWELL:   Circumstances where I think I mentioned there may be a 

requirement for Christchurch to act as a principal gateway in New 

Zealand if, for instance, Auckland Airport was taken out of commission 

one way or another by a volcanic earthquake or some other event. 

 40 

MS APPLEYARD:   And your words are “unplanned infrastructure, 

infrastructure repair or maintenance”; what might cause that? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   It could be caused by again geological seismic event, 

flooding events, perhaps changes to regulation regards requirements for 45 

runway assets; that type of thing. 
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MS APPLEYARD:   And can you recall whether the CIAL submission actually 

did specify a dB exceedance? 

 

MR BOSWELL:   Yes, I believe it did. 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, I have no further questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Appleyard. 

 10 

 Thank you, Mr Boswell, for bearing up for this late hour and you are 

free to go and thank you.  Let us see where we go with things 

tomorrow. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [7.18 pm] 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So thank you, everyone, for being patient.  We will see 

you tomorrow morning. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 7.18 PM UNTIL  20 

TUESDAY, 15 MARCH 2016 


